
1 April 3, 2023 
 

 BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION AGENDA 

 APRIL 3, 2023 

MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 151 MARTIN 

7:30 P.M. 

 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Therese Longe, Mayor 
 

II. ROLL CALL 

Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk  
 

III. PROCLAMATIONS, CONGRATULATORY RESOLUTIONS, AWARDS, APPOINTMENTS, 

RESIGNATIONS AND CONFIRMATIONS, ADMINISTRATION OF OATHS, INTRODUCTION OF 

GUESTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS. 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 The City recommends members of the public wear a mask if they have been exposed to COVID-
19 or have a respiratory illness. City staff, City Commission and all board and committee 
members must wear a mask if they have been exposed to COVID-19 or actively have a 
respiratory illness. The City continues to provide KN-95 respirators and triple-layered masks 
for attendees. 
 

 Happy Birthday Commissioner Schafer 
 
APPOINTMENTS 
A. Parks & Recreation Appointment 

1. Joe Wrobel 
To appoint __________ to the Parks and Recreation Board as an alternate member to 
serve a three-year term to expire March 13, 2026.   
 

B. Recognition of Promotions 
1. Dispatcher Jamie Debano – Promoted to Dispatch Manager on March 18, 2023. 
2. Officer Michael Manzo – Promoted to Patrol Sergeant on March 27, 2023. 
3. Officer Jordan Zale – Promoted to Patrol Sergeant on January 13, 2023. 
4. Sgt. Alex Linke – Promoted to Patrol Lieutenant on January 13, 2023. 
5. Lt. Ryan Kearney – Promoted to Operations Captain on December 6, 2022. 

 
 

IV. OPEN TO THE PUBLIC FOR MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA 

 

V. CONSENT AGENDA 

All items listed on the consent agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one 
motion and approved by a roll call vote.  There will be no separate discussion of the items unless 
a Commissioner or citizen so requests, in which event the item will be removed from the general 
order of business and considered under the last item of new business. 

*Minutes from Monday, March 27, 2023 will be available at the April 24, 2023 meeting.  



2 April 3, 2023 
 

 

A. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, 

dated March 29, 2023 in the amount of $1,988,743.60. 

 

B. Resolution approving an emergency water line repair expenditure and approving the 
appropriation and amendment of the 2022/2023 budget as follows: 
 
Automobile Parking System:   

Revenues: 
Draw from Fund Balance 

 
514.1-000.000-400.0000 

 
$32,040.00 

Expenditures: 
Other Contractual Services 

 
514.1-594.008-811.0000 

 
$32,040.00 

 
C. Resolution to approve a change order to the 2022 Concrete Sidewalk Program #8-22 (SW) 

for the 2023 Concrete Sidewalk Program #6-23 (SW) in the amount not to exceed of 
$490,120.00 once the 2023/2024 budget is approved. In addition, to authorize the City 
Engineer to sign the Change Order on behalf of the City. Funding for this project has been 
budgeted in the following accounts: 

Fund Account Fund ID Number Budget 
Change Order 
Amount 

General Sidewalk 101-444.001-981.0100 $340,750.00 $340,750.00 

Major Streets Fund 202-449.001-981.0100 $86,385.00 $86,385.00 
Local Street Fund 203-449.001-981.0100 $62,985.00 $62,985.00 

 

D. Resolution to approve a change order to the 2021 Sewer Rehabilitation Program #8-21 
(S) for the 2022-2023 Sewer Rehabilitation Program #8-23 (S) in the amount not to 
exceed of $460,000.00. In addition, to authorize the City Engineer to sign the Change 
Order on behalf of the City.  Funding for this project has been budgeted in the following 
accounts:  

Fund Account Fund ID Number Budget 
Change Order 
Amount 

Sewer Fund 590.0-537.000-981.0200 $460,000.00 $460,000.00 
  

E. Resolution to set a public hearing date of May 22, 2023 to consider the recommendation 
of the Planning Board to adopt and approve in its entirety the Birmingham Plan 2040, 
inclusive of all maps, plats, charts, and other related matter, figures and the Future Land 
Use Map. 

F. Resolution to increase the golf course fees by the following amounts:  

 Memberships for Non-Residents and Businesses by $25.  
 Memberships for Residents by $5.  
 Individual fees for rounds of golf by 50 cents for both weekday and weekends for 

Adult Member, Sr/Jr Member, Adult Guest and Sr/Jr Guest.  



3 April 3, 2023 
 

G. Resolution to approve the application to request reimbursement for the maximum 
allotment of $2,705.23 for eligible mosquito control activity under Oakland County’s West 
Nile Virus Fund Program. 

 

VIVI. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 
A. Public Hearing for 2023 Liquor License 

1. WHOLE FOODS  
Resolution to accept the termination and relinquishment of the Special Land Use 
Permit held by Whole Foods upon the onset of construction, or a violation of the 
Special Land Use Permit, or a maximum of 90 days from today, or whichever event 
occurs first.   

VIVII. NEW BUSINESS 

 
A. Public hearing for a lot combination of 34350 Woodward Avenue and 909-911 Haynes 

Street, Fred Lavery Porsche, Parcel #19-36-281-022 and Parcel #19-36-281-030. 
(Request to Postpone) 
1. Motion to postpone the public hearing and consideration of the lot combination of 

34350 Woodward Ave and 909-911 Haynes Street, Fred Lavery Porsche, parcel #19-
36-281-022 and parcel # 19-36-281-030 to a date of April 24, 2023 per the request 
of the applicant in order to have the SLUP hearing and lot combination on the same 
date. 

 
B. Public Hearing for 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street – Fred Lavery Porsche 

Dealership – Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan & Design Review (Request to 
Postpone) 
1. Motion to postpone the public hearing and consideration of the Special Land Use 

Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review application for 34350 Woodward Ave – 
Fred Lavery Porsche – to April 24, 2023 per the request of the applicant to allow more 
time to review conditions of the SLUP contract. 

 
C. Resolution to approve a special event permit as requested by the MIU Men’s Health 

Foundation to hold the Cogs & Kegs bicycle ride on June 12, 2023 contingent upon 
compliance with all permit and insurance requirements and payment of all fees and, 
further pursuant to any minor modifications that may be deemed necessary by 
administrative staff at the time of the event, or event cancellation that may be deemed 
necessary by administrative staff, leading up to or at the time of the event. 

D. Resolution for the City to join together with other local governments and public agencies 
to influence regulatory processes and utility practices through participation in the Michigan 
Municipal Association for Utility Issues, in the amount of $3,133 for a one-year 
membership. Funding for this project is available in account #101-170.000-955.03. 

E. Commission Items for Future Discussion. A motion is required to bring up the item for 
future discussion at the next reasonable agenda, no discussion on the topic will happen 
tonight.  

 



4 April 3, 2023 
 

F. Commission discussion on items from a prior meeting 
1. Discussion on Administering a Foundation or Charity 

a) See prior advice from City Attorney Mary Kucharek 
2. Discussion on Policy for Sponsoring and Administering Events 
3. Establishing an Ad Hoc Senior Services Committee 

 

VIII. REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA 

 

IX. COMMUNICATIONS 

A. Jay Shell, Birmingham Farms Neighborhood Association  

1. Jay Shell – Communication via Power Point 
2. Email exchanges regarding Jay Shell’s request 
3. Birmingham’s Historical Population by U.S. Decennial Census 
4. Birmingham’s 15-year History of Water Consumption 
5. Birmingham Building Code – Provisions which make new construction demands on 

utility services less demanding and more efficient 
 

X. REPORTS 

A. Commissioner Reports 
1. Notice of Intention to Appoint to the Parks and Recreation Board  

B. Commissioner Comments 
C. Advisory Boards, Committees, Commissions’ Reports and Agendas 
D. Legislation 
E. City Staff 

 
INFORMATION ONLY  
 

 XI. ADJOURN 

Should you wish to participate in this meeting, you are invited to attend the meeting in person or 
virtually through ZOOM:   https://zoom.us/j/655079760       Meeting ID: 655 079 760  
You may also present your written statement to the City Commission, City of Birmingham, 151 Martin 
Street, P.O. Box 3001, Birmingham, Michigan 48012-3001 prior to the hearing.   
 
NOTICE:  Individuals requiring accommodations, such as mobility, visual, hearing, interpreter or other assistance, for 
effective participation in this meeting should contact the City Clerk's Office at (248) 530-1880 (voice), or (248) 644-
5115 (TDD) at least one day in advance to request mobility, visual, hearing or other assistance.  
Las personas que requieren alojamiento, tales como servicios de interpretación, la participación efectiva en esta reunión 
deben ponerse en contacto con la Oficina del Secretario Municipal al (248) 530-1880 por lo menos el día antes de la 
reunión pública. (Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964). 

https://zoom.us/j/655079760
tel:%28248%29%20530-1880


NOTICE OF INTENTION TO APPOINT TO THE 
PARKS AND RECREATION BOARD 

At the regular meeting of Monday, April 3, 2023, the Birmingham City Commission intends to 
appoint to the Parks and Recreation Board an alternate member to serve the remainder of a three 
year term expiring on March 13, 2026. 

Interested citizens may submit an application available at the City Clerk’s office or online at 
www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities. Applications must be submitted to the City Clerk's office on 
or before noon on Wednesday, March 29, 2023.  These applications will appear in the public agenda 
for the regular meeting at which time the City Commission will discuss recommendations, and may 
make nominations and vote on the appointments. 

Responsibilities 
The Parks & Recreation Board consists of seven members and two alternate members who serve for 
three-year terms without compensation. The goal of the board is to promote a recreation program 
and a park development program for the City of Birmingham.  The Board shall recommend to the 
City Commission for adoption such rules and regulations pertaining to the conduct and use of parks 
and public grounds as are necessary to administer the same and to protect public property and the 
safety, health, morals, and welfare of the public. 

The meetings are held the first Tuesday of the month at 6:30 P.M. 

NOTE: All members of boards and commissions are subject to the provisions of City of Birmingham City Code 
Chapter 2, Article IX, Ethics and the filing of the Affidavit and Disclosure Statement.  

Applicant(s) Presented for City Commission Consideration: 

SUGGESTED ACTION: 

To appoint __________ to the Parks and Recreation Board as an alternate member to serve a three-year 
term to expire March 13, 2026.  

Applicant 
Name 

Criteria 
Members must be 
electors (registered 
voters) of the City of 
Birmingham. 

Qualifications 

Joe Wrobel Registered Elector Attorney, experience with planning park activities and 
usage 

3A



PARKS AND RECREATION BOARD
Article II, Section 78 

Objectives:  The Parks and Recreation Board shall promote a recreation program and a park development 
program for the City. The Board shall recommend to the city commission for adoption such rules and 
regulations pertaining to the conduct and use of parks and public grounds as are necessary to administer 
the same and to protect public property and the safety, health, morals, and welfare of the public. 

Seven regular members, Three-year Terms, Appointed by the City Commission 
Two alternate members, Three-year Terms, Appointed by the City Commission 
Members must be electors of the City of Birmingham 
Meetings held the first Tuesday of each month at 6:30 PM. 

Last Name First Name
Home Address

Home
Business 
E-Mail Appointed Term Expires

Carmona Heather

887 Lakeview Ave.

(248) 867-1346

htcarmona@sbcglobal.net

Regular Member
3/13/20243/12/2018

Collins Susan

958 Pleasant

(248) 761-6873

sbdcollins@comcast.net

Regular Member
3/13/20243/9/2020

Glasier Kate
Student representative

12/31/20232/27/2023

Graham Pam

884 Knox

(248) 408-6277

pamcracker@gmail.com

Regular Member
3/13/20261/13/2020

Wednesday, March 29, 2023 Page 1 of 3

3A



Last Name First Name
Home Address

Home
Business 
E-Mail Appointed Term Expires

Kupczyk Sarah

592 W Lincoln

(773)414-4727

sc23carroll@gmail.com

Regular Member
3/13/20263/27/2023

Lipp Anne

2682 Buckingham

(248) 225-0136

aecubera@gmail.com

Regular Member
3/13/202511/23/2020

Reynolds Archie
Student representative

12/31/20232/27/2023

Rusche John

358 Henley St.

(248) 731-7068
(248) 219-8114

jprusche@aol.com

Regular Member
3/13/20249/6/2018

Sweeney Steve

160 Larchlea Ave

(248) 875-9973

stevesweeney22@yahoo.com

Regular Member
3/13/20263/28/2022

Vacated 3/13/2023
Alternate

3/13/2026

Wednesday, March 29, 2023 Page 2 of 3

3A

cwoods
Rectangle



Last Name First Name
Home Address

Home
Business 
E-Mail Appointed Term Expires

Vacated 3/27/2023
Alternate

3/13/2025

Wednesday, March 29, 2023 Page 3 of 3

Position opening due to alternate moving to regular member. Will be noticed at the 4/3/2023 meeting with 
an interview date for 5/8/2023

3A



3A



JOSEPH F. WROBEL III 
2665 Windemere 

Birmingham, Michigan  48009 
(248) 225-5937

wrobel4joe@gmail.com 

EDUCATIONAL BACKGROUND 

* Western Michigan University Thomas M. Cooley Law School, Lansing, Michigan
JURIS DOCTOR, January 1985

* State Bar of Michigan, Current Member in Good Standing
* American Society of Pension Professionals and Actuaries,
Qualified 401(k) Administrator

* Oakland University, Rochester, Michigan BACHELOR OF SCIENCE, June 1981
Major:  Public Administration/Public Policy

OBJECTIVE  To be considered the office “go to” pension professional. 

RELATED EXPERIENCE 

ERISA ATTORNEY at Michigan Pension & Financial, Inc. Farmington Hills, Michigan 
(3/2021–present) Continued responsibilities include drafting, review, submission, 
amendment, administration and termination of Defined Benefit and Defined Contribution 
Pension Plan and Trust documents.  Set-up and use of pension software Relius ASP 
Systems for preparation of original and restated pension plan and trust documents, Plan 
amendments, ERISA Research, and Plan Administration. https://michiganpension.com/ 

VICE PRESIDENT/CORPORATE COUNSEL at Pension Consultants, Inc. Farmington 
Hills, Michigan (5/1987-2/2021) 
Responsibilities included drafting, review, submission, amendment, administration and 
termination of Defined Benefit and Defined Contribution Pension Plan and Trust 
documents.  Use of pension software Relius ASP Systems for preparation of original and 
restated pension plan and trust documents for clients of Pension Consultants, Inc., 
Actuarial Benefits Corporation, and Michigan Pension & Financial, Inc. 

Use of pension software DATAIR for plan valuation, discrimination testing and reporting, 
including preparation and electronic filing of Form 5500. Use of research software CCH by 
Wolters Kluwer for legal issues involving the Internal Revenue Code, ERISA, Department 
of Labor and PBGC regulations. 

IRS, DOL and PBGC plan audit representation. Favorable Determination Letter 
submissions to the IRS, and use of remedial correction programs under IRS and DOL 
regulations.  

Position involved interaction with plan sponsors, participants, and professional advisors. 
LinkedIn Profile:  https://www.linkedin.com/in/joe-wrobel-85a5a022/ 

3A



PART II - CITY CODE 
Chapter 78 - PARKS AND RECREATION 

ARTICLE II. PARKS AND RECREATION BOARD 
 
 

 
Birmingham, Michigan, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2022-01-18 11:23:42 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 45) 

 
Page 1 of 3 

ARTICLE II. PARKS AND RECREATION BOARD1 

Sec. 78-26. Created; composition. 

There is hereby created a parks and recreation board consisting of the city manager and the director of 
public services or their designated representatives as nonvoting ex-officio members, and seven members, who are 
electors in the city, appointed by the city commission.  

The city commission may appoint two alternate members to serve as needed on the parks and recreation 
board during their term of appointment. An alternate member may be called on a rotating basis to sit as a regular 
member of the parks and recreation board in the absence of a regular member. An alternate member may also be 
called to service in the place of a regular member for the purpose of reaching a decision on a case in which the 
regular member has abstained for reasons of conflict of interest. An alternate member having been appointed 
shall serve in the case until a final decision has been made. An alternate member shall have the same voting rights 
as a regular member of the parks and recreation board.  

(Code 1963, § 3.21; Ord. No. 2233, 5-22-17) 

Sec. 78-27. Terms of members; vacancies. 

The initial members of the parks and recreation board shall be appointed for the following terms: Two for 
one year, two for two years, and three for three years. Thereafter, all such appointments, except to fill vacancies, 
shall be for a term of three years. All appointments for the purpose of filling vacancies occurring otherwise than by 
expiration of term of office, shall be for the unexpired term.  

(Code 1963, § 3.21) 

Sec. 78-28. Organization. 

Within 15 days after the appointment of members to the original parks and recreation board and within 15 
days after the making of annual appointments to the board, the members of the board shall meet in regular 
session and elect from the members a chairman who shall be the presiding officer of the board, and a vice-
chairman who shall serve in the absence of the chairman. A secretary who shall keep and maintain the minutes 
and records of the board shall also be elected. The secretary need not be a member of the board. The terms of 
office for such officers shall be one year and until their successors have been elected, and there shall be no 
limitation upon successive elections of the same person to any office. The ex-officio members of the board may 
not act as chairman or vice-chairman but may act as secretary.  

(Code 1963, § 3.22) 

                                                                 

1Cross reference(s)—Boards and commissions, § 2-171 et seq.  

3A



   Created: 2022-01-18 11:23:42 [EST]

(Supp. No. 45) 

Page 2 of 3 

Sec. 78-29. Compensation. 

All members of the parks and recreation board, except ex-officio members, shall serve without 
compensation.  

(Code 1963, § 3.23) 

Sec. 78-30. Meetings and quorum. 

The parks and recreation board shall set a time for a regular meeting at least once each month and shall 
determine the manner in which special meetings may be noticed and held. The chairman may cancel a meeting if 
there is no matter requiring consideration by the board. A quorum for the transaction of business at the regular 
and special meetings shall be five members, at least one of whom shall be an ex-officio member or his designated 
representative.  

(Code 1963, § 3.24; Ord. No. 2022, 2-22-10) 

Sec. 78-31. Objectives and duties. 

The parks and recreation board shall promote a recreation program and a park development program for the 
city. In carrying out these objectives it shall:  

(1) Serve as a forum for the consideration of policy matters related to the operation of a park and
recreation program.

(2) Advise the public with regard to the policies established by the city commission relating to the park and
recreation program.

(3) Serve in advisory capacity to the city commission in regard to all matters affecting parks and recreation
which are referred to it by the city commission.

(4) Recommend to the city commission a recreation program, fee schedules, and the adoption of a long-
range program for the development of park areas and facilities.

(5) Recommend to the city commission hours of operation and allocation of facility use.

(Code 1963, § 3.25) 

Sec. 78-32. Regulations. 

The parks and recreation board shall recommend to the city commission for adoption such rules and 
regulations pertaining to the conduct and use of parks and public grounds as are necessary to administer the same 
and to protect public property and the safety, health, morals, and welfare of the public. The violation of any such 
duly adopted rule or regulation by any party shall be deemed to constitute a violation of this section.  

(Code 1963, § 3.26) 

Sec. 78-33. Scope of authority. 

The parks and recreation board is a nonadministrative board serving solely in an advisory capacity. In that 
capacity, the board may make recommendations to the city commission but may not assume any legislative or 

3A



   Created: 2022-01-18 11:23:42 [EST]

(Supp. No. 45) 

Page 3 of 3 

administrative authority in the operation of any city department, park, or recreation facility except as specifically 
provided in this article.  

(Code 1963, § 3.27) 

Secs. 78-34—78-55. Reserved. 

3A



MEMORANDUM 
Police Department 

DATE: March 23, 2023 

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Scott A. Grewe, Chief of Police 

SUBJECT: Recognition of Promotion 

INTRODUCTION: 
In the last few months, there have been several promotions within the police department.  To be 
placed on the eligibility list, an applicant must complete an examination procedure consisting of 
a written test and an oral board interview.  Additional factors included in the final rankings are 
their evaluation of service and performance ratings, credit for years of service to the department 
and credit for college education. 

Eligibility Requirements for Rank Promotion 
1. Dispatch Manager – Dispatcher with a minimum of 4 years seniority.
2. Sergeant - Police Officer with a minimum of 4 years seniority.
3. Lieutenant – Must have obtained the rank of Sergeant.
4. Captain – Must have obtained the rank of Lieutenant.

The Birmingham Police Department is proud to announce the promotion of the following members 
of our agency who continue to show their dedicated service to our community and the 
Birmingham Police Department: 

1. Dispatcher Jamie Debano – Promoted to Dispatch Manager on March 18, 2023.
2. Officer Michael Manzo – Promoted to Patrol Sergeant on March 27, 2023.
3. Officer Jordan Zale – Promoted to Patrol Sergeant on January 13, 2023.
4. Sgt. Alex Linke – Promoted to Patrol Lieutenant on January 13, 2023.
5. Lt. Ryan Kearney – Promoted to Operations Captain on December 6, 2022.

3B



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

03/29/2023

04/03/2023

PAPER CHECK

251.207UP DETROIT006965*291320

1,468.00ACCUFORM PRINTING & GRAPHICS, INC009346291321

1,175.60TAIL ACTIVEWEAR009376291322

2,650.00ALL CITY DOGS INC009117291323

500.00AMANDA MCBRIDE009393*291324

871.20AMERICAN SWING PRODUCTS, INC009462291325

838.16AT&T MOBILITY003703*291326

1,200.00BALIAN LEGAL, PLC009609291327

239.76BANDIT INDUSTRIES, INC.009616291328

1,393.85BEDROCK EXPRESS LTD009568291329

657.80BEDROCK EXPRESS LTD009568*291329

350.00BIG BEAVER PLUMBING,HEATING INC.000522291330

1,245.00BIO SYSTEMS, INC.007540*291331

145,913.86BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD OF MICHIGAN009627*291332

136.20BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC003526291333

44.00JACQUELYN BRITO006953*291334

550.00BS&A SOFTWARE, INC006520*291335

1,005.00CGS, INC009137291336

762.12CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF BLOOMFIELD008243291337

1,648.81CLEAR RATE COMMUNICATIONS, INC008006*291338

13,282.14COMERICA BANKMISC*291339

54.00CONNIE HOGANMISC*291341

10,626.19CONSUMERS ENERGY000627*291342

876.87COOL THREADS EMBROIDERY008512291343

1,400.00DANIEL CRUMP DBA009549*291344

44.00DAVID UNDERDOWNMISC*291345

660.00ZECO, LLC009557*291346

317.81DEMCO, INC000575291347

221.39KAMERON DIMITRY009515291348

51.09RONALD L. DIX007498*291349

163.10DOWNRIVER REFRIGERATION000190*291350

5,539.92DTE ENERGY000179*291351

182.23DTE ENERGY000179*291352

3,127.86E-Z-GO DIVISION OF TEXTRON INC000274*291353

257.40ED RINKE CHEVROLET BUICK GMC000493291354

1,225.00CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS009620291355

275.00CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS009620291356

29.80FEDEX OFFICE004514*291357

296.95FERGUSON ENTERPRISES, INC.007136291358

44.23FIRST ADVANTAGE OCCUPATIONAL CORP007366*291359

120.00MADELINE GOLD009556*291360

227.34GORDON FOOD004604*291361 5A



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

03/29/2023

04/03/2023

226.28GRID 4 COMMUNICATIONS INC.006666*291362

513.60GUARDIAN ALARM000249291363

1,747.08HALT FIRE INC001447291364

261.77HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES001956*291365

400.00HRH CONSTRUCTION LLCBDREFUND291366

5,900.00JOSHUA HUSTED001307*291367

21.35IAN NOCKMISC*291368

5,711.61INGRAM LIBRARY SERVICES001090291369

300.00IRENE S WASSEL009401*291371

20.85JACKSON DISTRICT LIBRARYMISC*291372

2,713.56JOHN R. SPRING & TIRE CENTER INC.000347291373

900.00JUSTIN ZAYID009403*291374

100.00K & A SIGNS, INCBDREFUND291375

519.00KGM DISTRIBUTORS INC004088*291376

2,697.75KONICA MINOLTA BUSINESS SOLUTIONS004904291377

1,250.00LAW OFFICE OF BRIAN P. FENECH009386*291378

1,370.00LAW OFFICE OF PATRICK G. GAGNIUK009388*291379

1,662.00THE LIBRARY NETWORK000797291380

2,042.86LITHIA MOTORS, INC SUPPORT SERVICES009375291381

250.00MICHAEL SHUKWIT009143*291382

75.00MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE009621291383

1,056.51MIKE SAVOIE CHEVROLET INC000230291384

3,539.00NEWSBANK, INC009623291385

18,120.00NICK'S MAINTENANCE SERVICE004827291386

120.00OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH CENTERS004370*291387

926.73ODP BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, LLC009478*291388

500.00OFFER & ASSOCIATES INCBDREFUND291389

511.00OXFORD OVERHEAD DOOR SALES CO.001626291390

990.00PERFORMANCE ENVIRONMENT SERVICES009624*291391

1,805.55PERMACARD007588291392

2,340.00POINTE ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES INC.005310*291393

186.86PROGRESSIVE PLUMBING SUPPLY CO009614291394

197.00PROGRESSIVE PLUMBING SUPPLY CO009614*291394

2,561.00R & R FIRE TRUCK REPAIR INC004137291395

15,366.00R & R FIRE TRUCK REPAIR INC004137*291395

38.85RAIN MASTER CONTROL SYSTEMS008342*291396

154.81RATTNER, RUTH FUBREFUND*291397

579.92RIEDELL SHOES INC007507*291398

492.89MIKE ROMANOWSKI007562*291399

236.52SHARE CORPORATION009548291400

3,112.00SP+ CORPORATION007907291401

627.97STRYKER SALES CORPORATION004544291402

500.00THE CITY OF LATHRUP VILLAGEMISC*291403

5A



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

03/29/2023

04/03/2023

200.00 TODD BORSEMISC*291404

168.54 VAN DYKE GAS CO.000293*291405

868.01 VERIZON WIRELESS000158*291406

238.27 WEISSMAN'S COSTUMES002171*291407

3,706.94 WICO METAL PRODUCTS HOLDING COMPANYUBREFUND*291408

33.13 WOLVERINE005112291409

391.09 ZEROFRICTION, LLC007999291410

SUBTOTAL PAPER CHECK $290,174.18

ACH TRANSACTION

13.35 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC0091267586

88.99 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC0091267587

106.50 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC0091267588

69.50 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC0091267589

126.72 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC0091267590

497.99 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC0091267591

46.93 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC0091267592

39.95 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC0091267593

499.00 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC0091267594

670.18 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC0091267595

269.99 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC0091267596

128.15 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC0091267597

182.91 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC009126*7598

219.11 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC0091267599

13.56 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC0091267600

364.26 ARAMARK003946*7601

130.00 ART/DESIGN GROUP LTD001357*7602

2,090.00 BATTI LAW PLLC009383*7603

462.00 LISA MARIE BRADLEY003282*7604

364.00 BRENNA SANDLES008983*7605

585.79 KATHRYN BURRICK009413*7606

204.82 CINTAS CORPORATION0006057607

36.77 CINTAS CORPORATION0006057608

516.19 CONTRACTORS CLOTHING CO0026687609

123.75 CONTRACTORS CONNECTION INC0013677610

107.50 FLEIS AND VANDENBRINK ENG. INC007314*7611

869.07 GRAINGER000243*7612

95.00 HAYES PRECISION INC001672*7613

300.00 HB LAW, PLLC009382*7614

39,456.55 HUBBELL ROTH & CLARK INC0003317615

83.98 THOMAS I. HUGHES003824*7616

300.00 IDUMESARO LAW FIRM, PLLC009390*7617

17,039.00 J.H. HART URBAN FORESTRY0002617618

935.71 JOE'S AUTO PARTS, INC.003458*7619 5A



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

03/29/2023

04/03/2023

453.75 KELLER THOMA000891*7620

8,695.00 KONE INC0040857621

2,565.00 LAW OFFICE OF MICHAEL J. DICK009385*7622

1,925.00 LEE & ASSOCIATES CO., INC.005550*7623

2,833.83 MIDWEST TAPE0020137624

586.20 NETWORK SERVICES COMPANY0077557625

7,987.00 NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS0018647626

1,828.50 NYE UNIFORM COMPANY006359*7627

560.00 ORLANDO LAW PRACTICE PC009395*7628

1,376.38 PAUL C SCOTT PLUMBING INC006853*7629

47.00 ROSE PEST SOLUTIONS001181*7630

100.00 SIGNS-N-DESIGNS INC003785*7631

484.00 SYMPHONY WISE009577*7632

281.45 TOTAL ARMORED CAR SERVICE, INC.002037*7633

412.27 WITMER PUBLIC SAFETY GROUP INC0091287634

5,388.00 YELLOW DOOR LAW009379*7635

593,566.38 BIRMINGHAM PUBLIC SCHOOLS-TAXES008840*7636

1,000,327.44 OAKLAND COUNTY TREASURER- TAX PYMNT008843*7637

2,115.00 NEXT007856*7638

SUBTOTAL ACH TRANSACTION $1,698,569.42

*-Indicates checks released in advance and prior to commission approval in order to avoid penalty
or to meet contractual agreement/obligation.

Mark Gerber
Finance Director/ Treasurer

All bills, invoices and other evidences of claim have been audited and approved for payment.

GRAND TOTAL $1,988,743.60

5A



MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Department 

DATE: April 3, 2023  

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Melissa A. Coatta, City Engineer  

SUBJECT: Emergency Repair of 8-Inch Water Service 
Chester Street Parking Structure  

INTRODUCTION: 
On February 2, 2023, water was found in and around the southwest corner of the Chester Street 
Parking Structure. It was determined there was a break on the 8-inch water service to the parking 
structure.  Due to the depth of the existing water service, D'Angelo Brothers, Inc. repaired the 8-
inch water service.  A budget amendment is required for the emergency repair of the 8-inch water 
service.   

BACKGROUND: 
The Engineering Department and Department of Public Services (DPS) received notification on 
February 2, 2023, of water in and around the southwest corner of the Chester Street Parking 
Structure.  DPS turned off the water service on February 2, 2023, and on February 6, 2023 they 
exposed the existing 8-inch water service to make the repair.  Approximately 10 feet from the 
parking structure, the water service was around 10-12 feet deep and continued deeper the closer 
it was to the parking structure.  Design plans were found and the 8-inch water service enters the 
mechanical room and the second lower level of the structure at 16 feet deep.  DPS does not have 
the equipment to make a water service repair at this depth.   

The city met with three (3) contractors who have current contracts and insurance with the city 
to review the conditions.  We received two (2) quotes from contractors, and one (1) was 
nonresponsive, as listed in the attached summary.  The lowest quote was for $32,038.00 from 
D'Angelo Brothers, Inc., the current contractor for the Lead Service Replacement Program.  The 
8-inch water service repair was completed the week of February 20, 2023.  The break was located
a few inches from the outside structure wall at 16 feet deep.

LEGAL REVIEW:  
No legal review was performed as it was emergency work. 

5B



2 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
A budget amendment is required in the following funds for the emergency repair of the 8-inch 
water service:  

Fund Account Fund ID Number Budget Quotes 

Automobile Parking 
System  

514.1-594.008-811.0000 $0.00 $32,038.00 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
A notification regarding the road closure for the water service repair was given to adjacent 
properties.  

SUMMARY: 
The Engineering Department requests a budget amendment for the emergency repair of the 8-
inch water service at the Chester Street Parking Structure. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Chester Street Parking Structure Quote Summary (1 page)
• D’Angelo Brothers Quote (2 pages)

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion confirming and approving an emergency water line repair expenditure  and 
approving the appropriation and amendment of the 2022/2023 budget as follows:

Automobile Parking System: 
Revenues: 
Draw from Fund Balance 514.1-000.000-400.0000 $32,040.00 

Expenditures: 
Other Contractual Services 514.1-594.008-811.0000 $32,040.00 

5B



Angelo Iafrate 

Construction

D'Angelo Brothers, 

Inc.
Pamar Enterprises

8-inch Water Service Repair $75,335.00 $32,038.00 N/A

Chester Street Parking Structure 8-inch Water Service Quotes

5B



PO Box 531330
Livonia, MI  48153
TO: City of Birmingham 

ATTN: Melissa Coatta 

Qty. Unit Hrs.  Rate Total Per Line

Mobilize  315 Excavator & Skid & Loader 2 EA - 425.00$   850.00$   
Traffic Control 1 EA 1 750.00$   750.00$   
Service Trucks. F250, Peterbilt, F 350 3 HR 10 35.00$   1,050.00$   
Excavator & Operator 1 HR 10 155.00$   1,550.00$   
Skid Steer & Operator Regular Time 1 HR 8 80.00$   640.00$   
Skid Steer & Operator Over Time 1 HR 2 88.00$   176.00$   
Loader & Operator 1 HR 8 90.00$   720.00$   
Loader & Operator OT 1 HR 2 120.00$   240.00$   
Labor, Regular Time 6 HR 8 48.00$   2,304.00$   
Labor, Over Time 6 HR 2 58.00$   696.00$   
Dump Truck Semi Regular Time 3 HR 8 90.00$   2,160.00$   
Dump Truck Semi Over Time 3 HR 2 95.00$   570.00$   
Hydro Vactor 1 HR 8 330.00$   2,640.00$   
Trench Box 1 Day 1 500.00$   500.00$   
Plates, Sheeting, Z Sheets 1 Day 1 500.00$   500.00$   

15,346.00$   

Service Trucks. F250, Peterbilt, F 350 3 HR 10 35.00$   1,050.00$   
Excavator & Operator 1 HR 10 155.00$   1,550.00$   
Skid Steer & Operator Regular Time 1 HR 8 80.00$   640.00$   
Skid Steer & Operator Over Time 1 HR 2 88.00$   176.00$   
Loader & Operator 1 HR 8 90.00$   720.00$   
Loader & Operator OT 1 HR 2 120.00$   240.00$   
Labor, Regular Time 6 HR 8 48.00$   2,304.00$   
Labor, Over Time 6 HR 2 58.00$   696.00$   
Dump Truck Semi Regular Time 2 HR 8 90.00$   1,440.00$   
Dump Truck Semi Over Time 2 HR 2 95.00$   380.00$   
Generator 1 Day 1 100.00$   100.00$   
Pump 1 Day 1 60.00$   60.00$   
Trench Box 1 Day 1 500.00$   500.00$   
Plates, Sheeting, Z Sheets 1 Day 1 500.00$   500.00$   
Compaction 1 HR 4 84.00$   336.00$   

10,692.00$   

DESCRIPTION OF WORK TO BE COMPLETED 

Chester Parking Structrue 
Water Main Break

Mobilize & Excavate 8" Water Main. Install Trench Box and Shoring 

Estimate 
2/7/23

Make Water Main Repair, Backfill, Compact and Remove Shoring. Clean site, Place 21AA & Cold Patch 

5B



6A Stone 12 Ton - 32.00$               384.00$               
Haul Off 120 Ton - 11.00$               1,320.00$            
21 AA LimeStone 12 Ton - 28.00$               336.00$               
Class II Sand 120 Ton - 18.00$               2,160.00$            
8" Water Main Repair parts 1 LS - 1,800.00$          1,800.00$            

6,000.00$            

32,038.00$          

Assuming all work can be completed in 2 full days. Any work past 2 days will be charged per WRC T&M Rates attached 

Light Traffic Control 
Assuming 8" repair parts will be no more then (2) 8" 45 bends, threaded rod, solid sleeve, acessories and or a clamp 

Excludes all restoration 

Excludes additional time associated with unknow utilities or items. 
Excludes Dewatering 

 Vince D'Angelo (248) 515-1942
 TOTAL

Materials

5B



 

 
MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Department 
 

 
DATE:  April 3, 2023  
 
TO:  Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 
 
FROM: Melissa A. Coatta, City Engineer  
 
SUBJECT:  Change Order to the 2022 Concrete Sidewalk Repair Program #8-22(SW)   

to add the 2023 Concrete Sidewalk Repair Program #6-23(SW)  
 
 
INTRODUCTION:  
The City currently has an open contract with Luigi Ferdinandi and Sons Cement Company for the 
2022 Concrete Sidewalk Repair Program #8-22 (SW).  Luigi Ferdinandi and Sons Cement 
Company has offered to hold all their unit prices from the 2022 Concrete Sidewalk Repair Program 
for the upcoming 2023 Concrete Sidewalk Repair Program. The Engineering Department is 
recommending a change order to the 2022 Concrete Sidewalk Repair Program #8-22 (SW) to add 
the 2023 Concrete Sidewalk Repair Program #6-23 (SW).  
 
BACKGROUND: 
At the July 25, 2022 City Commission Meeting, the 2022 Concrete Sidewalk Repair Program was 
awarded to Luigi Ferdinandi and Sons Cement Company.  They completed work in Area 5 
(Southfield Road to Cranbrook Road and Maple Road to 14 Mile Road), ADA Ramps in Area 1B 
(Old Woodward to Woodward and Maple Road to Ravine), and Oak Avenue Sidewalk in Fall/Winter 
of 2022.  They are scheduled to start construction toward late April/beginning of May to complete 
the rest of the work on this program which includes city-wide scattered concrete repairs, Maple 
Road granite bench pads, Ice Arena sidewalk replacement, and Ann Street Sidewalk Replacement.    
 
The 2023 Sidewalk Repair Program includes work in Area 6 (West City limits to Rouge River and 
Quarton Road to Maple Road), ADA Ramps in Area 1A (Chester Street to North Old Woodward 
and North Old Woodward Parking Structure to Maple Road), city-wide scattered concrete repairs, 
Shain Park sidewalk repairs, and 12 concrete bike pads at various locations throughout the City.   
 
Luigi Ferdinandi and Sons Cement Company has offered to hold all their unit pricing from the 
2022 Concrete Sidewalk Repair Program for the upcoming 2023 Concrete Sidewalk Repair 
Program and start construction in July.   The Engineering Department recommends this due 
several reasons.  There has been an increase in labor and material over the past year, and 
Engineering Department has seen higher unit pricing on recently bid projects.  If this project went 

5C



out for public bidding, the unit pricing will be higher than the bids received in June 2022.  The 
City will also save money on issuing the project specifications and time to bid on the project. 
Also, the Engineering Department can tailor the proposed scope of work to match the City's 
current budget for the 2023 Sidewalk Program.   

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney reviewed the 2022 Concrete Sidewalk Program contract and City Ordinances 
and see no legal issues. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
The 2023 Sidewalk Program Project was budgeted for in the 2023/2024 budget across the General 
Sidewalk Fund, Major Street Fund, and Local Street Funds. The change order will be funded by 
the following accounts:  

Fund Account Fund ID Number Budget Change Order Amount 

General Sidewalk 101-444.001-981.0100 $340,750.00 $340,750.00 

Major Streets Fund 202-449.001-981.0100 $86,385.00 $86,385.00 

Local Street Fund 203-449.001-981.0100 $62,985.00 $62,985.00 

The change order will not be signed until the 2023/2024 budget is approved. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
Communication with property owners in the project area will include the general project 
announcement.  

SUMMARY: 
The Engineering Department is recommending a change order to the 2022 Concrete Sidewalk 

Repair Program #8-22 (SW) to add the 2023 Concrete Sidewalk Repair Program #6-23 (SW). 

ATTACHMENTS:  

 Primary Project Area Map (one page)
 Luigi Ferdinandi and Sons Cement Company Letter (one page)
 2022 Concrete Sidewalk Program Project Proposal and Contract (19 pages)
 First Amendment to the 2022 Concrete Sidewalk Repair Program #8-22 (SW)

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to approve a change order to the 2022 Concrete Sidewalk 
Program #8-22 (SW) for the 2023 Concrete Sidewalk Program #6-23 (SW) in the amount not to 
exceed of $490,120.00 once the 2023/2024 budget is approved. In addition, to authorize the 
City Engineer to sign the Change Order on behalf of the City.  Funding for this project has been 
budgeted in the following accounts:  

Fund Account Fund ID Number Budget Change Order Amount 

General Sidewalk 101-444.001-981.0100 $340,750.00 $340,750.00 

Major Streets Fund 202-449.001-981.0100 $86,385.00 $86,385.00 

Local Street Fund 203-449.001-981.0100 $62,985.00 $62,985.00 

5C



0 2,800 5,6001,400
Feet

1 inch = 1,496 feet

2023
Capital Improvements

Disclaimer: The information provided by this program has been
compiled from recorded deeds, plats, taxmaps, surveys, and 

other public records and data. It is not a legally recorded 
map or survey.

The data provided hereon may be inaccurate or out of date and 
any person or entity who relies on said information for any purpose

 whatsoever does so solely at his or her own risk. 
Data Sources:  Oakland County GIS Utility, City of Birmingham

¯

Legend
2023 Sidewalk Target Area
Sidewalk Program Districts

MAPLE

OAK ADAMS

WOODWARD

ETON

BATES

DERBY

BIRD

PIERCE

COLE

LINCOLN

FOURTEENMILE

FA
IR

FA
X

PIL
GR

IM

VILLA

REDDING

PU
RI

TA
N

HENRIETTA

TORRY

SU
FF

IEL
D

ANN

FAIRWAY

NORTHLAWN

OLDWOODWARD

SOUTHFIELD SMITH

CR
AN

BR
OO

K

RAYNALE

LAKEPARK

ELM

PARK

BROWN

LAKESIDE

HAZEL

GRANT

ABBEY

HOLLAND

PEMBROKE

MIDVALE

DAVIS

CH
ES

TE
RF

IEL
D

QUARTON

MELTON

WEBSTER

WILLITS

STANLEY

PINE

SHIPMAN

LARCHLEA

HARMON

PURDY

YOSEMITE

HENLEY

AR
LIN

GT
ON HANNA

HAYNES

MARYLAND

WIMBLETON

MERRILL

COOLIDGE

PLEASANT FRANK

OXFORD

TAUNTON

BOWERS

HUMPHREY

SHEFFIELD

YORKSHIRE

WESTWOOD

EDGEWOOD

LINDEN
LATHAM

AR
GY

LE

CHESTER

WINDEMERE

CHAPIN

MADISON

BIRMINGHAM

ASPEN

WATKINS

RIVENOAK

EMMONS

WESTCHESTER

WASHINGTON

BUCKINGHAM

MARTIN

SHIRLEY

DORCHESTER

MANCHESTER

AVON

KNOX

BIGBEAVER

CEDAR

BALDWIN

GEORGE

WILLOW

WORTH

FOREST

WA
RW

IC
K

CROFT

BE
RW

YN

OAKLAND

BRADFORD

MOHEGAN

VINEWOOD

RUGBY

TOWNSEND

WALLACE

KENNESAW

RUFFNER

BANBURY

RIDGEDALE

LAKEVIEW

GLENHURST

FERNDALE

BENNAVILLE

BR
YN

MA
WR

WE
LL

ES
LE

Y

BR
OO

KW
OO

D

WOODLEA

SAXON

HIL
LS

ID
E

LEWIS

TOTTENHAM

CAMBRIDGE

DEWEY

GR
AE

FIE
LD

DAINES

HAMILTON

KIMBERLEY

GOLFVIEW

PUTNEY

FLOYD

BROOKSIDE

LY
ON

HU
RS

T

MIDLAND

SOUTHLAWN

ARDEN

GREENLAWN

ATEN

PEABODY

CANTERBURY

PO
LO

RIVERSIDE

DUNSTABLE

MAPLEHILL

BLOOMFIELD

CO
MM

ER
CE

LAWNDALE

MI
LL

RA
CE

HAYNES

PINE

GL
EN

HU
RS

T

FRANK

LAKESIDE

STANLEY

EMMONS

SHIRLEY

NORTHLAWN

BOWERS

WORTH

WOODWARD

HAZEL

CHAPIN

BUCKINGHAM

FOURTEENMILE

BOWERS

HUMPHREY

ETON

RUFFNER

GOLFVIEW

5
2

76

8

34

1C

1A

1D

1B

5C



5C



5C



5C



5C



5C



5C



5C



5C



5C



5C



5C



5C



5C



5C



5C



5C



5C



5C



5C



5C



5C



5C



5C



5C



MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Department 

DATE: April 3, 2023  

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Melissa A. Coatta, City Engineer  

SUBJECT: Change Order to the 2021 Sewer Rehabilitation Program #8-21 (S) 
to add the 2022-2023 Sewer Rehabilitation Program #8-23 (S)  

INTRODUCTION: 
The 2021 Sewer Rehabilitation Program contract with the City of Birmingham is still open.  D.V.M. 
Utilities, Inc. (DVM) has offered to hold most of their unit pricing from the 2021 Sewer 
Rehabilitation Program for the 2022-2023 Sewer Rehabilitation Program. The Engineering 
Department recommends a change order to the 2021 Sewer Rehabilitation Program #8-21 (S) to 
add the 2022-2023 Sewer Rehabilitation Program #8-23 (S).    

BACKGROUND: 
The Engineering Department received bids for the 2021 Sewer Rehabilitation Program on 
September 2, 2021, and DVM was the lowest bidder.  The City awarded the contract at the 
September 20, 2021 City Commission Meeting.  DVM completed the field work of the 2021 Sewer 
Rehabilitation Program in January 2023, and review of the televised sewer video is currently 
occurring.   

The 2022-2023 Sewer Rehabilitation will include the same work scope of cleaning and televising 
sewers with reporting, as-needed heavy cleaning, as-needed cut root intrusion, as-needed cut 
and grind protruding sewer leads, as-needed internal sewer repair sleeves, and as-need sewer 
joint grouting.   

DVM has offered to hold 27 of their 41 bid items from the 2021 Sewer Rehabilitation Program for 
the 2022-2023 Sewer Rehabilitation Program. For the 14 of the bid items, they are asking for a 
price increase of $0.25 increments per linear foot.  The requested increase is due to an increase 
in labor costs from September 2021 to today.  Enclosed is a summary of the requested new 
pricing for the 14 bid items.   

The Engineering Department recommends a change order to the 2021 Sewer Rehabilitation 
Program to add the 2023 Sewer Rehabilitation Program due to several reasons.  The additional 

5D

https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Basic%20Agendas/2021/20210920%20AGENDA%20AMENDED.pdf


2 

increase request by DVM for the 14 unit prices is still below the second low bidder from the 2021 
Sewer Rehabilitation Program bid in September 2021.  The City would also have cost savings for 
the project by not issuing project specifications for bidding and the award process.  This cost 
savings can go to additional sewer segments for cleaning and televising.   Also, due to the current 
bidding environment, we would most likely see higher bid pricing from the Fall of 2021. DVM has 
the availability in their schedule to start this project this Spring.   

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney reviewed the 2021 Sewer Rehabilitation Program contract and the City 
Ordinance and see no legal issues.  

FISCAL IMPACT:  
The 2022-2023 Sewer Rehabilitation was budgeted for in the 2022-2023 budget in the Sewer 
Fund. The change order will be funded by the following account:  

Fund Account Fund ID Number Budget Change Order 
Amount  

Sewer Fund 590.0-537.000-981.0200 $460,000.00 $460,000.00 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
Property owners affected by the work will be notified in advance through the use of door-hangers, 
and general project updates online and through targeted e-blast.  

SUMMARY: 
The Engineering Department is recommending a change order to the 2021 Sewer Rehabilitation 
Program #8-21 (S) to add the 2022-2023 Sewer Rehabilitation Program #8-23 (S).    

ATTACHMENTS:  

 DVM Request New Pricing (1 page)
 2021 Sewer Rehabilitation Program Bid Summary (2 pages)
 2021 Sewer Rehabilitation Program Proposal and Contract (19 pages)
 First amendment to the 2021 Sewer Rehabilitation Program #8-21 (S) (4 Pages)

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to approve a change order to the 2021 Sewer 
Rehabilitation Program #8-21 (S) for the 2022-2023 Sewer Rehabilitation Program #8-23 (S) 
in the amount not to exceed of $460,000.00. In addition, to authorize the City Engineer to sign 
the Change Order on behalf of the City.  Funding for this project has been budgeted in the 
following accounts:  

Fund Account Fund ID Number Budget Change Order 
Amount  

Sewer Fund 590.0-537.000-981.0200 $460,000.00 $460,000.00 

5D



    BID ITEM 2021 BID

DVM Proposed 

Increase

2. Clean & Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined 8" (SAN) $2.50 $2.75

3. Clean & Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined 10" (SAN) $2.50 $2.75

4. Clean & Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined 12" (SAN) $2.50 $2.75

5. Clean & Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined 15" (SAN) $2.60 $3.00

6. Clean & Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined 18" (SAN) $2.60 $3.00

7. Clean & Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined 21" (SAN) $2.60 $3.00

8. Clean & Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined 24" (SAN) $3.00 $3.25

9. Clean & Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined 27" (SAN) $3.00 $3.25

10. Clean & Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined 30" (SAN) $3.00 $3.25

11. Clean & Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined 36" (SAN) $3.50 $3.75

12. Clean & Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined 42" (SAN) $4.25 $4.50

13. Clean & Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined 48" (SAN) $5.00 $5.25

14. Clean & Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined 54" (SAN) $5.50 $5.75

15. Clean & Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined 60" (SAN) $6.60 $7.00

16. Clean & Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined 66" (SAN) $8.00 $8.00

17. Clean & Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined 72" (SAN) $9.25 $9.25

5D



BID TABULATION Bids Due: Day, September 2 2021 at Time  2:00 p.m.

2021 SEWER REHABILITATION PROGRAM - CONTRACT #8-21(S) HRC Job # 20200098

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM

OAKLAND COUNTY

D.V.M. UTILITIES, INC. PIPELINE MANANGEMENT CO.

6045 Sims Rd, Suite 2 2673 E. Maple Rd

Sterling Heights, MI 48313 Milford, MI 48381

Item Quantity Unit Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost

1. Mobilization (10% Max) 1 LS $75,000.00 $75,000.00 $95,000.00 $95,000.00 $120,000.00 $120,000.00

2.
Clean and Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined Sewer 

8"
12,224 LFT $2.50 $30,560.00 $3.50 $42,784.00 $3.25 $39,728.00

3.
Clean and Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined Sewer 

10"
6,945 LFT $2.50 $17,362.50 $3.75 $26,043.75 $3.55 $24,654.75

4.
Clean and Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined Sewer 

12"
18,378 LFT $2.50 $45,945.00 $4.00 $73,512.00 $3.75 $68,917.50

5.
Clean and Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined Sewer 

15"
9,990 LFT $2.60 $25,974.00 $4.25 $42,457.50 $4.00 $39,960.00

6.
Clean and Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined Sewer 

18"
13,330 LFT $2.60 $34,658.00 $4.50 $59,985.00 $4.15 $55,319.50

7.
Clean and Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined Sewer 

21"
8,900 LFT $2.60 $23,140.00 $4.75 $42,275.00 $4.25 $37,825.00

8.
Clean and Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined Sewer 

24"
4,744 LFT $3.00 $14,232.00 $5.00 $23,720.00 $4.50 $21,348.00

9.
Clean and Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined Sewer 

27"
973 LFT $3.00 $2,919.00 $5.50 $5,351.50 $4.75 $4,621.75

10.
Clean and Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined Sewer 

30"
4,092 LFT $3.00 $12,276.00 $6.00 $24,552.00 $5.25 $21,483.00

11.
Clean and Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined Sewer 

36"
4,217 LFT $3.50 $14,759.50 $7.00 $29,519.00 $5.75 $24,247.75

12.
Clean and Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined Sewer 

42"
4,156 LFT $4.25 $17,663.00 $8.00 $33,248.00 $6.00 $24,936.00

13.
Clean and Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined Sewer 

48"
1,637 LFT $5.00 $8,185.00 $9.00 $14,733.00 $7.00 $11,459.00

14.
Clean and Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined Sewer 

54"
992 LFT $5.50 $5,456.00 $10.00 $9,920.00 $8.00 $7,936.00

15.
Clean and Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined Sewer 

60"
1,895 LFT $6.60 $12,507.00 $11.00 $20,845.00 $10.00 $18,950.00

16.
Clean and Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined Sewer 

66"
1,142 LFT $8.00 $9,136.00 $12.00 $13,704.00 $11.00 $12,562.00

17.
Clean and Televise with PACP Reporting, Combined Sewer 

72"
406 LFT $9.25 $3,755.50 $15.00 $6,090.00 $13.00 $5,278.00

18. Heavy Cleaning, 8" to 12", as needed 34 HR $275.00 $9,350.00 $450.00 $15,300.00 $225.00 $7,650.00

19. Heavy Cleaning, 15" to 21", as needed 45 HR $275.00 $12,375.00 $450.00 $20,250.00 $225.00 $10,125.00

20. Heavy Cleaning, 24" to 36", as needed 25 HR $275.00 $6,875.00 $450.00 $11,250.00 $225.00 $5,625.00

21. Heavy Cleaning, 42" or greater, as needed 10 HR $275.00 $2,750.00 $450.00 $4,500.00 $225.00 $2,250.00

22. Video Inspect Sewer Lateral 1,200 LFT $2.75 $3,300.00 $1.00 $1,200.00 $2.25 $2,700.00

23. Video Inspect Sewer Lateral Set Up 59 EA $75.00 $4,425.00 $400.00 $23,600.00 $125.00 $7,375.00

24. Cut Root Intrustion 88 EA $65.00 $5,720.00 $50.00 $4,400.00 $50.00 $4,400.00

25. Cut/Grind Mineral Deposit 245 EA $65.00 $15,925.00 $50.00 $12,250.00 $50.00 $12,250.00

26. Cut/Grind Protuding Sewer Leads, Clay 66 EA $75.00 $4,950.00 $125.00 $8,250.00 $150.00 $9,900.00

27.
Cut/Grind Protuding Sewer Leads, Plastic with Rubber 

Boot
19 EA $75.00 $1,425.00 $500.00 $9,500.00 $150.00 $2,850.00

28. Cut/Grind Protuding Sewer Leads, Cast Iron 3 EA $550.00 $1,650.00 $500.00 $1,500.00 $1,200.00 $3,600.00

29.
Internal Sewer Repair Sleeve, 8" to 12" dia., 24" Length, as 

needed
7 EA $4,250.00 $29,750.00 $3,000.00 $21,000.00 $1,250.00 $8,750.00

30.
Internal Sewer Repair Sleeve, 15" to 21" dia., 24" Length, 

as needed
5 EA $6,000.00 $30,000.00 $6,000.00 $30,000.00 $2,200.00 $11,000.00

31.
Internal Sewer Repair Sleeve, 24" to 36" dia., 24" Length, 

as needed
5 EA $9,850.00 $49,250.00 $9,000.00 $45,000.00 $3,500.00 $17,500.00

32. Internal Sewer Spot Liner, CIPP, 8" to 12" dia., as needed 50 LFT $675.00 $33,750.00 $1,000.00 $50,000.00 $935.00 $46,750.00

33. Internal Sewer Spot Liner, CIPP, 15" to 21" dia., as needed 40 LFT $900.00 $36,000.00 $1,950.00 $78,000.00 $1,485.00 $59,400.00

PIPETEK INFRASTR. SERVICES

12119 Levan Rd

Livonia, MI 48150

H:\Shared\CONTRACTS FOR 2021\8-21(S) SEWER REHABILITATION PROGRAM\Bid_Tab_2021_Sewer_Rehab_Program_8-21S Page 15D



BID TABULATION Bids Due: Day, September 2 2021 at Time  2:00 p.m.

2021 SEWER REHABILITATION PROGRAM - CONTRACT #8-21(S) HRC Job # 20200098

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM

OAKLAND COUNTY

D.V.M. UTILITIES, INC. PIPELINE MANANGEMENT CO.

6045 Sims Rd, Suite 2 2673 E. Maple Rd

Sterling Heights, MI 48313 Milford, MI 48381

Item Quantity Unit Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost

PIPETEK INFRASTR. SERVICES

12119 Levan Rd

Livonia, MI 48150

34. Internal Sewer Spot Liner, CIPP, 24" to 36" dia., as needed 25 LFT $1,325.00 $33,125.00 $2,800.00 $70,000.00 $1,650.00 $41,250.00

35. Sewer Grouting Set Up 234 EA $475.00 $111,150.00 $50.00 $11,700.00 $1,595.00 $373,230.00

36. Sewer Joint Grouting, 8" to 12" dia. 195 EA $290.00 $56,550.00 $50.00 $9,750.00 $220.00 $42,900.00

37. Sewer Joint Grouting, 15 to 21" dia. 81 EA $555.00 $44,955.00 $75.00 $6,075.00 $385.00 $31,185.00

38. Sewer Joint Grouting, 24" to 36" dia 68 EA $1,050.00 $71,400.00 $100.00 $6,800.00 $550.00 $37,400.00

39. Traffic Control, S Old Woodward 1 LS $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $7,500.00 $7,500.00

40. Traffic Control, on Major Streets, as needed 12 EA $2,760.00 $33,120.00 $1,500.00 $18,000.00 $1,500.00 $18,000.00

41. Inspector Crew Days $600/day DAYS 140                        $84,000.00                          100 $108,000.00 120 $108,000.00

TOTAL BID AMOUNT $1,045,323.50 $1,140,064.75 $1,410,816.25

Other Bids:

Inland Waters Pollution Control, Inc. - $1,420,355.25

National Power Rodding Corp. - $1,581,680.20

ENGINEER:

Hubbell, Roth & Clark, Inc.

555 Hulet Drive

Bloomfield Hills, MI  48302

H:\Shared\CONTRACTS FOR 2021\8-21(S) SEWER REHABILITATION PROGRAM\Bid_Tab_2021_Sewer_Rehab_Program_8-21S Page 25D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



 

 
MEMORANDUM 
Planning Division 
 

 
DATE:  April 3, 2023  
 
TO:  Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 
 
FROM: Nicholas Dupuis, Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT:  Set Public Hearing – The Birmingham Plan 2040 
 
 
INTRODUCTION:  
 
The Comprehensive Master Plan 
 
A Master Plan is a document and policy guide designed to help communities conceive a vision of 
what they want to look like in the future.  Master Plans are written and adopted by a local Planning 
Commission and might also be adopted by a local legislative body, although Master Plans are not 
laws on their own. In Birmingham, the Planning Board is a locally organized board and is not 
established under the Municipal Planning Commission Act, Act No. 285 of the Public Acts of 
Michigan of 1931 (MCL 125.31 et seq.), as amended. Thus, the Planning Board acts as a 
recommending body to the City Commission, which assumes the role of a Planning Commission 
for the purposes of master plan adoption in the City of Birmingham 
 
Michigan Planning Enabling Act 
 
The legal authority to carry out the master planning process is granted by Article III of the 
Michigan Planning Enabling Act (the “Act”). Within the Act, there are several legal requirements 
that a municipality must follow when preparing a master plan including future land use, public 
participation, notifying other government agencies, and adoption procedure. The City of 
Birmingham closely followed the requirements of the Act.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Process Overview 
 
The City of Birmingham embarked on a comprehensive master plan update beginning in the 
summer of 2018 with the creation and posting of a Request for Proposals soliciting qualified 

5E

http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(mk350ue1knxm4dcaluqnasho))/documents/mcl/pdf/mcl-33-2008-III..pdf


 
 
 
 
 

2 
 

professionals to conduct a comprehensive master plan update. In the fall of 2018, a consultant 
team that included DPZ CoDesign, McKenna, Gibbs Planning Group and Jacobs Engineering was 
selected to provide the services. The master planning process kicked off in January 2019, after 
which the City had numerous public input sessions including charrettes, roundtable discussions, 
neighborhood input sessions, surveys, drop-in clinics, and presentations. Upon receiving the first 
draft of the Birmingham Plan 2040 (the “2040 Plan”), the City began to hold what would become 
over 40 total public reviews/discussions between the Planning Board, City Commission, and 
several joint meetings. A complete history of reviews related to the 2040 Plan is summarized in 
the following table: 
 
DATE REVIEW TOPIC LINKS 
MASTER PLAN RFP & CONSULTANT SELECTION 
April 9, 2018 City Commission vote to issue RFP Agenda – Minutes  

May 14, 2018 City Commission Vote to Establish Ad Hoc Master 
Plan Selection Committee Agenda – Minutes 

July 31, 2018 Ad Hoc Master Plan Selection Committee RFP 
Review - 

August 29, 2018 Ad Hoc Master Plan Selection Committee 
Interviews and Recommendation - 

September 17, 2018 City Commission Approves Agreement with DPZ Agenda – Minutes 
PRE-DRAFT 
May 20, 2019 Preview and Discussion of Plan Topics Agenda – Minutes 
July 8, 2019 City Commission Master Plan Update Agenda – Minutes  
July 10, 2019 Master Plan Update Agenda – Minutes  
August 28, 2019 Master Plan Discussion Agenda – Minutes  
September 23, 2019 City Commission Master Plan Update Agenda – Minutes  
October 17, 2019 Joint Meeting – 1st Draft Discussion Agenda 
October 23, 2019 Master Plan Update Agenda – Minutes  
November 13, 2019 Master Plan Update Agenda – Minutes  

December 9, 2019 City Commission resolution to approve Draft #1 
Review Schedule Agenda – Minutes 

January 8, 2020 Master Plan Review Process Update Agenda – Minutes  
FIRST DRAFT 
February 12, 2020 Premises & Future City Vision Agenda – Minutes 
March 11, 2020 Neighborhood Components Agenda – Minutes 
May 13, 2020 Master Plan Review Process Discussion Agenda – Minutes  
June 10, 2020 Master Plan Review Process Discussion Agenda – Minutes 
June 15, 2020 Joint Meeting Master Plan Review Process Agenda – Minutes  
June 24, 2020 Master Plan Review Process Discussion Agenda – Minutes 
August 12, 2020 Master Plan Themes pt. 1 Agenda – Minutes 

5E

https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Full%20Agenda%20Packet/2018/040918%20WEB.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Minutes/2018/CC_040918.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Full%20Agenda%20Packet/2018/051418%20WEBSITE.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Minutes/2018/CC_051418.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Full%20Agenda%20Packet/2018/091718.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Minutes/2018/CC_091718.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Packet/2019/May%2020.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Minutes/2019/5-20-19%20PB%20Special%20Meeting.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Full%20Agenda%20Packet/2019/070819.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Minutes/2019/CC_2019%2007%2008.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Packet/2019/Full%20Agenda%20-%20Part%201.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Minutes/2019/7-10-19%20Mins%20Final.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Packet/2019/Planning%20Agenda%20Full.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Minutes/2019/8_28%20PB.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Full%20Agenda%20Packet/2019/092319%20REV.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Minutes/2019/CC_2019%2009%2023.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Full%20Agenda%20Packet/2019/101719%20WEB.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Packet/2019/Full%20Agenda%20-%2010-23-19%20-%20No%20Master%20Plan%20Draft.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Minutes/2019/10-23-19%20Final.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Packet/2019/Planning%20Board%20Agenda%20FULL%2011-13-19.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Minutes/2019/11-13-19%20pb%20draft.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Full%20Agenda%20Packet/2019/120919.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Minutes/2019/CC_2019%2012%2009.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Packet/2020/Complete%20Agenda%20-%20January%208,%202020.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Minutes/2020/1-8-20%20App.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Packet/2020/Full%20Agenda%20-%20Feb%2012,%202020.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Minutes/2020/2-12-20%20PB%20Minutes.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Packet/2020/Full%20Agenda%20-%20March%2011,%202020.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Minutes/2020/3-11-20%20approved.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Packet/2020/Full%20Agenda%20May%2013,%202020.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Minutes/2020/5-13-20%20Approved.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Packet/2020/Full%20Agenda%20-%20June%2010,%202020.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Minutes/2020/6-10-20%20PB%20mins.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Full%20Agenda%20Packet/2020/06152020-Rev.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Minutes/2020/4A%20CC-PB%20JOINT%20WORKSHOP%20MINUTES%2006152020.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Packet/2020/Full%20Agenda%20-%20June%2024,%202020.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Minutes/2020/6-24-20%20PB.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Packet/2020/Full%20Agenda%20-%20Part%201%20-%20August%2012,%202020%20R.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Minutes/2020/8-12-2020.pdf


 
 
 
 
 

3 
 

September 9, 2020 Master Plan Themes pt. 2 Agenda – Minutes 
November 11, 2020 Mixed-Use Districts Agenda – Minutes 
January 13, 2021 Neighborhood & Housing Policy Agenda – Minutes 
February 10, 2021 Neighborhood Plans & Shared Elements Agenda – Minutes 

March 8, 2021 City Commission Resolution Outlining the 
Remaining Master Plan Review Process Agenda – Minutes  

March 10, 2021 Direction Summary from Review of 1st Draft Agenda – Minutes 

March 22, 2021 City Commission Resolution Directing Preparation 
of Draft #2 (Postponed) Agenda – Minutes 

April 19, 2021 City Commission Resolution Directing Preparation 
of Draft #2 Agenda – Minutes  

SECOND DRAFT 
October 11, 2021 Joint Meeting Draft #2 Receipt Update Agenda – Minutes  
October 13, 2021 2nd Draft Receipt and Review Process Agenda – Minutes  

November 10, 2021 Introduction, Future Land Use Map, Chapter 1 
(Connecting the City) Agenda – Minutes 

December 8, 2021 Chapter 2 (Embraced Managed Growth) Agenda – Minutes 
January 12, 2022 Chapter 3 (Retain Neighborhood Quality) Agenda – Minutes 

February 9, 2022 Chapter 4 ( Support Mixed-Use Districts) & 
Chapter 5 (Advance Sustainability Practices) Agenda – Minutes 

March 9, 2022 Summary of Recommendations – Draft #2 Agenda – Minutes  

April 18, 2022 City Commission Resolution Directing Preparation 
of Draft #3 Agenda – Minutes  

THIRD DRAFT 
August 10, 2022 Draft #3 Review Process Update Agenda – Minutes  
September 14, 2022 Final Draft Receipt and Process Confirmation  Agenda – Minutes  
October 3, 2022 Resolution Authorizing 63-Day Notice Period  Agenda – Minutes  
January 11, 2023 Final Draft & Public Comment Review Agenda – Minutes  
February 8, 2023 Final Draft & Public Comment Review Agenda – Minutes  
March 8, 2023 Recommendation to Adopt 2040 Master Plan  Agenda – Minutes  
April 3, 2023 Set Public Hearing Date for City Commission  - 
May 22, 2023 Resolution to Formally Adopt Master Plan - 
 

Throughout the review process, the consultant team has maintained a webpage 
(www.thebirminghamplan.com) that has provided several important services over the last 4 years 
including the following: 
 

• Provided a means for the public to submit comments directly to the consultant team. 
• Acted as a repository for all documents relating to the master plan that the consultant has 

produced. 

5E

https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Packet/2020/Full%20Agenda%20-%209-9-20.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Minutes/2020/9-9-20.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Packet/2020/Full%20Agenda%20Nov%2011,%202020.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Minutes/2020/11-11-20%20Approved.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Packet/2021/Full%20Agenda%20-%20January%2013,%202021.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Minutes/2021/1-12-21%20PB%20-%20Approved.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Packet/2021/Planning%20Agenda%20Full%20-%20Feb%2010,%202021.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Minutes/2021/2-10-21%20PB%20mins.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Full%20Agenda%20Packet/2021/03082021%20Agenda%20Packet.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Minutes/2021/20210308%20Minutes.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Packet/2021/Amended%20Planning%20Agenda%20Full%20-%203-10-21.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Minutes/2021/3-10-21%20PB%20mins.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Basic%20Agendas/2021/03222021%20Agenda%20AMENDED.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Minutes/2021/20210322%20Minutes%20-%20Revised%20Final.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Full%20Agenda%20Packet/2021/20210419%20Special%20Agenda%20Packet.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Department/City%20clerk/20210419%20PC&CC%20joint%20minutes.pdf
file://CH-FS1/Users/CD/Shared/CDD/Planning%20Board/Planning%20Board%20-%20AGENDAS/2023/February%208,%202023/Extra%20Docs/2040%20Plan/October%2011,%202021%09Joint%20Meeting
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/10_11%2021%20CC-PB%20joint%20workshop.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Agenda%20FULL%20-%2010-13-21.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Minutes%20(APPROVED)%20-%2010-13-21.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Agenda%20FULL%20-%2011-10-21.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Minutes%20(APPROVED)%20-%2011-10-21.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Agenda%20FULL%20-%2012-8-21.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Minutes%20(APPROVED)%20-%2012-8-21.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Agenda%20FULL%20-%201-12-22.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Minutes%20(APPROVED)%20-%201-12-22.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Planning%20Board%20Agenda%20FULL%20-%202-9-22.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Minutes%20(APPROVED-PROTECTED)%20-%202-9-22.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Agenda%20FULL%20-%203-9-22.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Minutes%20(APPROVED-PROTECTED)%20-%203-9-22.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Full%20Agenda%20Packet/2022/20220418%20Joint%20CC%20and%20PB%20Special%20Meeting%20Agenda%20Packet%20AMENDED.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Minutes/2022/20220418%20Joint%20City%20Commission%20Planning%20Board%20regular%20meeting%20minutes%20SIGNED.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Agenda%20AMENDED%20FULL%20-%208-10-22.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Minutes%20(APPROVED-PROTECTED)%20-%208-10-22.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Agenda%20FULL%20-%209-14-22.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Minutes%20(APPROVED-PROTECTED)%20-%209-14-22.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Full%20Agenda%20Packet/2022/20221003%20BIRMINGHAM%20CITY%20COMMISSION%20AGENDA%20Packet%20Amended.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Minutes/2022/20221003%20City%20Commission%20Minutes%20SIGNED.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Planning%20Board/Packet/2022/PB%20Agenda%20FULL%20011123.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Minutes%20(APPROVED-PROTECTED)%20-%201-11-23.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Agenda%20FULL%20-%202-8-23.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Minutes%20(APPROVED-PROTECTED)%20-%202-8-23.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Agenda%20FULL%20-%203-8-23.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Minutes%20(APPROVED-PROTECTED)%20-%203-8-23.pdf
http://www.thebirminghamplan.com/


 
 
 
 
 

4 
 

• Compiled and made available a history of all master plans and studies relevant to the 2040 
Plan. 

• Made readily available each draft of the 2040 Plan as it was updated. 
 
Required 63-Day Public Notice Period 
 
As noted in the table above, on October 3, 2022, the City Commission authorized the 63-day 
distribution period for the final draft of the 2040 Plan pursuant to the requirements of Article III, 
Section 125.3841 of the Michigan Planning Enabling Act, and to notify the secretary of the 
Planning Commission to provide copies of the proposed master plan to all of the necessary entities 
pursuant to MCL 125.3841(2). The following entities were included in the distribution: 
 

• Neighboring Municipalities: 
o Beverly Hills 
o Bloomfield Hills 
o Bloomfield Township 
o Royal Oak 
o Troy 

 
• Regional Planning Agencies: 

o SEMCOG 
o Oakland County 

 
• Public Transportation Agencies: 

o Regional Transit Authority 
o SMART 
o Michigan Department of Transportation – Metro Region 

 
• Railroad Agencies: 

o Amtrak 
o Canadian National Railway 

Upon the closing of the 63-day distribution period, one comment was received from Oakland 
County. In summation, the County determined that the Birmingham Plan 2040 was NOT 
inconsistent with the plan of any city, village, or township that received notice of the draft plan. 
 
Public Participation & Evolution of the 2040 Plan 
 
Public participation is vital to the success of the 2040 Plan. The City of Birmingham has taken a 
meaningful and expansive approach to public participation, which started before the consultant 
team was even selected. In the Request for Proposals, extensive public participation was listed 
as an explicit requirement, which included a detailed community engagement plan that allowed 
for public input throughout the entire process from visioning to formal adoption of the 2040 Plan. 
 
As noted in the process outline section above, there was substantial opportunity for public 
participation in the early stages in the process. This was an intentional and standard approach to 

5E



 
 
 
 
 

5 
 

the master planning process. This engagement helps capture opinions, preferences, and visions 
for the community’s future. With the feedback received during this robust engagement period, 
the consultants produced a first draft. 
 
As reviews of the first draft and all subsequent drafts of the 2040 Plan continued, so did the 
opportunities for public participation. This resulted in a final draft that has been informed by the 
public. During the process, several high profile concepts or recommendations were altered 
including: 
 

• Neighborhood Seams 
• Accessory Dwelling Units 
• Commercial Destinations 

 
Importantly, public participation does not end with the adoption of the 2040 Plan. Each 
recommendation in the 2040 Plan will be studied, vetted, and considered in open public meetings. 
 
The Future of the 2040 Plan 
 
Once a master plan is adopted, the City is tasked with prioritizing and considering the 
recommendations of the plan through in-depth reviews. Some recommendations may need to be 
broken down into more manageable subtasks, or next steps, with responsibilities assigned 
accordingly. At present, the 2040 Plan contains 30 recommendations with varying levels of 
complexity.  
 
It is imperative to understand that a master plan is not a static document. An annual review of a 
master plan is necessary to complete the following tasks: 
 

1. Review goals and major recommendations. 
2. Review action table and progress toward completing this year’s priorities. 
3. Review prior year’s rezoning’s and development decisions. Discuss if there are any trends 

that need to be addressed. 
4. Identify any potential plan amendments to work on for the upcoming year that can be 

prepared and adopted then incorporated at a later date when the master plan is updated. 
5. Identify any zoning ordinance updates to undertake in the coming year. 

 
Performing the annual review and thoroughly documenting the process and the machinations of 
the master plan is essential when it comes to the master plan review after 5 years of adoption as 
required by the Michigan Planning Enabling Act. At 5 years, it should be determined whether any 
amendments are needed or whether the plan is still relevant to today’s conditions. Generally, the 
goals, objectives and future land use plan should be carefully reviewed to contrast with current 
development trends as well as any major changes or diversions from the plan that have taken 
place in order to consider whether the plan needs to be updated. 
 
 
 

5E



6 

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed the report and its attachments and is satisfied that the plans 
development followed the statutory requirements for the development of a master plan. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
There is no fiscal impact for this agenda item. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
Since the beginning of the comprehensive master planning process, there has been extensive 
public communications for the 2040 Plan including social media posts, constant contact email 
updates, FAQ’s, and regular inclusion on public meeting agendas.  

In addition, as required by the Michigan Planning Enabling Act, a legal ad was placed in a 
newspaper of general circulation prior to the public hearing at the Planning Board on March 8, 
2023. An additional legal ad will be placed in a newspaper of general circulation prior to the public 
hearing at the City Commission on May 22, 2023. 

Finally, as required by the Michigan Planning Enabling Act, an additional notice of the public 
hearing is required to be sent to each entity to which the 2040 Plan was distributed for the 
required 63-day notice period prior to the public hearing at the City Commission on May 22, 2023. 

SUMMARY: 
The Planning Division requests that the City Commission set a public hearing date of May 22, 
2023 to consider the recommendation of the Planning Board to adopt and approve in its entirety 
the Birmingham Plan 2040, inclusive of all maps, plats, charts, and other related matter, figures 
and the Future Land Use Map.  

ATTACHMENTS: 

• The Birmingham Plan 2040 (Please follow link. Hard copies of the 2040 Plan may be
provided upon request) 

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to set a public hearing date of May 22, 2023 to consider the 
recommendation of the Planning Board to adopt and approve in its entirety the Birmingham Plan 
2040, inclusive of all maps, plats, charts, and other related matter, figures and the Future Land 
Use Map. 

5E

https://www.thebirminghamplan.com/


 

 
MEMORANDUM 
Department of Public Services 
 

 
DATE:  April 3, 2023  
 
TO:  Tom M. Markus, City Manager 
 
FROM: Scott D. Zielinski, DPS Director  
 
SUBJECT:  Fee Schedule Increase Recommendation – Golf Courses 
 
 

INTRODUCTION:  
During the yearly budget review it was noted that Golf Course fees have not been 
increased in over 10 years. With the current forecasted safety and maintenance projects, 
it has been determined that the golf course should increase fees to help offset current 
and future planned projects.  
 
Per the City Code, fees for applications, plan reviews, permits, inspections, licenses, 
registrations, appeals, and other charges or penalties shall be as specified in the 
Schedule of Fees, Charges, Bonds and Insurance. All fees are subject to change from 
time to time as recommended by city staff and as determined by resolution of the City 
Commission. 
 
Per the City of Birmingham 2023 Fee Schedule, Golf Course fees are to be adjusted by 
resolution of City Commission with the recommendation of the Parks and Recreation 
Board. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
As you are aware, the Lincoln Hills Golf Course is starting a safety project to reconstruct 
the Hole #1 Cart Path and T-box, which will result in a draw of approximately 
$900,000.00 from the Golf Course funds. In addition to this project, city staff has noted 
the need for additional projects at both Springdale and Lincoln Hills Golf Courses 
associated with various improvements related to items such as: safety repairs, stream 

5F



 
 
 
 
 

2 
 

bank improvements, drainage improvements, irrigation improvements, path 
improvements, storage improvements, and various other facility repairs and upgrades 
that are needed in order to keep up with the maintenance needs and to improve course 
safety.  
 
The 2023 increases will be applied to memberships and single round costs for both 
members and guests. Staff plans to increase fees as follows: 
 

Resident Memberships - Increase of $5 
New - $20 ($15 in 2022) 

Renewal - $15 ($10 in 2022) 
 

Non Resident Memberships – Increase of $25 
Single - $175 ($150 in 2022) 
Dual - $225 ($200 in 2022) 

Family - $275 ($250 in 2022) 
 

Business Membership - Increase of $25 
Business - $125 ($100 in 2022) 

 
Individual rounds by 50 cents across the board. 

 
Weekday 

Adult Member    $15.00 ($14.50 in 2022) 
Sr/Jr Member     $10.00 ($9.50 in 2022) 

Adult Guest        $19.50 ($19.00 in 2022) 
Sr/Jr Guest         $13.50 ($13.00 in 2022) 

 
Weekends 

Adult Member    $16.00 ($15.50 in 2022) 
Sr/Jr Member     $11.00 ($10.50 in 2022) 
Adult Guest        $20.50 ($20.00 in 2022) 
Sr/Jr Guest         $14.50 ($14.00 in 2022) 

 
 
These rates were presented to the Parks and Recreation Board at a special meeting on 
Tuesday, March 28, 2023, where they passed a motion in support of the rate increases 
proposed by staff as noted in the appended unapproved draft minutes of the meeting. 
  
LEGAL REVIEW:  
This fee increase procedure has been reviewed and confirmed by the City Attorney. 
 
 
 

5F



3 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
The increase in course fees will continue to help offset the planed costs associated with 
current and future maintenance costs for the golf courses. Staff estimates that the 
increase in fees will result in an addition of approximately $60,000.00 in revenue this 
season. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
City staff has updated fee information at the golf courses and online. 

SUMMARY: 
Due to the costs of current course improvements, and due to future planned safety and 
maintenance projects, City staff recommends the increase of fees for the golf courses as 
described above in the report. The Parks and Recreation Board has supported the 
recommendation for an increase in rates as presented.  

ATTACHMENTS:  

Parks and Recreation Board Draft Meeting Minutes for March 28, 2023  
2022 Golf Report from Parks and Recreation Board Agenda Packet for March 7th, 2023 
(agenda-minutes) see pages 9-36. 
Parks and Recreation Board Agenda Packet for March 28, 2023 (agenda-minutes) 

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to increase the golf course fees by the following 
amounts: 

 Memberships for Non-Residents and Businesses by $25.
 Memberships for residents by $5.
 Individual fees for rounds of golf by 50 cents for both weekday and weekends

for Adult Member, Sr/Jr Member, Adult Guest and Sr/Jr Guest.

5F

https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/March%202023%20Full%20Packet.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Parks%20and%20Recreation%20Board/Agendas%20Only/March%20Special%20Meeting%20Full%20Packet.pdf


 

PARKS AND RECREATION BOARD  
SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

March 28, 2023 
Pam Graham, Vice-Chairperson, called the special meeting to order at 6:30 pm at 851 
South Eton. 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: Pam Graham 

Anne Lipp 
John Rusche 
Steve Sweeney 

 
MEMBERS ABSENT: Heather Carmona 

Susan Collins 
 

 
ADMINISTRATION: Scott Zielinski, Director of Public Services 

Connie J. Folk, Recreation Coordinator 
Jacky Brito, Golf Course Manager 

 
GUESTS:  none 
 
Agenda item #1: Fee Schedule Increase Recommendation – Golf Course 
 
Graham at the last regular meeting of the parks and Recreation the parks board 
reviewed a detailed financial report of the golf course operation. At that time there was 
no recommendation or discussion about additional fees or scheduled being necessary 
for the future year.  
 
Graham stated there had been some discussion about that and some motivation to 
present recommendations to the City Commission at a meeting next week. Therefore, 
this committee is convening in order to review the recommendations.  
 
DPS Director Zielinski stated there is a requirement for the department to present to the 
parks and recreation board to raise fees and then to get a recommendation from the 
parks and recreation board to the city commission for approval of the proposed rate 
increase.   
 
The intended golf fee increases is to off-set current and future capital projects for both 
golf course.  The department has identified stream bank stabilization, erosion concerns 
around the bridges at the courses and additional capital improvement conerns. 
 
 
 
 

5F



2 

Parks and Recreation Board Meeting 3/7/2023 

DPS Director Zielinski state this is the first and will likely be in future years slowly 
increasing the rates. The greens fees will be increase .50 cents this year with the 
resident memberships increasing $5 and the non-resident and business memberships 
increasing $25 it's a slow impact and the idea is to keep growing our revenue ahead of 
where we're going to be before being hit by construction costs.  
 
Lipp asked these are all the increase in fees knowing that the registration of junior golf 
registration is right around the corner.   
 
GCM Brito confirmed that the junior golf program would not be increasing.  
 
It was moved by Lipp, seconded by Sweeney, to approve the recommended 2023 golf 
course fess proposed by staff to be a .50 increase for greens fees, to increase the 
resident membership by $5, and the business and non-resident memberships would be 
increased by $25.  
Ayes, Pam Graham, Anne Lipp, John Rusche, and 

Steve Sweeney 
Nays, None  
Absent, Heather Carmona, Susan Collins 
 
Graham stated the next regular meeting will be held on Tuesday, April 4, 2023, at 6:30 
pm, at 851 South Eton. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 6:48 pm 
 
Connie J. Folk, Recreation Coordinator 

5F



 

 
MEMORANDUM 
Department of Public Services 
 

 
DATE:  April 3, 2023  
 
TO:  Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 
 
FROM: Scott D. Zielinski, DPS Director 
 
SUBJECT:  Oakland County West Nile Expense Reimbursement Request 
 
 
INTRODUCTION:  

Upon recommendation of the Oakland County Executive, the Oakland County Board of 
Commissioners continues to establish a West Nile Virus Fund Program to assist cities, 
villages and townships (CVT) in addressing mosquito control activities. 
 
Oakland County’s West Nile Virus Fund Program authorizes Oakland County CVT to apply 
for reimbursement of eligible expenses incurred in connection with personal mosquito 
protection measures/activity, mosquito habitat eradication, mosquito larvicides or focused 
adult mosquito insecticide spraying in designated community green areas. 
 
The 2023 West Nile Virus (WNV) Prevention Reimbursement amount designated for the 
City of Birmingham is $2,705.23.  Birmingham must apply for reimbursement and our 
project must meet the eligibility requirements as determined by the Oakland County 
Health Division.  This is the nineteenth year for this reimbursement program. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
In 2003, we began treating approximately 2,300 catch basins throughout the community.  
The City of Birmingham incurs expenses in connection with mosquito control activities.  
We currently purchase the mosquito control material from Clarke Mosquito Control.  We 
have been pleased with the treatment plan of the citywide catch basins and continue to 
stay current on best practices for mosquito control.  Community education has also been 
an integral part of this program each year.  Reimbursement from Oakland County for the 
program this year is $2,705.23. 
 
LEGAL REVIEW:  
All documentation has been reviewed and approved by the City Attorney’s Office. 

5G



 
 
 
 
 

2 
 

 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
The reimbursement amount of $2,705.23 will offset the expenditure made for the material 
purchase from the Sewer Fund-Operating Supplies Account #590.0-538.000-729.0000. 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
Information about this program and the West Nile Virus is available on the City’s website.  
 
SUMMARY 
We spend approximately $11,000 in larvicide material to administer our mosquito control 
program each season.  The program includes treating local catch basins once during the 
season.  This activity is eligible for reimbursement under Oakland County’s West Nile 
Virus Fund Program. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   
A resolution requesting reimbursement for the maximum allotment of $2,705.23 for 
eligible mosquito control activity under Oakland County’s West Nile Virus Fund Program. 
 
SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to approve the application to request reimbursement 
for the maximum allotment of $2,705.23 for eligible mosquito control activity under 
Oakland County’s West Nile Virus Fund Program. 
 

 
 

5G



CITY OF BIRMINGHAM RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING WEST 
NILE VIRUS FUND EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT REQUEST 

WHEREAS, upon recommendation of the Oakland County Executive, the Oakland County 
Board of Commissioners has established a West Nile Virus Fund Program to assist Oakland 
County cities, villages and townships in addressing mosquito control activities; and 

WHEREAS, Oakland County’s West Nile Virus Fund Program authorizes Oakland County 
cities, villages and townships to apply for reimbursement of eligible expenses incurred in 
connection with personal mosquito protection measures/activity, mosquito habitat 
eradication, mosquito larviciding or focused adult mosquito insecticide spraying in 
designated community green areas; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Birmingham, Oakland County, Michigan has incurred expenses in 
connection with mosquito control activities believed to be eligible for reimbursement 
under Oakland County’s West Nile Virus Fund Program. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Birmingham City Commission authorizes 
and directs its Director of Public Services, as agent for the City of Birmingham, in the 
manner and to the extent provided under Oakland County Board of Commissioners, to 
request reimbursement of eligible mosquito control activity under Oakland County’s West 
Nile Virus Fund Program. 

DATED 

SIGNED 

CERTIFIED 

5G



MEMORANDUM 
Legal Department 

DATE: April 3, 2023  

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Mary M. Kucharek, City Attorney 
Nicholas Dupuis, Planning Director 
Scott Grewe, Chief of Police 

SUBJECT: Public Hearing - Whole Foods-2023 Liquor License Inspection 

INTRODUCTION: 

As a part of the Annual Liquor License Renewal process, the Planning Division and Police 
Department conducted inspections and provided enforcement histories for establishments that 
sell intoxicating liquor for consumption on the premises in the City pursuant to Chapter 10 of the 
Birmingham Code of Ordinances. 

BACKGROUND: 

On February 27, 2023 (Agenda), the City Commission reviewed all establishments 
currently holding a Class B, Class C, or Microbrewery Liquor License and moved to set a public 
hearing for the establishment listed below to consider whether the City Commission shall file 
objections with the Michigan Liquor Control Commission. City Staff has followed up with this 
establishment and has provided an update on the status of the complaint filed:  

Whole Foods – 2100 E. Maple: 

Issues – Planning & Police Violations: Unpermitted e-commerce staging area blocking 
windows, sold to minor during a liquor decoy operation in 2022. 

Resolution – For the e-commerce issue, representatives from Whole Foods have 
contacted the Planning Division and have indicated that they wish to relocate the e-commerce 
facility into what is currently the Maple Road Taproom. As a result, Whole Foods will have to 
surrender their Special Land Use Permit and would no longer be able to serve alcoholic liquors 
for on premise consumption. A copy of the proposed floor plan with the relocated e-commerce 
facility is attached for your review. 

6A



2 

For the sale to minor, on March 7, 2023, the City Clerk mailed letters to businesses found 
to be in non-compliance at the Commission meeting held on February 27, 2023. The letter that 
was sent to Whole Foods that sold alcohol to minors contained the following from the police 
department: 

“Due to the nature of the violation, the Police Department is requiring ownership 
or management of Whole Foods to provide the City with written proof identifying 
the date and time training was held with staff regarding the sale of alcohol. 
Training shall specifically cover prevention steps taken to ensure that illegal 
alcohol sales to minors are prevented. This written proof shall be sent before 
Wednesday, March 22, 2023, to the attention of Police Chief Scott Grewe, 151 
Martin, Birmingham MI 48009 or sgrewe@bhamgov.org.” 

A letter dated March 23, 2023 from a representative for Whole Foods states 
that the employee who sold to the minor did not follow policy and was 
terminated. 

On March 27, 2023, the applicant explained to the City Commission that Whole Foods will 
no longer be serving liquor on the premises, and rather is going to be placing its Class C License 
into escrow with the Michigan Liquor Control Commission.  Whole Foods intends to construct an 
e-commerce staging area in the area currently operating as a bistro.  Whole Foods has sent in its
plans and is currently awaiting a building permit.

As a result of the deconstruction of a bistro, Whole Foods is requesting that the 
Commission grant six months from the date the City approves building plans to construct the e-
commerce staging area in the area currently operating as a bistro.  Upon the commencement of 
the permit issuance, the Special Land Use Permit held by Whole Foods will be relinquished and 
terminated.    

While Whole Foods is requesting six months, staff is only requesting a maximum of 90 
days for termination of the SLUP.   

LEGAL REVIEW: 

The City Attorney has prepared this report and suggested action and resolution. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Due to the potential for Whole Foods to relinquish their Special Land Use Permit and the 
use of their Class C liquor license, the City will not receive any applications or fee revenue from 
the establishment for annual renewals or other liquor license activities. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 

As required by Chapter 10 of the Birmingham Code of Ordinances, the City Manager 

6A

mailto:sgrewe@bhamgov.org


3 

notified the owners and operators of licensed establishments for which a public hearing was set 
via first class certified mail to inform them of the public hearing date set for the March 27, 2023 
7:30 p.m. City Commission meeting, and inform them that they may submit any written material 
for consideration by the City Commission prior to or at the public hearing, that the licensee or 
counsel of licensee may appear at the hearing in person or via zoom, and that the licensee or 
counsel of licensee may present witnesses or written evidence for City Commission consideration 
at the public hearing. 

SUMMARY: 

The Planning Department and the City Attorney’s office request that the City Commission 
accept the termination and relinquishment of the Special Land Use Permit held by Whole Foods.  

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Whole Foods proposed new floor plan.

• March 7, 2023 letter to Whole Foods / Maple Room Taproom.

• March 23, 2023 letter to Nicholas Dupuis, Planning Director from Adkison, Need, Allen &
Rentrop regarding Whole Foods public hearing.

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 

Make a motion adopting a resolution to accept the termination and relinquishment of the Special 
Land Use Permit held by Whole Foods upon the onset of construction, or a violation of the Special 
Land Use Permit, or a maximum of 90 days from today, or whichever event occurs first.  

6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



1 

 
 

 
MEMORANDUM 
Planning Division 
 

 
DATE:  March 28th, 2023  
 
TO:  Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 
 
FROM: Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner 
 
APPROVED: Nicholas Dupuis, Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT: Public hearing for a lot combination of 34350 Woodward Avenue and 909-911 

Haynes Street, Fred Lavery Porsche, Parcel # 19-36-281-022 and Parcel # 19-36-
281-030. 

 (Request to Postpone) 
 
 
 
INTRODUCTION:  
The owner of 34350 Woodward Avenue and 909-911 Haynes Street is seeking approval for a lot 
combination of two parcels into one in order to accommodate a new 2-3 story building for the 
Fred Lavery Porsche Dealership.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
The subject properties are located on the northeast corner of the intersection at Haynes Street, 
Elm Street, and Woodward Avenue. The Fred Lavery Porshe Dealership is located at 34350 
Woodward Ave while a two story commercial building is located at 907-911 Haynes Street. The 
applicant is proposing to demolish the existing buildings, combine the lots, and construct a multi-
story auto sales agency capable of accomodating a larger fleet of vehicles on-site.  
 
Auto sales agencies and auto show rooms within the MU-5 and MU-7 Zone require a Special Land 
Use Permit (SLUP), which the applicant obtained November 8th, 2010 for the 34350 Woodward 
parcel only.  
 
In November of 2020 and January of 2021, the applicant appeared before City Commission to 
request a lot combination, however the applicant had yet to complete a formal review process 
with the Planning Board for expanding use under a SLUP. The applicant was directed to obtain 
site plan and SLUP review prior to completing the lot combination process. 
 
On December 1st, 2022, (Agenda – Minutes) the applicant appeared before the Multi-Modal 
Transportation Board (MMTB) to review recommendations of the Triangle District Plan’s concepts 

chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https:/cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/12.1.22%20MMTB%20Agenda%20Packet%20-%20FULL.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/12.01.2022%20Approved%20MMTB%20mins.pdf


2 

 
 

for the intersection of Elm Street, Haynes Street, and Woodward Avenue. 
 
On January 25th, 2023, (Agenda – Minutes) the Planning Board reviewed the application for the 
Final Site Plan and Special Land Use Permit (FSP & SLUP). The Planning Board moved to 
recommend approval of the FSP & SLUP with obtaining a lot combination as a condition of 
approval.  
 
The Combination of Land Parcels Ordinance (Chapter 102, Section 102-83) requires that the 
following standards be met for approval of a lot combination. 
 

(1) The Combination will result in lots or parcels of land consistent with the character of the area 
where the property is located, Chapter 126 of this Code for the zone district in which the 
property is located, and all applicable master land use plans. 
 
In regards to character of the area, the property is located within the City’s Triangle 
District. The area is surrounded by a variety of uses and buildings ranging from one story 
to five stories in height which are mostly surrounded by surface parking. 
 
In regards to zoning, 34350 Woodward is zoned MU-7 in the Triangle Overlay District 
while 907-911 Haynes Street is zoned MU-5. Both parcels are zoned B-2 in the underlying 
Zoning District. As previously mentioned, auto sales and auto showrooms are permitted 
with approval of a Special Land Use Permit in the MU-5 and MU-7 Zones. The subject 
property’s SLUP application in 2010 was for one parcel only at 34350 Woodward and 
expanding the auto sales and auto showroom use requires a SLUP amendment.  
 
The applicant has appeared before the Planning Board for Preliminary and Final Site Plan 
review with the new building proposal. The applicant has satisfied all Zoning Ordinance 
requirements and merited a recommendation of approval from the Planning Board to City 
Commission. 
 
In regards to applicable Master Plans, the Triangle District Plan recommends that Worth Street 
be realigned to connect Bowers Street to the proposed Worth Plaza to improve connectivity 
within the Triangle District. City staff has determined not to pursue the Worth Street extension 
due to complications, one of which being a lack of control over the property to the north 
necessary for completing the extension.   
 
The Triangle District Master Plan also recommends that the intersection of Elm Street at Haynes 
Street and Woodward Avenue be realigned to reduce speeds of vehicles exiting Woodward Ave 
onto Elm Street, reduce turning conflicts, and enhance pedestrian safety at the crosswalks. 
The applicant has appeared before the Multi-Modal Transportation Board and Planning Board 
for review of this intersection. There was general consensus from each board that option C2 
of the Triangle District Plan which includes a one way southbound Elm Street with an extended 
bumpout to prevent turning conflicts from Haynes Street. The implementation of option C2 
was recommended by staff as a conditon of approval for the applicant’s Final Site Plan and 
SLUP. 

 
Accordingly, the proposed lot combination appears to satisfy this requirement. 
 

(2) All residential lots formed as a result of a combination shall be a maximum width of no 
more than twice the average lot width of all lots in the same zone district within 300 feet 

chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https:/cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Agenda%20FULL%20-%201-25-23.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Minutes%20(APPROVED-PROTECTED)%20-%201-25-23.pdf


3 

 
 

on the same street.  
 
The proposed combination is commercial, not residential, therefore this 
requirement is not applicable. 
 

(3) All residential lots formed as a result of a combination shall be a maximum area of no more 
than twice the average lot area of all lots in the same zone district within 300 feet on the same 
street.  
 
The proposed combination is commercial, not residential, therefore this 
requirement is not applicable. 

 

(4) The combination will result in building envelopes on the combined parcels that will allow 
for the placement of buildings and structures in a manner consistent with the existing 
rhythm and pattern of development within 500 feet in all directions in the same zone 
district.  
 
The Triangle District has a variety of buildings types ranging in height and size, many of 
which are surrounded by large surface parking lots. Given the existing conditions of 
the lower Triangle District, the proposed lot combination and building envelope 
appear to meet this requirement. 

 

(5) Any due or unpaid taxes or special assessments upon the property have been paid in full. 
 
There are no outstanding taxes due on this property. The proposal meets this 
requirement. 
 

(6) The combination will not adversely affect the interest of the public or the abutting property 
owners. In making this determination, the City Commission shall consider, but not be 
limited to the following: 
 
a.) The location of proposed buildings or structures, the location and nature of vehicular 

ingress or egress so that the use or appropriate development of adjacent land or 
buildings will not be hindered, nor the value thereof impaired. 
 
Based on the attached survey the proposed lot combination and building 
envelope appear to meet this requirement. 
 

b.) The effect of the proposed combination upon any floodplain areas, wetlands and other 
natural features and the ability of the applicant to develop a buildable site on the 
resulting parcel without unreasonable disturbances of such natural features.  
 
The property is not located in a floodpain or wetlands, nor adjacent to a 
floodplain or wetlands. 
 

c.) The location, size, density and site layout of any proposed structures or buildings as 
they may impact an adequate supply of light and air to adjacent properties and the 
capacity of essential public facilities such as police and fire protection, drainage 
structures, municipal sanitary sewer and water, and refuse disposal. 
 



4 

The proposed lot combination does not appear to impact the supply of light 
and air to adjacent properties or the ability of the City to provide essential 
services. 

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed the request and has no objections as to the form and content. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
There are no fiscal impacts for this agenda item. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
As required for lot combinations, notices were sent out to all property owners and tenants within 
300 ft. of the property in advance of the April 3rd, 2023 public hearing at the City Commission. 

SUMMARY: 
The Planning Division requests that the City Commission consider postponing the public hearing 
to a date of April 24th, 2023 to consider the lot combination of 34350 Woodward Ave and 
909-911 Haynes Street - Fred Lavery Porsche - parcel # 19-36-281-022 and parcel # 
19-36-281-030 per the request of the applicant in order to have the SLUP hearing and lot 
combination hearing on the same date. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 Letter to the City
 Registered land surveys
 Proof of ownership

SUGGESTED ACTION: 
Make a motion to postpone the public hearing and consideration of the lot combination of 34350 
Woodward Ave and 909-911 Haynes Street, Fred Lavery Porsche, parcel # 19-36-281-022 and 
parcel # 19-36-281-030 to a date of April 24th, 2023 per the request of the applicant in order to 
have the SLUP hearing and lot combination on the same date. 





 

01347101.DOCX 

 
 March 3, 2023  

By Email and Hand Delivery              Richard D. Rattner 
                      rdr@wwrplaw.com 
 
City Commission 
City of Birmingham 
151 S. Martin Street 
Birmingham, MI 48009 
Attn: Nicholas Dupuis 
 
 Re: Combination of Platted Lots Application for Parcel Nos. 19-36-281-030 and19-36-
281-022, property known as 34350 Woodward Avenue and 909-911 Haynes Street, Birmingham, 
MI (“Application”) 
 
Dear Mr. Dupuis and Members of the City Commission: 
 

We submit this letter in support of the Application filed by Lavery Michigan Dealership 
No. I, LLC (“Applicant”) for a lot combination of the parcels commonly known as 34350 
Woodward Avenue and 909-911 Haynes Street, Birmingham, MI (the “Subject Property”).  
Please let this letter suffice as the required statement of reason for the requested lot combination, 
as required by the Combination of Platted Lots Application, paragraph 5. 
  

The Application was submitted as part of a series of applications filed with the Planning 
Department on behalf of Applicant and its proposed development project at the Subject Property. 
The purpose of the lot combination is to create a single parcel on the corner of Elm and Haynes 
Streets and Woodward Avenue, upon which Applicant plans to build a three (3) story retail 
automobile dealership, with a 130 space parking garage.  The Woodward parcel has operated as 
a Porsche automobile sales dealership for the past thirteen (13) years, and after Applicant’s 
acquisition of the Haynes parcel in 2014, it has operated as supporting office and parking space 
for the dealership at various times.  The Applicant desires to redesign and combine both parcels 
in order to make it a seamless part of the Porsche dealership. 
 
 On January 25, 2023, the City of Birmingham Planning Board conditionally approved 
Applicant’s application for a Special Land Use Permit (SLUP) and its site plan to develop this 
project.  One of the conditions to SLUP approval is that “the applicant obtain a lot combination 
to create a single parcel for 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street.”  See attached 
Exhibit 1, Meeting Minutes from January 25, 2023 Planning Board Meeting.  Applicant is now 
required to obtain approval from the City Commission for its SLUP and site plan, which it plans 
to do at the Commission’s March 13, 2023 meeting.  Senior City Planner Brooks Cowan 

mailto:rdr@wwrplaw.com


Letter to City Commission 
Combination of Platted Lots 
34350 Woodward/909-911 Haynes 
Page 2 

2 
01347101.DOCX 

informed Applicant that the City would like inlude the lot combination hearing with the SLUP 
hearing at this meeting. 
 

The following analysis of the relevant portions of the City of Birmingham Code of 
Ordinances provides further support for the Application.  
 
Ordinance Sec. 102-83 – Lot Combination Standards for approval 
 

(1) The combination will result in lots or parcels of land consistent with the character 
of the area where the property is located, Chapter 126 of this Code for the zone 
district in which the property is located, and all applicable master land use plans. 

 
 The Subject Property has operated as a Porsche auto sales dealership for the past thirteen 
(13) years, although the Subject Property currently consists of the sales building and a surface 
parking lot for automobile storage, as well as a two-story building that Applicant used as office 
space under a temporary SLUP amendment.   A T-Mobile Cell Phone Store is immediately to the 
northwest (across Elm) and a single-story office building is directly to the north.  South across 
Haynes is the Walgreens drug store, which sits on a large parcel.  The proposed development is 
consistent with the character of the area where the property is located because it will unify the 
existing two parcels and the incongruous buildings and surface parking thereon into one cohesive 
structure: a three (3) story retail automobile dealership with a 130-space parking garage.   
 

The Subject Property is in the Triangle District of Birmingham, and the proposed 
combination will result in a development that comports exactly with the vision of the 2007 
Triangle District Urban Design Plan (“2007 Plan”).  The 2007 Plan provides the following vision 
for development in the District: “The Triangle District is a stage for bold and distinctive 
architecture that creates a unique identity for the neighborhood and City. Building masses are the 
primary features, replacing the bleak” surface parking lots that currently dominate the landscape. 
(2007 Plan, p. 1).   
 

The relevant sections of the City of Birmingham Zoning Ordinance Sec. 126-3.05(C), 
include the following purpose of the Triangle District: “Minimize traffic congestion, inefficient 
surface parking lots,” which is exactly what this combination and development will do.  The 
proposed combination is consistent with the standards of development in the Triangle District, as 
evidenced by the conditional approval of the SLUP and site plan. 
 

The lot combination will create a single parcel which will allow Applicant to build a 
structure with more mass and a parking garage, achieving the two primary goals set forth in the 
2007 Triangle District Plan and the Zoning Ordinance.  It also will contribute to a continuous 

https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/birmingham-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=601
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/birmingham-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=563


Letter to City Commission 
Combination of Platted Lots 
34350 Woodward/909-911 Haynes 
Page 3 

3 
01347101.DOCX 

streetscape down this block of Haynes, ridding it of some of the break currently caused by 
surface parking.  
  

(2) All residential lots formed as a result of a combination shall be a maximum width 
of no more than twice the average lot width of all lots in the same zone district 
within 300 feet on the same street. 

 
 The Subject Property is a commercial lot and therefore this standard of approval is not 
applicable. 
  

(3) All residential lots formed as a result of a combination shall be a maximum area of 
no more than twice the average lot area of all lots in the same zone district within 
300 feet on the same street. 

 
 The Subject Property is a commercial lot and therefore this standard of approval is not 
applicable. 
 

(4) The combination will result in building envelopes on the combined parcels that will 
allow for the placement of buildings and structures in a manner consistent with the 
existing rhythm and pattern of development within 500 feet in all directions in the 
same zone district. 

 
 The Applicant desires to develop the Subject Property in a manner already addressed that 
will allow for a new three (3) story retail automobile dealership, with a 130-space parking 
garage, on the site of Applicant’s currently retail automobile dealership. This is consistent with 
development within 500 feet of the Subject Property.  The proposed development is not 
inconsistent with the existing rhythm and pattern of development within 500 feet in all directions 
(such as the large Walgreens building to the south) and is consistent with the 2007 Triangle 
District Plan, which seeks to promote the development of larger mass buildings with parking 
structures.  
  
 (5) Any due or unpaid taxes or special assessments upon the property have been paid in 
full. 
  

There are no unpaid taxes or special assessments related to the Subject Property. 
 
 
 

 



Letter to City Commission 
Combination of Platted Lots 
34350 Woodward/909-911 Haynes 
Page 4 

4 
01347101.DOCX 

 (6) The combination will not adversely affect the interest of the public or the abutting 
property owners. 
 
 The proposed lot combination combines two parcels that are used in the same manner as 
proposed by the new development.  The combination will have no negative impact on the public 
or the abutting property owners and will improve traffic flow and parking concerns in the 
surrounding area (see Ordinance Sec. 102-83(6)(a)).  The Subject Property is not located in a 
floodplain, wetland, or other area with protected natural features, nor will the proposed 
combination and development impact the public or abutting property owners’ supply of light, air, 
or access to essential public facilities (see Ordinance Sec. 102-83(6)(b-c)).   
 
Conclusion 
 
 This Application to combine the two lots to create one unified parcel on the Subject 
Property is a benefit to the health, safety, and welfare of our community and satisfies the spirit 
and intent of Ordinance Section 102-83(1) – (6).  We respectfully request the lot combination be 
recommended for approval to the City Commission.   
 

Very truly yours, 

WILLIAMS WILLIAMS RATTNER & PLUNKETT, PC 

Richard D. Rattner 

Richard D. Rattner 
 

 



































MEMORANDUM 
Planning Division 

DATE: March 28th, 2023

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner 

APPROVED: Nicholas Dupuis, Planning Director 

SUBJECT: Public Hearing for 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street – Fred Lavery 
Porsche Dealership – Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan & Design Review 
(Request to Postpone) 

INTRODUCTION: 
The applicant has submitted an application for a Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and 
Design Review for a three-story auto sales agency in the MU-5 and MU-7 zones of the Triangle 
District.   

BACKGROUND: 
The applicant orginally received a Special Land Use Permit in 2010 to operate a Porsche car 
dealership at 34350 Woodward Ave. The applicant is proposing to demolish the existing building 
as well as the adjacent site at 909-911 Haynes, combine the lots, and construct a multi-story auto 
sales agency capable of accomodating a larger fleet of vehicles on-site.  

On October 26th, 2022 (Agenda – Minutes), the applicant appeared before the Planning Board for 
a Community Impact Study and Preliminary Site Plan review.  An item of discussion was the new 
garage door and curb cut facing the pedestrian crosswalk on Elm Street. Staff recommended that 
the applicant coordinate with staff and relevant boards on considering a reconfiguration for Elm 
Street. Upon review the Planning Board moved to accept the CIS with the following conditions: 

1. The applicant resolve all issues related to the Transportation Impact Study as requested
by the City’s traffic consultants;

2. The applicant obtain site plan review and recommendation from the Multi-Modal
Transportation Board (MMTB) related to vehicular and pedestrian traffic safety features
for the intersection of Haynes Street, Elm Street, and Woodward Ave;

3. The applicant provide the Planning Department with copies of any existing due care plans,
plans developed in connection with the construction of the project, information about the
existence of any vapors during the process of construction, and plans for remediation of
any hazardous vapors identified; and

7B

chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https:/cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Agenda%20FULL%20(AMENDED)%20-%2010-26-22.pdf
chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https:/cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Minutes%20(APPROVED-PROTECTED)%20-%2010-26-22.pdf


2 

4. The applicant comply with all requests from City Departments.

The Planning Board also moved to recommend the Preliminary Site Plan with the following 
conditions: 

1. The applicant obtain site plan review and recommendation from the MMTB related to
vehicular and pedestrian traffic safety features for the intersection of Haynes Street, Elm
Street, and Woodward Ave;

2. The applicant provide sidewalks along Elm Street, Woodward Ave, and Haynes Street that
are a minimum of 12 feet wide;

3. The applicant comply with all department requests.

On December 1st, 2022, (Agenda – Minutes) the applicant appeared before the Multi-Modal 
Transportation Board (MMTB) to review recommendations of the Triangle District Plan’s concepts 
for the intersection of Elm Street, Haynes Street, and Woodward Avenue. The Multi-Modal 
Transportation Board moved to recommend option C2 which is reducing Elm Street to one-way 
southbound between Bowers Street and Haynes Street. The MMTB also mentioned that they did 
not want Elm Street realignment to interfere with the project’s timeline. 

On January 25th, 2023, (Agenda – Minutes) the Planning Board reviewed the application with 
discussion regarding the merits of keeping Elm Street two-ways and moving the crosswalk north 
(C1), versus changing Elm Street to one-way southbound with an enlarged bumpout to prevent 
vehicles exiting Woodward northbound onto Elm Street (C2). The Planning Board expressed a 
priority to enhance the safety of Elm Street with converting it to one-way southbound in option C2 
and moved to recommend approval to the City Commission the Special Land Use Permit, Final Site 
Plan and Design Review application for 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street – Fred 
Lavery Porsche - with the following conditions: 

1. The applicant must provide details regarding the species of landscaping proposed for the
entrance to ensure that no prohibited species are being used;

2. The applicant relocate the crosswalk on Elm to the north to avoid conflict with the service
entry to a location approved by Staff;

3. The Planning Board expresses a high priority on making the intersection of
Haynes, Woodward, and Elm safer through a reconfiguration similar to Option
C2 as expeditiously as possible by the City Commission;

4. The applicant provide updated site plans and surveys addressing concerns related to the
electrical pole in the sidewalk on the northwest corner of the property;

5. The applicant provide updated lighting information regarding the light fixture
specifications and the parking lot circulation area lumen values;

6. The Planning Board approve deviations to the architectural requirements of Section
3.09(D)(1), Section 3.09(B)(2), and Section 3.09(A)(4) to enable the applicant creativity
and flexibility in design for a metal exterior, a non-inset front door, and a garage door on
the front façade with the condition that the applicant provide a front elevation drawing of
the proposed building superimposed on a color drawing or photograph of the entire block
showing the relation of the proposed building design to other buildings along the block;

7. The applicant comply with all department requests; and,
8. That the applicant obtain a lot combination to create a single parcel for 34350 Woodward

Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street.

7B

chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https:/cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/12.1.22%20MMTB%20Agenda%20Packet%20-%20FULL.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/12.01.2022%20Approved%20MMTB%20mins.pdf
chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https:/cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Agenda%20FULL%20-%201-25-23.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Minutes%20(APPROVED-PROTECTED)%20-%201-25-23.pdf


3 

The applicant has coordinated with staff on providing all required documents and applications 
required by the Planning Board in their conditions of approval. The applicant has applied for a lot 
combination which is scheduled for April 3rd, 2023. City staff recommends that the City 
Commission consider requiring the applicant to be responsible for all costs related to 
the reconfiguration of Elm Street. 

LEGAL REVIEW: 
The City Attorney has reviewed this request and has no objections as to the form and content. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
The Triangle District Urban Design Plan recomends a reconfiguration of the intersection of 
Woodward Ave, Haynes Street, and Elm Street adjacent to the subject site. If the City 
Commission wishes to have the recommended improvements made to the subject 
intersection, the City Commisison may require that the applicant make such 
improvements at their own cost as a condition of their SLUP. If the applicant is not 
required to provide such changes, then the City of Birmingham would be responsible for any costs 
related to reconfigurations of Elm Street as recommended by the Triangle District Plan if the City 
wishes to pursue such enhancements.  

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
As required for a Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review, a legal ad was placed 
in a newspaper of local circulation to advertise the nature of the request in advance of the January 
25th, 2023 Planning Board meeting, and notices were sent out to all property owners and tenants 
within 300 ft. of the property. In addition, a second round of notices were sent out to advertise 
the public hearing at the City Commission on March 13th, 2023.  

SUMMARY: 
The Planning Division requests that the City Commission consider postponing the public hearing 
and consideration of the Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review application 
for 34350 Woodward Ave – Fred Lavery Porsche – to April 24th, 2023 per the request of the 
applicant to allow more time to review conditions of the SLUP contract. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
Please find attached the following documents for your review: 

 Special Land Use Permit Resolution
 Special Land Use Permit Contract
 Postponement Request Letter
 Final Site Plans
 Planning Board report

 Triangle District Urban Design Plan – relevant pages

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion to postpone the public hearing and consideration of the Special Land Use Permit, 
Final Site Plan and Design Review application for 34350 Woodward Ave – Fred Lavery Porsche – 
to April 24th, 2023 per the request of the applicant to allow more time to review conditions of the 
SLUP contract. 

7B



4 

Fred Lavery Porsche 
34350 Woodward Ave  & 909-911 Haynes Street 

Special Land Use Permit 2023 

WHEREAS, A Special Land Use Permit application was filed in November 2022 for 
approval of a new three-story auto sales agency in the the MU-7 and MU-5 zoning districts; 

WHEREAS, The land for which the Special Land Use Permit is sought is located on the 
east side of Woodward Ave at the northeast corner of Elm Street and Haynes Street; 

WHEREAS, The land is zoned MU-7 and MU-5, which permits the operation of an auto 
sales agency with a Special Land Use Permit; 

WHEREAS, Article 7, section 7.34 of Chapter 126, Zoning requires a Special Land Use 
Permit to be considered and acted upon by the Birmingham City Commission, after receiving 
recommendations on the site plan and design from the Planning Board for the proposed Special 
Land Use; 

WHEREAS, The Planning Board on January 25th, 2023 reviewed the application for a Special 
Land Use Permit ,  Final Site Plan and Design Review and recommended approval to the City 
Commission for the contstruction of a new three-story auto sales agency with the following 
conditions: 

1. The applicant must provide details regarding the species of landscaping proposed for the
entrance to ensure that no prohibited species are being used;

2. The applicant relocate the crosswalk on Elm to the north to avoid conflict with the service
entry to a location approved by Staff;

3. The Planning Board expresses a high priority on making the intersection of Haynes,
Woodward, and Elm safer through a reconfiguration similar to Option C2 as expeditiously
as possible by the City Commission;

4. The applicant provide updated site plans and surveys addressing concerns related to the
electrical pole in the sidewalk on the northwest corner of the property;

5. The applicant provide updated lighting information regarding the light fixture
specifications and the parking lot circulation area lumen values;

6. The Planning Board approve deviations to the architectural requirements of of Section
3.09(D)(1), Section 3.09(B)(2), and Section 3.09(A)(4) to enable the applicant creativity
and flexibility in design for a metal exterior, a non-inset front door, and a garage door on
the front façade with the condition that the applicant provide a front elevation drawing of
the proposed building superimposed on a color drawing or photograph of the entire block
showing the relation of the proposed building design to other buildings along the block;

7. The applicant comply with all department requests; and,
8. That the applicant obtain a lot combination to create a single parcel for 34350 Woodward

Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street.

WHEREAS, The Birmingham City Commission has reviewed Fred Lavery Porsche’s Special
Land Use Permit application and the standards for such review as set forth in Article 7, section 
7.36 of Chapter 126, Zoning, of the City Code; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, The Birmingham City Commission finds the 

7B



 
 
 
 
 

5 
 

standards imposed under the City Code have been met, subject to the conditions below, and that 
Fred Lavery Porsche’s application for a Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review 
at 34350 Woodward Ave is hereby approved; 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the City Commission determines that to ensure 
continued compliance with Code standards and to protect public health, safety, and welfare, this 
Special Land Use Permit is granted subject to the following conditions: 

 
a) Fred Lavery Porsche shall abide by all provisions of the Birmingham City 

Code including any subsequently amended or enacted ordinances; and 
b) Fred Lavery Porsche shall comply with the conditions of approval assigned by 

the Planning Board and City Commission; and 
c) The Special Land Use Permit may be canceled by the City Commission 

upon finding that the continued use is not in the public interest; and 
d) In order for the development of the new Fred Lavery Porsche to occur, 

there will need to be a reconfiguration of Elm Street at the intersection of 
Elm Street, Haynes Street and Woodward Avenue; and 

e) After a traffic study of the area including the intersection of Elm Street, 
Haynes Street and Woodward Avenue, the reconfiguration of Elm Street 
shall be developed and designed by Fred Lavery Porsche with approval of 
all elements of the reconfiguration including, but not limited to design, 
materials, etc., by the City Engineer;  

f) Fred Lavery Porsche shall be responsible for all costs related to the 
reconfiguration of Elm Street including, but not limited to designs, traffic 
studies, materials, labor any and all other necessary costs to the satisfaction 
of the City Engineer;  

g) Fred Lavery Porsche shall enter into a streetscape agreement with the City 
Planner and City Engineer that will address all elements including, but not 
limited to moving the DTE electric pole on the northwest corner of the 
property, the electric vehicle charging stations, and the Elm Street 
reconfiguration; and 

h) The applicant shall comply with the conditions of approval assigned by the 
Planning Board and City Commission. 

 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That failure to comply with any of the above conditions shall 

result in termination of the Special Land Use Permit. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, Except as herein specifically provided, Fred Lavery Porsche 
and its heirs, successors, and assigns shall be bound by all ordinances of the City of 
Birmingham in effect at the time of the issuance of this permit, and as they may be subsequently 
amended. Failure of Fred Lavery Porsche to comply with all the ordinances of the City may 
result in the Commission revoking this Special Land Use Permit. 

 

BE FURTHER RESOLVED that Fred Lavery Porsche is recommended for the 
construction of a three-story auto sales agency, subject to final inspection. 
 
 
 

7B



 
 
 
 
 

6 
 

 
 
 
I, Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk of the City of Birmingham, Michigan, do hereby certify that 
the foregoing is a true and correct copy of the resolution adopted by the Birmingham City 
Commission at its regular meeting held on April 24th, 2023. 
 

 
 

 

Alexandria Bingham 
City Clerk  

 

7B



CONTRACT FOR A SPECIAL LAND USE PERMIT  
FOR 34350 WOODWARD AVE & 909-911 HAYNES STREET 

 – FRED LAVERY PORSCHE  
 

This Contract is entered i n t o  this  __day of  ___, 2023 by and between 

LAVERY MICHIGAN DEALERSHIP PROPERTIES NO. 1 LLC (Fred Lavery Porsche), whose 
address is 440 Lake Park, Birmingham, MI 48009 (Licensee), LAVERY MICHIGAN 
DEALERSHIP PROPERTIES NO. 1 LLC, whose address is 440 Lake Park, Birmingham, MI 
48009 (Property Owner), and the CITY OF BIRMINGHAM, a Michigan Municipal Corporation, 
whose address is 151 Martin Street, Birmingham, Michigan 48009 (City). 

R E C I T A L S: 
 

WHEREAS, a Special Land Use Permit Application was filed on November 15th, 2022 for 
approval of a new three story auto sales agency; and, 

WHEREAS, the land for which the Special Land Use Permit Agreement is sought is located 
on the northeast corner of the interesection of Haynes Street, Woodward Ave, and Elm Street; 
and, 

WHEREAS, the land is zoned MU-7 and MU-5 in the Triangle District Overlay which 
permits the operation of an auto sales agency with a Special Land Use Permit; and, 
 

WHEREAS, Article 7, section 7.34 of Chapter 126, Zoning requires a Special Land Use 
Permit to be considered and acted upon by the Birmingham City Commission, after receiving 
recommendations on the site plan and design from the Planning Board for the proposed Special 
Land Use; 

WHEREAS, the City of Birmingham Commission is approving this agreement in granting 
a contract to Lavery Michigan Dealership Properties No. 1 LLC (Fred Lavery Porsche) for the 
issuance of a Special Land Use Permit for an auto sales agency in accordance with Chapter 126, 
Article 2, Section 2.27(C)(2)(c). 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows: 

1. Licensee acknowledges that no modifications to the site plan, floor plan, elevations 
or operation of the auto sales agency may be made unless approved by the City Commission 
through a Special Land Use Permit Amendment. Modifications include, but are not limited to, 
name changes, ownership changes, remodeling, etc.  

2. Licensee agrees that it shall adhere to all Federal, State and Local ordinances 
currently in effect or as subsequently amended or enacted. 

3. Licensee agrees that its failure to follow any of the provisions herein may be grounds 
for the Birmingham City Commission to revoke the Special Land Use Permit which would prohibit 
Licensee from operating the auto sales agency.  Licensee agrees that in addition to the City of 
Birmingham’s right to seek revocation of the Special Land Use Permit, the City retains any and all 
rights to enforce this Contract that may be available to it in law or in equity.  Licensee agrees 

7B



2 

 

that it shall reimburse the City all of its costs and actual attorney fees incurred by the City in 
seeking the revocation of the Special Land Use Permit, as well as enforcing such other rights as 
may be available at law and/or in equity. 

4. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Licensee and Property Owner and any entity 
or person for whom Licensee and the Property Owner is legally liable, agrees to be responsible 
for any liability, defend, pay on behalf of, indemnify, and hold harmless the City, its elected and 
appointed officials, employees and volunteers and others working on behalf of the City against 
any and all claims, demands, suits, or loss, including all costs connected therewith, including all 
costs and actual attorney fees, and for any damages which may be asserted, claimed or recovered 
against or from the City, its elected and appointed officials, employees, volunteers or others 
working on behalf of the City, by reason of personal injury, including bodily injury, death and/or 
property damage, including loss of use thereof, which arises out of or is in any way connected or 
associated with Licensee’s operation of an establishment at the Property. 

 
5. In the event Licensee fails to reimburse the City the costs and/or attorney fees as 

required herein, or any part thereof, then said amount could be transferred to the tax roll in 
accordance with Section 1-14 of the Birmingham City Code. 

 
6. Any disputes arising under this Contract shall be settled either by commencement 

of a suit in Oakland County Circuit Court or by compulsory arbitration, at the election of the City. 
The Licensee and Property Owner shall notify the City of any dispute it has arising out of this 
Contract and shall demand that the City elect whether the dispute is to be resolved by submitting 
it to compulsory arbitration or by commencement of a suit in Oakland County Circuit Court. The 
City shall make its election in writing within thirty (30) days from the receipt of such notice. If the 
City elects to have the dispute resolved by compulsory  arbitration, it shall be settled pursuant to 
Chapter 50 of the Revised Judicature Act for the State of Michigan, with each of the parties 
appointing one arbitrator and the two thus appointed appointing a third. In the event the City 
fails to make such an election, any dispute between the parties may be resolved by the filing of 
a suit in the Oakland County Circuit Court. 

 
7. This Contract shall be governed by and performed, interpreted and enforced in 

accordance with the laws of the State of Michigan. 

8.      If any provision of this contract is declared invalid, illegal or unenforceable, such 
provision shall be severed from this contract and all other provisions shall remain in full force and 
effect. 

9.      The City Commission determines that to ensure continued compliance with Code 
standards and to protect public health, safety, and welfare, this Special Land Use Permit is granted 
subject to the following conditions: 

 
a) Fred Lavery Porsche shall abide by all provisions of the Birmingham City 

Code including any subsequently amended or enacted ordinances; and 
b) Fred Lavery Porsche shall comply with the conditions of approval assigned by 

the Planning Board and City Commission; and 
c) The Special Land Use Permit may be canceled by the City Commission 

upon finding that the continued use is not in the public interest; and 

7B



3 

 

d) In order for the development of the new Fred Lavery Porsche to occur, 
there will need to be a reconfiguration of Elm Street at the intersection of 
Elm Street, Haynes Street and Woodward Avenue; and 

e) After a traffic study of the area including the intersection of Elm Street, 
Haynes Street and Woodward Avenue, the reconfiguration of Elm Street 
shall be developed and designed by Fred Lavery Porsche with approval of 
all elements of the reconfiguration including, but not limited to design, 
materials, etc., by the City Engineer;  

f) Fred Lavery Porsche shall be responsible for all costs related to the 
reconfiguration of Elm Street including, but not limited to designs, traffic 
studies, materials, labor any and all other necessary costs to the satisfaction 
of the City Engineer;  

g) Fred Lavery Porsche shall enter into a streetscape agreement with the City 
Planner and City Engineer that will address all elements including, but not 
limited to moving the DTE electric pole on the northwest corner of the 
property, the electric vehicle charging stations, and the Elm Street 
reconfiguration; and 

h) The applicant shall comply with the conditions of approval assigned by the 
Planning Board and City Commission. 

10. Failure to comply with any of the above conditions shall result in termination of the 
Special Land Use Permit. 

11. Except as herein specifically provided, Fred Lavery Porsche and its heirs, successors, 
and assigns shall be bound by all ordinances of the City of Birmingham in effect at the time of 
the issuance of this permit, and as they may be subsequently amended. Failure of Fred Lavery 
Porsche to comply with all the ordinances of the City may result in the Commission revoking this 
Special Land Use Permit. 

12. Fred Lavery Porsche is recommended for the operation of an auto sales agency, 
subject to final inspection. 

 

13. This Contract shall be binding upon and apply and inure to the benefit of the parties 
hereto and their respective successors or assigns. The covenants, conditions, and the agreements 
herein contained are hereby declared binding on the CITY OF BIRMINGHAM, the Property Owner 
and Licensee. It is further agreed that there shall be no change, modification, or alteration 
hereof, except in writing, signed by all of the parties hereto. Neither party shall assign any of the 
rights under this contract without prior approval, in writing, of the other. Any attempt at 
assignment without prior written consent shall be void and of no effect. 

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereby have executed this Contract as of the date 

set forth above. 

 

LAVERY MICHIGAN DEALERSHIP 
PROPERTIES NO. 1 LLC (Licensee) 

 

7B



4 

 

By:    ______ 

Its:    ______ 
LAVERY MICHIGAN DEALERSHIP 
PROPERTIES NO. 1 LLC 
(Property Owner) 

 

By:    ______ 
Its:    ______ 

 
STATE OF MICHIGAN    ) 
  ) ss: 
COUNTY OF OAKLAND ) 
 

On this ______day of ____________, 2023, before me personally appeared 
_______________, who acknowledged that with authority on behalf of  LAVERY MICHIGAN 
DEALERSHIP PROPERTIES NO. 1 LLC, Licensee and Property Owner  to do so he/she signed 
this Agreement.  

 
        

     Notary Public 
   ____County, Michigan 
 Acting in __________ County, Michigan 
 My commission expires: ________ 
 
 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 
 
 
By:      _____ 

   Therese Longe, Mayor 
 

 
By:     _____ 

   Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk 
 

  

APPROVED:  

 

      
Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 
 (Approved as to substance) 
 

       
Nicholas Dupuis, Planning Director 
(Approved as to substance) 
 

  
     
Mary M. Kucharek, City Attorney 
 (Approved as to form) 

 
 

7B



7B



03/04/2023 -- 03:58 PM -- Scale 1 : 192

7B



10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review

7B



7B

User
Text Box
C1.10

User
Polygon

User
Oval

User
Typewritten Text
500' Radius

User
Line



7B



SIDEWALKSIDEWALK
CONNECTION
TOTO CROSSWALK

7B



2 - 12' X 40
LOADING SPACES

LoLoadingo
1

Loading

LoLoadingo
2

Loading

Motorized
Gate

7 Spacesaces

7

6

4

3

2

1

4
SHOWROOMSHOWROOM

09.15.2022

USE GROUP - "B"

USE GROUP - "S"

VERTICAL CIRCULATION

17 SERVICE SPACES
12 HAYNES STREET PUBLIC SPACES
7 SHOWROOM INVENTORY SPACES

29 VEHICLE TOTAL CAPACITY AT GRADE

Luckenbach
Ziegelman
Gardner
Archtects
PLLC

PARKING & LOADING

SERVICECI PARKINGRR
(100 spaces)ec

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Charging
Stations

g gCharging

(1 per 2 stalls
typical)
((1 pp

PARTS

SERVICE

STORAGE

TOOL STORAGE

SERVICE DRIVE

12'

0'440

0'440

12 PUBLIC STREET PARALLEL PARKING SPACES
(SEE SHEET A/LA 100.1)

77 SHOWROOM
INVENTORY
VEHICALSVEHICALSSVEHICALS

LEGENDLEGENDLEGENDLSITE PLAN
w/Dealership
Level 1

12' MIN
CLEAR
REQ'D (

ASHHAAAAAWAWAAAAAAAA HAAWAWAWWAA YYSYYBBBAYYB
2(2(22222222 ss)sseacspaspssspspspssssssssssssps a esse (9 s(( s

2\/22 /1\
))))

10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review
/2\ 3.13.2023 SLUP Review

C

7B



/1\

10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review
/2\/2\/2\ SLUPSLUPSLUP ReviewReview

TO BE REMOVED OR RELOCATED

NOTE:
SEE SHEET C2.10 FOR
ELM STREET PARKING
AND CROSSWALK
CONFIGURATION

/2\

/2\

EXISTINGEXISTINGEXISTINGEXISTINGEXISTINGEXISTINGEXISTINGEXISTING CROSSWALKCROSSWALKCROSSWALKCROSSWALKCROSSWALKCROSSWALKCROSSWALKCROSSWALKCROSSWALKCROSSWALKCROSSWALK
TOTOTO BEBE RELOCATEDRELOCATEDRELOCATEDRELOCATED
(SEE(SEE(SEE SHEETSHEET C2.10)C2.10)C2.10)C2.10)C2.10)

/2\/2\/2\

7B



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

EXISTING CONDITIONS

PROPOSED MATERIALS

PROPOSED
CROSSWALK
LOCATION

EXISTING
CROSSWALK
LOCATION 99

"81'-0"81'-0"

10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review

22 BAYS

/2\ 3.13.2023 SLUP Review

NOTE:
SEE SHEET C2.10
FOR ELM STREET
CONFIGURATION

/2\

EXIST'GEXIST'G POWERPOWERPOWERPOWERPOWER
POLEPOLE TO BE REMOVEDREMOVEDREMOVEDREMOVEDREMOVEDREMOVED
OROROR RELOCATEDRELOCATEDRELOCATEDRELOCATEDRELOCATEDRELOCATED

/2\

7B



LEVEL 1
17 SERVICE PARKING
7 SHOWROOM INVENTORY

24 VEHICLE TOTAL CAPACITY @ L1

SERVICE PARKING

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 99 10

Motorized Gate

PARTS
RECLAIM TRANSFORMER

DUMPSTER
ENCLOSURE

2 LOADING
SPACES

12' X 40'
EACH

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

AREA BELOW LEVEL 2 PARKING STRUCTURE

09.15.2022

USE GROUP - "B"

USE GROUP - "S"

VERTICAL CIRCULATION

LEGENDPLANPLANPLANPLAN
LEVEL 1

SERVICE PARKING

7 SHOWROOMSHOWROOM
INVENTORYINVENTORY
VEHICLESVEHICLES

SHOWROOMSHOWROOM

SERVICE RIGHT UP

SERVICEE C

PARTSPARTSPARTSPARTSPARTSPARTS STORAGESTORAGESTORAGESTORAGESTORAGESTORAGESTORAGESTORAGE //
PARTSPARTSPARTSPARTSPARTSPARTS STORAGESTORAGESTORAGESTORAGESTORAGESTORAGESTORAGESTORAGE MEZMEZMEZMEZMEZ

SERVICE
STORAGE TOOL ROOM

STORAGE

(OPENOPEN TOO SERVICESERVICE AREAAREA BELOW)BEL W)

SERVICE WRITE UP

PARTS STORAGE &
PARTS MEZZANINE ABOVE

91 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

CAR WAAAASHA 22(222 BAYS)

10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary

Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023

Final Site Plan Review

/1\

LEVEL 1
16 SERVICE PARKING

7 SHOWROOM INVENTORY

23 TOTAL VEHICLE CAPACITY

/1\

/2\/2\/2\ 3.13.20233.13.20233.13.2023 SLUPSLUPSLUP ReviewReviewReview

7B



LEVEL 2
51 INVENTORY, DEMO, LOANER SPACES
11 INVENTORY (STACKED)
TOTAL VEHICLE CAPACITY = 62

OPENOOPENOPEN TO SHOWROOMSHOWROOM BELOW

09.15.2022

OFFICE / STORAGE

ELEV

USE GROUP - "B"

USE GROUP - "S"

VERTICAL CIRCULATION

L2 OFFICE AREA

10 INVENTORYEE PARKINGGG

11 NEWWW CAR INVENTORYRYR PARKING
(STACKED)KK

1 2 3 4 55 666 7 8 9 10
DEMOMO & INVENTORY PARKINGP

DEMO / LOANER PARKING PARKING

3 DEMO / LOANER

12 USED CAR INVENTORYNE

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 1110

9

L2 PARKING STRUCTURE

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

12

1 22 32

11 22 3

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 1010 1110

LEGENDPLAN
LEVEL 2

10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review
/2\ 3.13.2023 SLUP ReviewReview

7B



Luckenbach
Ziegelman
Gardner
gZiegelman

Architects
PLLC

3

OFFICE/OFFICE/
SSTORAGESTORAGE

LEVEL 3

ELEV

SKYLIGHT

ROOFTOP MECHANICAL AREA
ON ROOF OF LEVEL 2

6' HIGH MIN MECHANICAL SCREEN
BLACK CORRUGATED METAL PANEL
TO MATCH BUILDING FACADE

LEVEL 3
13 EMPLOYEE PARKING SPACES
35 INVENTORY + LOANER SPACES
11 STACKED INVENTORY SPACES
4 HANDICAP PARKING SPACES
1 VAN ACCESSIBLE HDCP PARKING SPACE

USE GROUP - "B"

USE GROUP - "S"

VERTICAL CIRCULATION

09.15.2022

ROOFTOP PARKING

1 VAN HDCP
PARKING SPACE

13'X20'
MIN

EMPLOYEEEM PARKINGKI

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

9'x20" = 180 SF
SPACE TYPICAL

8'8'8'8'8' 5' 8'

11 2

4 HDCP GPARKINGGARKINNAPARKINGNP SPACES

SERVICE LOANER PARKING

12 13

NEWWE CAR INVENTORYTT
(STACKEDTAT PARKINGNN L)

SERVICE LOANER PARKING

NEW CAR INVENTORYIN

24'

12

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 1010 11

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

3 4 1919 18 17 16 15 14 13 12 114 19

1 2 32

11 2 32

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 99 10

NEWWW CAR INVENTORYOT

LEGENDPLAN
LEVEL 3

10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review

/2\ 3.13.2023 SLUP Review

7B



Luckenbach
Ziegelman
Gardner
gZiegelman

Architects
PLLC

09.15.2022

ROOFTOP PARKING
SEE A204

VEHICULAR RAMPDOWN

ROOFTOP PARKING

LEVEL 2 ROOF

ROOFTOP
MECHANICAL
ON LEVEL 2
ROOF

LEVEL 3

LEVEL 2
ROOF

SKYLIGHT

10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review
/2\/2\/2\ 3.13.20233.13.20233.13.2023 SLUPSLUPSLUP ReviewReviewReviewReview

7B



Luckenbach
Ziegelman
Gardner
gZiegelman

Architects
PLLC

3 BENCHES + 3 TRASH BINS

BICYCLE RACK LOCATION

Haynes Street Elevation
BEGA EXTERIOR
LIGHTING FIXTURE
ABOVE DOORS TYPICAL

AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS 1

AS-1AS 1AS 1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS 1

AS-1

AS-1AS 1AS 1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS 1AS 1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS 1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS 1 AS-1AAS-1AAAAAAS-1AAAAAAAAS-11111111AS-11111111

PYLON GROUND SIGNSIGN
(RE-USE EXISTING)

NEW GINKGO TREES
(NON-FRUIT BEARING-
TO
((NON-FRUIT

MATCH
(NON-FRUIT

EXISTING)
TYPICAL AS-1

PUBLIC CHARGING KIOSK #2PUBLIC CHARGING KIOSK #1

09.15.2022

Elm Street Elevation

1AS-1111111111111111111111111111AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 111AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS 1AAAS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AAS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AAS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AAS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1 1AS-11AS-11AS-11AS-11AS-11AS-11AS-1S 11111AS-11AS-11111AS-11AS-11111AS-11AS-11111AS-11AS-11111AS-11AS-1AS-1AS-111AS-11AS-1AS-1AS-111AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1----

BLACK ANODIZED ALUMINUM
& GLASS OVERHEAD DOOR

SAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1SSSAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1S-AS-1AS-1AS-1SSSSSSSS

A

AS-1ASASASASASASASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1SSSAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1ASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1ASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1ASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1ASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1ASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1ASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1ASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1ASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1 AS-1111111111111111111111AAAAAAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAAAAS-1AAAA

AS-1- AS-1

PYLON GROUND SIGN
PYLON BUILDING SIGNAGE

PYLON BUILDINGBUILDING SIGNAGE

1111AS-1111111111AS-1111111111AS-111111111111AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1SSAS 1AS-1AS 1AS 1AAAAAAS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AAS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AAS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AAS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1

AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1ASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAS-1AAS-1AAAAAAAS-1AS-1AAAA

RED LED LIGHTING AT ALL HORIZONTAL REVEALS TYPICAL

RED LED LIGHTINGLIGHTINGLIGHTING AT ALL HORIZONTALHORIZONTALHORIZONTAL REVEALSREVEALSREVEALS

Fredd LaveryyLaveryFFredFredFredFredFredLaveryLLaveryLaveryLaveryaLaveryaLaveryveryLaveryLaveryLaveryLaLavery

(3' W x 8' H x 1' D)

Fred Lavery
STANDOFF

Lavery
SIGN

SIMILAR TO
EXISTING

(12'L X 2' H)

Porche Shield Service Sign
Similar to Existing
(48" H x 30"W)

Existing
ServiceeServiceeServiceeServiceSServiceSSServiceServiceeServiceeServiceSSServiceSSS

SERVICE WRITE UP
ENTRY/EXIT

PARKING GARAGE ENTRY

SHOWROOM ENTRY NEW CAR DELIVERY EXIT

SHOWROOM
ENTRY LOCATION

ServiceS iServiceServiceServiceServiceeServiceServiceServiceSSSSServiceSSS eServiceSServiceS

EXISTING STREET LIGHTS TO REMAIN

CW-2
CLEARCLEAR GLASSGLASS
INININ ALUMALUMALUMU FRAMEFRAMEFRAME
(80%( MIN LT)VLL

W/ CLEAR GLASS - MIN VLT = 80%

*CLEAR GLASS
VLT = MIN 80%

W/ CLEAR GLASS - VLT = MIN 80%

EXISTING STREETLIGHTS IN
EXISTING LOCATIONS TO REMAIN

NEW STREET TREES IN EXISTING WELLS
(GINKGO - non fruit bearing variety)
TO
((GINKGO

MATCH
(GINKGO

EXISTING
bearing

PP
PARKING

VV
O

AS-111111111AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-11111111AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAAAAAAS-1AAAAAAAAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1ASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1ASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAS-1AAAAAS-1AS-1AAS-1

EXISTING STREET TREES (GINKGO) TO REMAIN

EXISTING STREET
LIGHT TO BE
RELOCATED (RE-USE

EXISTING)
((RE-USE

ViewViewView FromFFFFrF Street
or walkeSidee

Blacck Loouverouver BarBar
Rail andd PostsP t

Blacck Metale (steel)
Corrrugatedted PanelPanel

((

Louver RailRR
SectionS tiSection DetaililailDD

PartialP ti l ationElevaEleva Perspective

BBLACKKB METALMMETAALLLLLL LOULLOOLOUVERLOUVERLLOOUVVERRLOULLOO
GGUARDUAARRDDG RAILRA L ANDAND POSTSPOSTPOSTSSTSSTSPOSSTSST

BLACK METAL LOUVER
GUARD RAIL AND POSTS

09.15.20221.25.202315.20215.202

333

1/2" x 3"3 Steel Bar
@@ 4" O.C.O Typical

/2\ 3.13.2023 SLUP Review

Final Site Plan ReviewReviewReview

10.26.2022 CIS/
PreliminaryPreliminaryPreliminary SiteSite PlanPlan ReviewReview

09.15.2022

7B



Luckenbach
Ziegelman
Gardner
gZiegelman

Architects
PLLC

Elm Street

AS-1AS 1AS 1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS 1

DUMPSTERDUMPSTER
ENCLOSLURE
(MASONRY)

PARTSPARTS RECYCLERECYCLE
ENCLOSURE
(MASONRY)
9'
((MASONRY)

HEIGHT
(MASONRY)

6' MIN
HEIGHT

P
R
O
P
E
R
T
Y

L
I
N
E

P
R
O
P
E
R
T
Y

L
I
N
E

DUMPSTER ENCLOSURE
6' MINIMUM HEIGHT

(MASONRY)

PARTS ENCLOSURE.
6' MINIMUM HEIGHT.
(MASONRY)= CHARGING KIOSK

CK CK CK CK CK

PPP
R
O
P
E
R
T
Y

L
I
N
E

09.15.2022

Haynes Street

10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review

BLACK METAL BAR LOUVER
GUARD RAIL AND POSTS
(SEESEESEE #3#3#3 - PartialPartialPartial ElevationElevationElevation Perspective)PerspectivePerspective
SHHEETH
((

A400

BLACK METAL BAR LOUVER
GUARD RAILLL ANDANDAND POSTSPOSTSPOSTS
(SEE #3 - Partialr Elevation Perspective)
SHEET
((

A4000

AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1

/2\ 3.13.2023 SLUP Review

7B



Haynes Street Block

Elm Street Block

03.13.202303.13.2023

SLUP REVIEW

A402A402A402

7B



09/16/2022 -- 05:45 PM -- Scale 1 : 192

10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review
/2\ 3.13.2023 SLUP Review7B



LEVEL 33
StorageStorage

ROOF

ROOF

Mechannicaln Roof Plan M01
10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review

/2\ 3.13.2023 SLUP Review

7B



L01L01

L01.1L

L01.1L01.1L01.1

L01.22

10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review

/2\ 3.13.2023
SLUP Review

1414

14

1414

/2\

7B



1L01.

10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review

/2\ 3.13.2023
SLLUP REVIEW

7B



ÐØÑÌÑÓÛÌÎ×ÝÍ ó Ô×ÙØÌ×ÒÙ ÔÛÊÛÔÍðòïîðòïîðòïî

ðïòîðïòî

c

CALCULATION SUMMARY

LABEL FIXTURE UNITS AVE MAX MIN

Garage Area Floor 14W Fc 2.50 15.4 0.0

Sidewalk Planar 14W Fc 1.09 11.6 0.0K3
Fred Lavery Porsche

BEGA

L0.12L0.12L0.12L0.12 - LIGHTING LEVELS

7B



 
MEMORANDUM 
Planning Division 
 

 
DATE:  January 20th, 2023  
 
TO:  Planning Board 
 
FROM: Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner 
 
Approved:  Nick Dupuis, Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT:  34350 Woodward & 909-911 Haynes Street - Fred Lavery Porsche – SLUP 

Amendment and Final Site Plan and Design Review 
 
 
The applicant is proposing to demolish both buildings at 34350 Woodward Ave and 909-911 
Haynes Street and construct a three story auto sales agency spanning across both properties. 
Both parcels are zoned B-2, General Business. 34350 Woodward is zoned MU-7 in the Triangle 
Overlay District while 909-911 Haynes Street is zoned MU-5. Auto sales agencies require a Special 
Land Use Permit (SLUP) to operate in the B2 District as well as the MU-5 and MU-7 Districts. The 
applicant orginally received a Special Land Use Permit in 2010 to operate a Porsche car dealership 
at 34350 Woodward Ave. Upon approval, the applicant will also be required to apply for a lot 
combination with the City Commission. The lot combination hearing with City Commission shall 
be held after the SLUP hearing. 

In 2016, the applicant received a temporary SLUP amendment to use the building next door at 
909-911 Haynes as an office for the Porsche sales and management team for one year while 
renovations were made to the Porsche dealership at 34350 Woodward Ave. Conditions of approval 
were that the applicant could not have cars for sale parked on 909-911 Haynes Street. 

In January 2020, the applicant appeared before the Planning Board for Final Site Plan review and 
SLUP amendment to demolish the building at 909-911 Haynes Street and expand the Porsche 
dealership’s parking lot. After discussions regarding how the Triangle District Overlay requires 
expanding uses to bring the entire site into conformity, and that the Triangle District Urban Design 
Plan’s Worth Street Extension is recommended to pass through the subject property, the owner 
withdrew their application.  

In January, March, and April of 2021, the applicant appeared before City Commission to apply for 
a lot combination. It was determined that expanding the use through a lot combination meant 
that the site would not satisfy the requirements of the Zoning Ordinance, and therefore would 
not satisfy the requirements for a lot combination. It was recommended that the applicant appear 

7B

https://bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_government/boards___commissions/planning_board.php


before the Planning Board and obtain Final Site Plan and SLUP approval before obtaining a lot 
combination. City staff recommends that the Planning Board review the City 
Commission Memos from January 25th, 2021, March 22nd, 2021, and April 26th, 2021 
regarding the lot combination of the subject site and recommendations of the 
Triangle District Urban Design Plan. 

On October 26th, 2022, the applicant appeared before the Planning Board for a Community Impact 
Study and Preliminary Site Plan Review. Upon review the Planning Board moved to accept the 
CIS with the following conditions: 

1. The applicant resolve all issues related to the Transportation Impact Study as requested 
by the City’s traffic consultants; 

2. The applicant obtain site plan review and recommendation from the Multi-Modal 
Transportation Board (MMTB) related to vehicular and pedestrian traffic safety features 
for the intersection of Haynes Street, Elm Street, and Woodward Ave;  

3. The applicant provide the Planning Department with copies of any existing due care plans, 
plans developed in connection with the construction of the project, information about the 
existence of any vapors during the process of construction, and plans for remediation of 
any hazardous vapors identified; and, 

4. The applicant comply with all requests from City Departments. 
 

The Planning Board also moved to recommend the Preliminary Site Plan with the following 
conditions: 

1. The applicant obtain site plan review and recommendation from the MMTB related to 
vehicular and pedestrian traffic safety features for the intersection of Haynes Street, Elm 
Street, and Woodward Ave;  

2. The applicant provide sidewalks along Elm Street, Woodward Ave, and Haynes Street that 
are a minimum of 12 feet wide; 

3. The applicant comply with all department requests. 
 

On December 1st, 2022, the applicant appeared before the Multi-Modal Transportation Board to 
review recommendations of the Triangle District Plan’s concepts for the intersection of Elm Street, 
Haynes Street, and Woodward Avenue. The Multi-Modal Transportation Board moved to 
recommend option C2 which is reducing Elm Street to one-way southbound between Bowers 
Street and Haynes Street. (Minutes are attached).  

The applicant has addressed some of the recommendations of staff regarding Elm Street, while 
also providing a concept of their preferred Elm Street alignment with the updated Final Site Plan 
and SLUP review.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7B

https://www.bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_government/boards___commissions/city_commission/index.php
https://bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_government/boards___commissions/planning_board.php
https://bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_government/boards___commissions/multi-modal_transportation_board.php


1.0 Land Use & Zoning 
 
1.1 Existing Land Use – The existing land use is commercial with two buildings, one 

an auto sales agency and the other a two story office-retail use 
 

1.2 Zoning – The subject site exists within the B2 (General Business), MU-5 (Mixed-
Use 5), and MU-7 (Mixed-Use 7) Zoning Districts. 

 
1.3 Summary of Adjacent Land Use & Zoning – The following chart summarizes 

existing land use and zoning classifications of the adjacent and/or nearby 
properties: 

 
 North South East West 

Existing 
Land Use 

Commercial/ 
Office 

Commercial/ 
Office 

Commercial/ 
Office Commercial 

Existing 
Zoning 
District 

B2 (General 
Business) 

B2 (General 
Business) 

B2 (General 
Business) & 
O2 (Office-

Commercial) 

B2 (General 
Business) 

Overlay 
Zoning 
District 

MU-3 & MU-5 MU3 & MU-5 N/A MU-5 & MU-7 

 
2.0 Setback, Bulk, & Height Requirements 

 
The attached zoning compliance summary analysis provides the required and proposed 
bulk, area, and placement regulations for the proposed project. The applicant appears to 
satisfy the bulk, area and placement requirements of the Triangle District with particular 
clarifications noted below. 

  
Article 3, Sections 3.08(C) & 3.08(D) of the Triangle District Overlay requires building 
facades in the MU-5 and MU-7 Districts to be built within 0-5 feet of the front lot line for 
a minimum of 75% of the street frontage length which the applicant appears to satisfy. 
Furthermore, Article 3.08(F) allows frontyard building setback exceptions when additional 
sidewalk and landscaping enhancements have been provided which is the case for the 
proposed showroom entrance at the corner of Elm, Woodward Ave, and Haynes. 

 
It is also of note that the Triangle District Overlay does not regulate the size of the third 
floor. Article 3, Sections 3.08(C) & 3.08(D) for the MU-5 and MU-7 Districts only require 
three floors as a minimum. The third floor is proposed to be 1,660 square feet. Obtaining 
a lot combination will bring both parcels into conformity. 

 
3.0 Screening & Landscaping 

 
3.1 Dumpster Screening – The dumpster is proposed to be located in the northeast 

corner of the property. The eastern elevation indicates the dumster will consist of 
masonry and with a 6’ minimum height, which is also concealed by the Haynes 
Street Façade. 

7B



 
3.2 Parking Lot Screening – Article 4, Section 4.54 (C) of the Zoning Ordinance requires 

screening to be placed along the front or side of any parking facility that abuts a 
street, alley, passage or mixed passage. The site plan indicates 7 ground level 
parking spaces accessible from Haynes Street. The ground level parking spaces 
are screened by the building’s two-story metal façade along Haynes Street as 
indicated in the eastern elevation design.  

 
The applicant has provided black metal louvers for the upper level parking facility 
in order prevent large blank walls from facing Haynes Street. The black metal 
louvers also provide adequate screening for the upper level parking. 

 
3.3 Mechanical Equipment Screening – The site plan indicates rooftop and ground-

mounted mechanical units that will require screening. The level 3 floor plan 
indicates five mechanical rooftop units screened by a black corrugated metal panel 
screen wall that is 5 feet in height and will match the building façade. The proposed 
rooftop mechanical units are 39 inches in height and therefore are completely 
concealed by the screenwall. The ground level transformer on the northeast corner 
of the building is screened by the building’s façade along Haynes Street. 
 

3.4 Landscaping – The applicant is proposing additional landscaping at the entrance 
of the building on the corner of Haynes, Woodward, and Elm. Article 4, Section 
4.20(E) of the Zoning Ordinance does not require the applicant to provide 
landscaping on-site due to its location in a commercial zoning district. The 
applicant must provide details regarding the species of landscaping 
proposed for the entrance to ensure that no prohibited species are being 
used.  

 
Streetscape Elements – The applicant has provided a number of street trees, street 
lights, and streetscape furnishings. In terms of street trees, Article 4, Section 4.20 
(G) requires at least 1 street tree for each 40 linear feet of frontage along a street. 
The site plan indicates a total of 11 street trees which satisfies the ordinance 
requirements. A breakdown of the required and proposed street trees is provided 
below: 

 
Street Linear Frontage (ft.) Required Provided 
Haynes 313’ 8 8 
Elm 89’ 2 3 
Woodward 25’ N/A 0 
Total   11 

 
 
The site plan indicates a total of 13 street lights which appear to be adequately 
spaces approximately 40 feet apart. All streetlights proposed are expected to meet 
the streetscape standards for the Triangle District. 
 
In regards to streetscape furnishings, the applicant has proposed 3 benches, 3 
trash receptacles, and 5 bike racks along Haynes Street. All benches, bike racks, 

7B



and trash receptacles are expected to meet the streetscape standards of the 
Triangle District.  
 
To support an all electric fleet, the applicant is also providing two electric car 
charging kiosks for the public along Haynes Street on the eastern portion of the 
property. 
 
Section 3, Article 3.12(B) requires sidewalks in the Triangle Overlay District to be 
a minimum of 12 feet wide. The sidewalk surrounding the building appears to be 
12 feet along Haynes and Elm Street.  
 
The northwest corner of the property has a congested sidewalk space transitioning 
from the subject site to the northern property on Elm Street. There is an electrical 
pole in the middle of the sidewalk and a city streetlight directly south of it which 
impedes pedestrian passage.  
 
 

4.0 Parking, Loading & Circulation 
 
4.1 Parking – Article 4, Section 4.46 of the Zoning Ordinance requires the applicant to 

provide the following off-street parking for the uses proposed in the site plans 
submitted: 
 
Proposed Use Requirements  Area or Units Spaces 
Sales Room 1 per 300 SF 6,800 SF 23 
Office 1 per 300 SF 8,460 SF 4 
Service Stalls 1 per Stall 12 Stalls 12 
Other (Storage) 1 per 550 SF 4,269 SF 8 
    
Total Required - - 47 
Total Proposed - - 155  

 
Article 4, Section 4.46(A) Table A Parking Standards of the Zoning Ordinance 
requires motor vehicle sales and service establishments to provide 1 space for 
each 300 square feet of floor area of sales room plus 1 space per each auto service 
stall, not to be used for new or used car storage. 
 
The first floor sales room is 6,800 square feet, while the cumulative office space 
on floors one, two, and three is 8,460 square feet. There are 12 service stalls and 
4,269 squaure feet of storage which is classified as “other” for parking. The 
applicant is required to provide 47 parking spaces on-site for the proposed uses. 
 
The applicant is providing a total of 155 parking spaces that consist of 7 ground 
level surface parking spaces, 10 interior building service parking spaces on the first 
floor, 62 parking spaces on the second level parking facility, 64 parking spaces on 
the third floor, and 12 public on-street parking spaces. City staff did not count 
showroom spaces as open and accessible. The applicant satisfies the parking 
requirements.  

7B



 
Article 3, Section 3.08(G)(1)(b) of the Zoning Ordinance permits no more than 60 
feet of parking lot frontage for corner lots. Given that all parking spaces are within 
the buildng façade, the applicant appears to satisfy this requirement.  
 
Article 3, Section 3.08(G)(4) of the Zoning Ordinance enables the Planning Board 
to allow a multi-level parking facility above the first floor to occupy the frontage 
provided that the façade of the parking structure is integrally designed with the 
architecture of the overall building, utilizes the same building materials, and has 
wall openings that provide proportions and rhythm that are compatible with 
building upper story fenestration. The applicant has proposed a series of black 
metal louvers for the upper level parking facility that appears to be integrally 
designed with the architecture of the overall building. 
 

4.2 Loading – Based on the habitable commercial space within the proposed 
development, the applicant is required to provide two off-street loading space with 
the following minimum dimensions: 40 feet long, 12 feet wide and 14 feet high. 
Article 4, Section 4.24(C)(4) requires that loading spaces be screened. The loading 
spaces are located within the interior elevations of the building and are screened 
by the front façade and garage door. 
  

4.3 Vehicle Circulation & Access – The site plans indicate that the main vehicular 
access to the site will be from Hanyes Street on the east side of the property. The 
access drive is 24 feet wide and is regulated by a black anondized aluminum and 
glass overhead door. Vehicles may enter at the ground level parking lot and take 
the ramp to the second or third floor parking structure facility. The curb cut along 
Haynes Street also provides access to the ground level service shop.  
 
Article 3, Section 3.09(A)(4) of the Zoning Ordinance does not allow garage doors 
on the front façade, however Architectural exemptions are availabe through the 
provisions of Article 3, Section 3.11 of the Zoning Ordinance. The Planning Board 
may wish to discuss the presense of an overhead door regulating access to on-site 
parking.  
 
In regards to on-site vehicular circulation, the site plans indicate that employee 
parking will be on a portion of the the third level parking facility. A large portion 
of the second and third level parking facility will be used for vehicle inventory.  

 
A second curb cut for vehicular ingress and egress is proposed on the northwest 
corner of the building facing Elm Street. The proposed curb cut will provide access 
to the interior of the building for the service shop. Access to the service area is 
also regulated by a black annodized and glass overhead door. A  concern of City 
staff is that the proposed curb cut for vehicular ingress an egress is facing a 
pedestrian crosswalk connecting across Elm Street and Woodard Ave.  
 
As discussed during the CIS & Preliminary Site Plan Review, the Triangle District 
Plan calls out the intersection of Elm Street, Bowers Street, and Woodward Ave as 

7B



an area unsafe for pedestrians and vehicle, and therefore recommends three 
different option for restructuring Elm Street. 
 
On December 1st, 2022, the Multi-Modal Transporation Board (MMTB) reviewed 
the Triangle District Plan’s recommendations for Elm Street in relation the 
applicant’s proposed project. Upon discussion of the project and the three different 
options for Elm Street, the MMTB recommended option C2 which includes a bump 
out that cuts off Haynes Street from Elm Street and reduces Elm Street to one-
way southbound. Option C2 also eliminates the right-turn action from northbound 
Woodward Ave onto Elm Street. The MMTB provided some commentary on the 
timeline of the project, however as an advisory board, that is not within their 
purview. 
 
The applicant has provided two different concepts for updating the vehicular and 
pedetrian access to the intersection of Haynes Street, Elm Street, and Woodward 
Ave. One concept is option C2 from the Triangle District Plan as recommended by 
the MMTB.  The other concept incorporates recommendations of option C1 of the 
Triangle District Plan where Elm Street remains a two-way street. The extended 
bumpout of option C1 would require northbound cars on Woodward Ave to slow 
down to complete the right turn onto northbound Elm Street.  
 
It is also of note that City staff discussed the proposal of enhancing the intersection 
of Haynes Street, Elm Street, and Woodward Ave with MDOT. The representatives 
were in support of enhancing the intersection and indicated pulling a permit for 
review should only take 4-6 weeks. 

 
The Planning Division requests that the Planning Board recommend a 
preference for the Triangle District Plan’s recommendations for Elm 
Street in relation to the proposed project and provide direction for the 
applicant regarding options C1 or C2 with Elm Street being a one way or 
two way street. 

 
4.4 Pedestrian Circulation & Access – The main pedestrian access to the building is at 

the corner of Elm Street, Woodward Ave, and Haynes Street which leads into the 
Porsche showroom. There are four additional pedestrian entrances to the site 
facing Haynes Street, and one facing Elm Street. 

 
The updated site plan maintains a 12 foot sidewalk surrounding the entire frontage 
of the property. A concern of City staff is that there is an electrical pole in the 
sidewalk to the right of the proposed garage facing Elm Street. The Engineering 
Department comments from Preliminary Site Plan included requiring the applicant 
to move the electrical pole in the middle of the sidewalk. This concern has not 
been addressed in the updated site plans. Therefore the applicant must 
provide updated site plans and surveys addressing concerns related to 
the electrical pole in the sidewalk on the northwest corner of the 
property.   
 

7B

https://bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_government/boards___commissions/multi-modal_transportation_board.php


As previously mentioned, a concern of City staff is that there is a pedestrian 
crosswalk in the Elm Street location where the applicant is proposing a curb cut 
for a garage to the service area. Options C1 & C2 of the Triangle District Plan 
attempt to address issues of the vehicular speeds and pedestrian crossings at this 
intersection. The Planning Division recommends that the Planning Board discuss 
their preference of options for Elm Street in order to enhance the pedestrian safety 
of crossing Elm Street near Woodward Ave.  

 
5.0 Lighting 

 
The applicant is proposing twelve exterior light fixtures. Eight lights are proposed to face 
the street frontage of Elm and Haynes Street, two exterior lights will face the eastern 
parking lot, and one exterior light is proposed in the exterior. The exterior light fixtures 
pictured on the elevations labeled AS-1 appear to be cut-off fixtures and are labeled as 
Bega exterior lighting fixtruers, however the plans do not appear to provide a detailed 
specification sheet regarding the type of light fixture. Information such as the watts and 
lumens have been provided though. The applicant must provide staff specifications 
of the exterior lights to verify they are cut off fixtures. 
 
The applicant has also provided a detailed photometric plan of the site. The lumens do 
not exceed 1.5 foot candles at any property line. City staff request that the applicant 
update the photometric plan to provide a table showing the range of lumen 
values for the parking circulation area on the east side of the building to verify 
the lighting requirements for parking lot circulation areas have been met. 
 

6.0 Departmental Reports 
 
1. Engineering Division – Comments from the Engineering Division will be 

provided by the Planning Board meeting of January 25th, 2023. 
 

2. Department of Public Services – Comments from DPS will be provided by the 
Planning Board meeting of January 25th, 2023. 
 

3. Fire Department – Please see the attached Fire Department comments. 
 

4. Police Department – The Police Department have no concerns and think either 
option for Elm Street is better than what currently exists. 
 

5. Building Division – Please see the attached Building Department comments. 
 

6. Parking Manager – The Parking Manager has no concerns at this time. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

7B



7.0 Design Review 
 
The proposed building has frontage along Elm Street and Haynes Street where the first 
floor façade predominantly consists of glazing. The showroom entrance has a metallic 
design above that appears to be modeled after the Porsche 911 rear window louvres. The 
curved architectural reveals will be illuminated by red lighting. The Western elevation has 
a large “PORSCHE” sign in red with sillver metal composite spanning most of the façade 
above the first floor glazing.  
 
The southern elevation has a long stretch of glazing for the first floor parts and storage 
rooms facing Haynes Street. Levels two and three consist of ribbed metal with metal 
louvers where the multi-level parking facility is. As previously mentioned, Article 3, Section 
3.08(G)(4) of the Zoning Ordinance enables the Planning Board to allow a multi-level 
parking facility above the first floor to occupy the frontage provided that the façade of the 
parking structure is integrally designed with the architecture of the overall building, utilizes 
the same building materials, and has wall openings that provide proportions and rhythm 
that are compatible with with building upper story fenestration.  
 
A portion of the first floor on the eastern elevation is exposed where the parking and 
charging kiosks are located. Behind the parking spaces are glass overhead doors for 
service station entry and access to the upper level parking facility. Levels two and three 
are exposed parking facility space with metal louvers and guard rail posts. 
 
The northern elevation consists of architectural ribbed metal metal louvers and guard rail 
posts for the multi-level parking facility. There are no windows facing north along the 0’ 
lot line. 
 
In regards to ground floor glazing, the first floor of the Haynes Street elevation has a 
glazing percentage of 86.7% and the first floor of of Elm street has a glazing percentage 
of 87.2%. Both street facing elevations satisfy the glazing requirement of 70% minimum 
between 1-8 feet from ground level. The applicant must provide staff with glass 
specification sheets to verify that the glazing meets the requirements of 66% visual light 
transmittance and reflectivity of 15% or less.  
 
In regards to Article 3, Section 3.09 Commercial/Mixed Use Architectural Requirements of 
the Triangle District Overlay, there are a few issues with the proposed design. Article 3, 
Section 3.09(D)(1) requires that all walls exposed to public view or parking area shall be 
constructed of not less than 60% brick, stone, or glass. The proposed building does not 
satisfy the building material requirements of the Triangle District Overlay given that the 
exterior is predominantly metal. 
 
Article 3, Section 3.09(B)(2) requires the front entranceway to be inset 3 feet from the 
front building wall. The curving front entranceway of the Porsche dealership does not 
appear to satisfy this requirement though. 
 
It is also of note that the applicant is proposing two overhead doors on their front façade, 
one facing Elm Street and another facing Haynes Street. The garage doors consist of black 

7B



anondized aluminum and glass. However, Article 3, Section 3.09(A)(4) states that garage 
doors shall not be permitted on a front façade. 
 
Article 3, Section 3.11 of the Triangle District Overlay requirements enables the Planning 
Board to approve deviations to the architectural requirements of Section 3.09 in order to 
allow for creativity and flexibility in design with the following standards: 
 

The Planning Board may approve deviations to the architectural requirements of 
Section 3.09 and Section 3.10 in order to allow for creativity and flexibility in design. 
A front elevation drawing of the proposed building shall be provided superimposed 
on a color drawing or photograph of the entire block showing the relation of the 
proposed building design to other buildings along the block, which shall be utilized 
to evaluate the proposed building design based upon all of the following criteria: 

A. Demonstrates innovation in architectural design, provided the building design 
shall be in keeping with the desired character of the Triangle Overlay District, 
as articulated in the Triangle District Urban Design Plan. 

B. The building is oriented towards the front sidewalk with a functioning entrance 
and enhances the continuity of the pedestrian oriented environment. A 
modification shall not result in an increased dominance of vehicular parking or 
garage doors along the front of the building. 

C. The roof design shall not be out of character with other buildings along the 
block and shall be within the minimum and maximum height requirements of 
the district. 

D. The exterior finish materials shall be of equal or better quality and durability 
as those permitted herein, with the intent to allow for new technologies in 
building material while maintaining the desired character of the Triangle 
Overlay District. 

E. Ground floor windows shall be provided along the front sidewalk to maintain 
the pedestrian orientation of the streetscape and upper story windows shall 
not be incompatible with the rhythm and proportions of windows on other 
buildings along the block. 

 
The Planning Division recomends that the Planning Board approve deviations 
to the architectural requirements of of Section 3.09(D)(1), Section 3.09(B)(2), 
and Section 3.09(A)(4) to enable the applicant creativity and flexibility in 
design for a metal exterior, a non-inset front door, and a garage door on the 
front façade with the condition that the applicant provide a front elevation 
drawing of the proposed building superimposed on a color drawing or 
photograph of the entire block showing the relation of the proposed building 
design to other buildings along the block. 

 
 Signage  

The Elm Street elevation has a red Porsche backlit sign 102 SF in dimension. The curved 
entryway at the corner of Elm and Haynes Street has two pylon ground signs that are 
both 24 SF in dimension. The Haynes Street elevation has a sign reading “Fred Lavery” 
24 SF in dimension. The total signage square footage is 174 SF, which is less than the 
nearly 500 feet of total street frontage of the property.  

7B

https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/birmingham-mi/doc-viewer.aspx#secid-391
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/birmingham-mi/doc-viewer.aspx#secid-392
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/birmingham-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=475
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/birmingham-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=646
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/birmingham-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=601
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/birmingham-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=630
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/birmingham-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=475


8.0 Required Attachments 
 
 Submitted Not Submitted Not Required 
Existing Conditions Plan ☒ ☐ ☐ 
Detailed and Scaled Site Plan ☒ ☐ ☐ 
Certified Land Survey ☒ ☐ ☐ 
Interior Floor Plans ☒ ☐ ☐ 
Landscape Plan ☒ ☐ ☐ 
Photometric Plan ☒ ☐ ☐ 
Colored Elevations ☒ ☐ ☐ 
Material Specification Sheets ☒ ☐ ☐ 
Material Samples ☐ ☒ ☐ 
Site & Aerial Photographs ☒ ☐ ☐ 

 
9.0 Approval Criteria 

 
In accordance with Article 7, section 7.27 of the Zoning Ordinance, the proposed plans 
for development must meet the following conditions: 

 
(1) The location, size and height of the building, walls and fences shall be such that 

there is adequate landscaped open space so as to provide light, air and access 
to the persons occupying the structure. 

(2) The location, size and height of the building, walls and fences shall be such that 
there will be no interference with adequate light, air and access to adjacent lands 
and buildings. 

(3) The location, size and height of the building, walls and fences shall be such that 
they will not hinder the reasonable development of adjoining property nor 
diminish the value thereof. 

(4) The site plan, and its relation to streets, driveways and sidewalks, shall be such 
as to not interfere with or be hazardous to vehicular and pedestrian traffic. 

(5) The proposed development will be compatible with other uses and buildings in 
the neighborhood and will not be contrary to the spirit and purpose of this 
chapter. 

(6) The location, shape and size of required landscaped open space is such as to 
provide adequate open space for the benefit of the inhabitants of the building 
and the surrounding neighborhood. 

 
In addition, Article 7, Section 7.36 requires applications for a Special Land Use Permit 
to meet the following criteria: 
 

(1) The use is consistent with and will promote the intent and purpose of this 
Zoning Ordinance. 

7B



(2) The use will be compatible with adjacent uses of land, the natural environment, 
and the capabilities of public services and facilities affected by the land use. 

(3) The use is consistent with the public health, safety and welfare of the city. 
(4) The use is in compliance with all other requirements of this Zoning Ordinance. 
(5) The use will not be injurious to the surrounding neighborhood. 
(6) The use is in compliance with state and federal statutes. 

 
10.0 Recommendation 

 
Based on a review of the site plans submitted, the requirements outlined in Article 7, 
Section 7.27 of the Zoning Ordinance, and the SLUP requirements of Article 7, Section 
7.36,  the Planning Division recommends that the Planning Board recommend APPROVAL 
of the SLUP and Final Site Plan for 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street with 
the following conditions: 
 

1. The applicant must provide details regarding the species of landscaping 
proposed for the entrance to ensure that no prohibited species are being used;  

2. The applicant provide option (C1 or C2) as indicated in the submitted proposals 
of the Triangle District Plan’s recommendations for Elm Street to be included 
in the site plan and proposed survey before the public hearing with City 
Commission; 

3. the applicant provide updated site plans and surveys addressing concerns 
related to the electrical pole in the sidewalk on the northwest corner of the 
property; 

4. The applicant provide updating lighting information regarding the light fixture 
specifications and the parking lot circulation area lumen values; 

5. The Planning Board approve deviations to the architectural requirements of of 
Section 3.09(D)(1), Section 3.09(B)(2), and Section 3.09(A)(4) to enable the 
applicant creativity and flexibility in design for a metal exterior, a non-inset 
front door, and a garage door on the front façade with the condition that the 
applicant provide a front elevation drawing of the proposed building 
superimposed on a color drawing or photograph of the entire block showing 
the relation of the proposed building design to other buildings along the block; 
and 

6. The applicant comply with all department requests. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7B



 
11.0 Sample Motion Language 
 

Motion to recommend APPROVAL to the City Commission of the Special Land Use Permit 
for 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street with the following conditions: 
 

1. The applicant must provide details regarding the species of landscaping 
proposed for the entrance to ensure that no prohibited species are being used;  

2. The applicant provide option (C1 or C2) as indicated in the submitted proposals 
of the Triangle District Plan’s recommendations for Elm Street to be included 
in the site plan and proposed survey before the public hearing with City 
Commission; 

3. the applicant provide updated site plans and surveys addressing concerns 
related to the electrical pole in the sidewalk on the northwest corner of the 
property; 

4. The applicant provide updating lighting information regarding the light fixture 
specifications and the parking lot circulation area lumen values; 

5. The Planning Board approve deviations to the architectural requirements of of 
Section 3.09(D)(1), Section 3.09(B)(2), and Section 3.09(A)(4) to enable the 
applicant creativity and flexibility in design for a metal exterior, a non-inset 
front door, and a garage door on the front façade with the condition that the 
applicant provide a front elevation drawing of the proposed building 
superimposed on a color drawing or photograph of the entire block showing 
the relation of the proposed building design to other buildings along the block; 
and 

6. The applicant comply with all department requests. 
 

OR 
 

Motion to POSTPONE the Special Land Use Permit for 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 
Haynes Street pending receipt of the following: 
 

1. ___________________________________________________________ 
2. ___________________________________________________________ 
3. ___________________________________________________________ 

 
OR 

 
Motion to recommend DENIAL to the City Commission of the Special Land Use Permit for 
34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes for the following reasons: 
 

1. ___________________________________________________________ 
2. ___________________________________________________________ 
3. ___________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 

7B



 
Motion to recommend APPROVAL to the City Commission of the Final Site Plan and 
Design Review for 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street with the following 
conditions: 
 

7. The applicant must provide details regarding the species of landscaping 
proposed for the entrance to ensure that no prohibited species are being used;  

8. The applicant provide option (C1 or C2) as indicated in the submitted proposals 
of the Triangle District Plan’s recommendations for Elm Street to be included 
in the site plan and proposed survey before the public hearing with City 
Commission; 

9. the applicant provide updated site plans and surveys addressing concerns 
related to the electrical pole in the sidewalk on the northwest corner of the 
property; 

10. The applicant provide updating lighting information regarding the light fixture 
specifications and the parking lot circulation area lumen values; 

11. The Planning Board approve deviations to the architectural requirements of of 
Section 3.09(D)(1), Section 3.09(B)(2), and Section 3.09(A)(4) to enable the 
applicant creativity and flexibility in design for a metal exterior, a non-inset 
front door, and a garage door on the front façade with the condition that the 
applicant provide a front elevation drawing of the proposed building 
superimposed on a color drawing or photograph of the entire block showing 
the relation of the proposed building design to other buildings along the block; 
and 

12. The applicant comply with all department requests. 
 

OR 
 

Motion to POSTPONE the Final Site Plan and Design Review for 34350 Woodward Ave & 
909-911 Haynes Street pending receipt of the following: 
 

4. ___________________________________________________________ 
5. ___________________________________________________________ 
6. ___________________________________________________________ 

 
OR 

 
Motion to recommend DENIAL to the City Commission of the Final Site Plan and Design 
Review for 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes for the following reasons: 
 

4. ___________________________________________________________ 
5. ___________________________________________________________ 
6. ___________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 

7B



Page 1 of 3 
 

Zoning Compliance Summary | 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street | 01/21/2022 
 

Zoning Compliance Summary Sheet 
 SLUP and Final Site Plan Review 

34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes 
 
 
Existing Site: 1 story auto sales agency & 2 story commercial building 

Zoning: B2 (General Business) & MU-5/MU-7 (Triangle District Overlay) 
Land Use: Retail/Office/ Auto Sales Agency 

 
Existing Land Use and Zoning of Adjacent Properties: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Land Area:   Existing: 42,875 SF 
Proposed: 42,875 SF  

Dwelling Units: Existing: 0 units 
Proposed: 0 units 

 
Minimum Lot Area/Unit: Required: N/A 

Proposed: N/A 

Min. Floor Area /Unit: Required: N/A 

Proposed: N/A 

 
Max. Total Floor Area: 

 
Required: 

 
N/A 

Proposed: N/A 

Min. Open Space: Required: N/A 
Proposed: N/A  

Max. Lot Coverage: Required: N/A 

 North South East West 
Existing 
Land Use 

Commercial/ 
Office 

Commercial/ 
Retail 

Commercial/ 
Office Commercial 

Existing 
Zoning 
District 

B2 (General 
Business) 

B2 (General 
Business) 

B2 (General 
Business) & 
O2 (Office-

Commercial) 

B2 (General 
Business) 

Overlay 
Zoning 
District 

MU3 MU-7 & MU-5 MU-5 MU3 

7B



Page 2 of 3 
 

Zoning Compliance Summary | 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street | 01/21/2022 
 

Proposed: N/A  

Front Setback: Required: 0-5 ft. for a minimum of 75% of the street frontage 
length 

Proposed: Within 0-5 feet of the front lot line for greater than 75% 
of the street frontage length. 
 

Side Setbacks Required: 0 ft. with walls facing side lot line w/ no windows 
10 ft. for walls with windows 

Proposed: 0 ft. 

Rear Setback: Required: N/A 
Proposed: N/A 

 
Max. Bldg. Height: Permitted: 66 ft., 5 stories (MU-5) 

90 ft., 7 stories (MU-7) 
Proposed: 45 ft., 3 stories  

Min. Bldg. Height: Permitted: 34 ft., 3 stories (MU-5) 
34 ft., 3 stories (MU-7) 

 Proposed: 45 ft., 3 stories  
 

Floor-Floor Height: Required: 14 ft. minimum (1st story) 
Proposed: 14 ft 

Front Entry: Required: On frontage line 
Proposed: On frontage line  

Absence of Bldg. Façade: Required: N/A 
Proposed: N/A  

Opening Width: Required: N/A 
Proposed: N/A 

 
Parking: Required: 35 off-street spaces  

Proposed: 47 off-street spaces available to workers and patrons 
160 total on-site: accessible + inventory 
 

Min. Parking Space Size: Required: 180 sq. ft. 
Proposed: 180 sq. ft. 

Parking in Frontage: Required: N/A 
Proposed: N/A  

Loading Area: Required: 2 off-street loading space 
40 ft. x 12 ft. x 14 ft. 

7B



Page 3 of 3 
 

Zoning Compliance Summary | 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street | 01/21/2022 
 

Proposed: 2 off-street loading space 
40 ft. x 12 ft. x 14 ft. 

Screening:   
  

Parking: Required: 6 ft. masonry screen wall 
Proposed: Screened by building facade 

Loading: Required: Screened from view 
Proposed: Interior loading area screened by building 

Rooftop Mechanical: Required: Screened from view 
Proposed: 5 ft. screen wall  

Elect. Transformer: Required: Obscured from public view 
Proposed: Screened by building facade 

Dumpster: Required: Masonry screen wall with wood gates 
Proposed: Screened by building façade and masonry screen wall 

 

7B



City of Birmingham fire Department

572 South AdAmS • BirminghAm, michigAn 48009 • 248.530.1900  FAx 248.530.1950

ALAN  G. SOAVE
  Fire mArShAl

mAtthew J. BArtAlino

ASSiStAnt chieF / oPerAtionS

PAul A. wellS

Fire chieF

January 19th, 2023

RE: Final Site Plan Review Comments 
34350 Woodward, Fred Lavery

• Follow International Fire Code 2015 for submitted plans.

• Sec. 54-32. - Emergency Power Shutdown Device
All commercial and residential structures/buildings constructed or having major renovations 
performed after the implementation of this ordinance shall provide a KNOX-VAULT 4500 Series 
Power Shutdown device, and installed as approved by the Fire Marshal, located on the exterior of the 
building. All required power shut down devices shall be installed and maintained at the building 
owner's expense. All required power shut down devices shall be installed by a qualified, licensed 
electrician.

• Knox Pad Locks required on construction fencing access gates

• Follow Chapter 33 of IFC  2015 edition "Fire Safety During Construction and Demolition"

• A Knox Box will be required

• Sprinkler System and Alarm Plans-Submit plans to AHJ for review and approval .

• CO Gas detection system and ventilation for parking garages as needed.

• FDC – facing the street within 100 feet of a Fire Hydrant.

• Construction phase of the project install a standpipe system with access to all floors

• Bi-Directional amplifier may be required.  First responder radio signal strength will be assessed 
toward the end of the construction phase.

• All life safety requirements listed in International Fire Code and NFPA documents and standards 
shall be followed and enforced.  

7B



CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 
Community Development – Building Department 

151 Martin Street, Birmingham, MI 48009 
 
 
 

Final Site Plan Review Comments Page 1 
 

January 19, 2023 
 
 
RE:  Final Site Plan Review Comments 

34350 Woodward, Fred Lavery                      
 

As requested, the Building Department has examined the plans for the proposed project 
referenced above. The plans were provided to the Planning Department for site plan review 
purposes only and present conceptual elevations and floor plans. Although the plans lack 
sufficient detail to perform a code review, the following comments are offered for Planning Design 
Review purposes and applicant consideration: 
 
Applicable Building Codes: 
 
 2015 Michigan Building Code. Applies to all buildings other than those regulated by 

the Michigan Residential Code. 
 
 2015 Michigan Mechanical Code. (Residential requirements for mechanical 

construction in all detached one and two-family dwellings and multiple single-family 
dwellings (townhouses) not more than three stories in height with a separate means of 
egress and their accessory structures are contained in the Michigan Residential Code) 

 
 2018 Michigan Plumbing Code. (Residential requirements for plumbing construction 

in all detached one and two-family dwellings and multiple single-family dwellings 
(townhouses) not more than three stories in height with a separate means of egress and 
their accessory structures are contained in the Michigan Residential Code) 

 
 2017 National Electrical Code along w ith the Michigan Part 8 Rules. (Residential 

requirements for electrical construction in all detached one and two-family dwellings and 
multiple single-family dwellings (townhouses) not more than three stories in height with 
a separate means of egress and their accessory structures are contained in the Michigan 
Residential Code) 

 
Review Comments: (These comments remain from our initial review) 
 

1. Exterior doors shall not open or project into the public right of way (Building Code Section 
3202.2) 

 
2. The proposed building is setback 0-feet from the north and east property lines. These 

walls will need to have a fire resistive rating in accordance with Table 601 of the MBC. 
Table 705.8 of the Building Code will not permit the proposed openings on the first floor 
and all parking levels.  
 

3. The rooftop parking level will require access to two remote exit stairways (Building Code 
Section 406.5.7). 

7B



CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 
Community Development – Building Department 

151 Martin Street, Birmingham, MI 48009 
 
 
 

Final Site Plan Review Comments Page 2 
 

4. The N/E exit stair will need to be enclosed with fire barriers in accordance with Chapter 
10 of the Building Code and comply with item 3 above.  
 

5. The office/storage area on level 3 has access to only 1 exit stair. Access to two exits is 
required in accordance with Section 1006 of the Building Code.  
 

6. The exit stairs on level 2 in the office area are not remotely separated as required by 
Section 1007.1.1 of the Building Code.  

7B



 

18 Triangle District Urban Design Plan | Birmingham Michigan 

Circulation  

To supplement the streetscape and walkability improvements, there are a 

number of roadway improvements recommended through the Triangle 

District.  Some will enhance traffic operations and safety, while others are 

intended to make the district more walkable.   

Maple Road (A).  Maple Road between Woodward and Adams should be 

converted from two lanes in each direction to an imbalanced roadway 

configuration, for example with two westbound lanes, one eastbound lane 

and a center turn lane, as depicted in A1.  This configuration would 

improve access into the Triangle along Elm Street and to the businesses 

along Maple without widening.  Additionally, intersection improvements 

should be made at Elm and Maple to better emphasize this entrance to the 

Triangle District.   

Hazel Street (B).  The segment of Hazel between Woodward and Elm 

could be closed to minimize the number of access points along Woodward 

Avenue and minimize cut-through traffic in the residential neighborhood.  

The new space could be used as open space or could be conferred to a 

property owner or developer in a beneficial exchange. 

Woodward/Elm (C).  There are a number of options for the short block 

of Elm Street between Bowers and Woodward Avenue (C).  Because of 

the slight angle from Woodward Avenue, traffic on Woodward Avenue 

tends to enter Elm at high speeds.  In addition, the intersection with 

Bowers has limited sight distance because of building placements and a 

narrow right-of-way.  The intersection of Elm at Woodward should be 

reconfigured to require traffic entering the District at Elm to make a right 

turning movement rather than merely veering right (C1).  This would slow 

traffic and improve safety for pedestrians and motorists.  Additionally, this 

portion of Elm south of Bowers could be converted to southbound traffic 

only with the former northbound lanes converted to angled street parking 

(C2).  Alternatively, this segment could be vacated altogether and used as 

open space or developable land for an adjacent parcel (C3).   
Circulation Recommendations 

CC  

BB  

AA  

DD  

EE  

FF  

Inset of Worth Realignment 

7B



 

Triangle District Urban Design Plan | Birmingham Michigan 19 

Woodward/Worth (D).  The intersection of Worth Street at 

Woodward Avenue shares many of the same problems as Bowers 

discussed above.  It is recommended that this intersection be reconfigured 

to form a right angle, greatly slowing traffic and creating the opportunity in 

the vacated right-of-way for a small greenspace with public art, landscaping, 

and wayfinding signs.  

Worth Street (E).  Currently Worth Street ends at Haynes Street.  This 

prevents circulation between the Triangle District‟s northern and southern 

halves.  Worth should be realigned parallel to Woodward Avenue and 

extended to Bowers.  This will improve north/south interior connectivity 

within the Triangle District and better link the north and south halves of 

the District, which will help support redevelopment of this area.  This road 

reconfiguration will also allow the creation of Worth Plaza in the heart of 

the Triangle District.  The alignment of Worth Street will be through the 

rear of the Boarder‟s parking lot and buildings currently located between 

Bowers and Haynes.  Therefore Worth Street realignment will need to be 

done in conjunction with the development of a parking structure and 

redevelopment of the properties on the north side of Haynes.  The specific 

alignment shown on this plan is conceptual and could be varied, provided 

the ultimate alignment created Worth Plaza. 

Bowers Street (F).  Bowers Street should also be emphasized as an 

east/west connector corridor that connects the residential areas east of 

Adams to the Triangle District and Downtown. 

Additional traffic modeling and detailed geometric designs will need to be 

evaluated further by the City‟s traffic engineer prior to implementing these 

recommendations.  

Maple Road (A1) 

Woodward/Elm (C1) Woodward/Elm (C2) 

Woodward/Elm (C3) Woodward/Worth (D1) 

7B



1 

MEMORANDUM 
City Clerk’s Office 

DATE: April 3, 2023  

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

SUBJECT: Special Event Application: Cogs & Kegs 

INTRODUCTION: 
The Michigan Institute of Urology (MIU) Men’s Health Foundation has submitted a special event 
application to hold the annual Cogs & Kegs bicycle ride on June 12, 2023. Set up for the event is 
scheduled on June 12 from 3 p.m. to 6 p.m. The event begins at 6 p.m. and concludes at 10 p.m. 
Police will close the intersection of South Eton Street and Maple Road at the beginning and end 
of the event. Teardown is scheduled for 9 p.m. to 10:30 p.m.  

BACKGROUND: 
The necessary departments reviewed the proposed event details submitted in the application, and 
departments provided feedback on requirements and estimated costs. DPS, Planning, Building, 
Engineering, Police and Fire have indicated their approval. SP+ Parking has been notified of the 
event for planning purposes.  

Cogs & Kegs is bike ride that begins and ends at Griffin Claw Brewing Co. It offers 30-mile and 10-
mile routes on roadways through multiple communities, including parts of Eton, Maple, Northlawn 
and Lincoln in Birmingham (route maps in attached application). Participants gather at Griffin Claw 
to celebrate after the rides. Cogs & Kegs is intended to raise awareness for prostate cancer and 
men’s health issues, and is a fundraiser for the MIU Men’s Health Foundation. MIU Men’s Health 
Foundation has sponsored the event annually since 2016 with approval from the Birmingham Police 
Department without a special event permit because the event occurs on private property. 

The following events occur in June 2023 in Birmingham and do not pose a conflict for this event: 
Birmingham Village Fair June 1 - 4 Shain Park 
Farmers Market June 4, 11, 18 & 25 Lot 6 
Movie Night June 9 Booth Park 
In the Park Concerts June 15, 21 & 28 Shain Park 
Yoga in the Park June 24 Shain Park 

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed and has no concerns or objections. 

7C



2 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
All costs associated with this event will be paid by applicant. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
MIU Men’s Health Foundation notified residents and businesses about the details of this event by 
letter which was mailed at least two weeks prior to the commission meeting. The addresses that 
were notified were within 300 feet of the event space. 

SUMMARY: 
The City Commission is being asked to approve a special event permit for the Cogs & Kegs bike 
ride to be held June 12, 2023 from 6 p.m. to 10 p.m., with set up from 3 p.m. to 6 p.m. that day. 
Teardown begins at 9 p.m. and concludes at 10:30 p.m.  

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Special event application
2. Notification letter with map of event area distributed to residents/businesses within 300 feet

of the event area dated March 20. Notification addresses are on file in the Clerk’s Office.
3. Hold harmless agreement
4. Department approval page with comments and estimated costs

 SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
To make a motion adopting a resolution to approve a special event permit as requested by the 
MIU Men’s Health Foundation to hold the Cogs & Kegs bicycle ride on June 12, 2023 contingent 
upon compliance with all permit and insurance requirements and payment of all fees and, 
further pursuant to any minor modifications that may be deemed necessary by administrative 
staff at the time of the event, or event cancellation that may be deemed necessary by 
administrative staff, leading up to or at the time of the event. 

7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



7C



DEPARTMENT APPROVALS 
 EVENT NAME:   Cogs & Kegs  
LICENSE NUMBER #23-00012167 COMMISSION HEARING DATE: April 3, 2023 
NOTE TO STAFF:  Please submit approval by March 23, 2023  DATE OF EVENT:   June 12, 2023 
  

DEPARTMENT APPROVED COMMENTS PERMITS 
REQUIRED 

(Must be obtained 
directly from individual 

departments) 

ESTIMATED 
COSTS 

(Must be paid two 
weeks prior to the 

event. License will not 
be issued if unpaid.) 

ACTUAL 
COSTS 

(Event will be 
invoiced by the 
Clerk’s office 

after the event) 
 

PLANNING 
101.0-000.000-636.0005 

248.530.1855 
 

TBC No Cost No Comment  0   

BUILDING 
101.0-000.000.636.0005 

248.530.1850 

MJM No department involvement.  $0  

FIRE 
101.0-000.000-636.0004 

248.530.1900 

AS EMS to respond from the station(s) 
Maintain 20’ fire lane  

 $0  

POLICE 
101.0-000.000.636.0003 

248.530.1870 

RK 1 officer for traffic control at Maple/S 
Eton for start and finish of race.  Extra 
patrol by on-duty officers. 

 $335.58  

PUBLIC SERVICES 
101.0-000.000-636.0002 

248.530.1642 

 
CL 

 
No department involvement  

  
$0 

 

ENGINEERING 
101.0-000.000.636.0002 

248.530.1839 

Kc Obstruction permit for blocking 
intersection of Maple & Eton 

Obstruction $65 $65 

SP+ PARKING 
AF No department involvement None $0 $0 

INSURANCE 
248.530.1807 

 Need to submit COI no less than 2 weeks 
prior to event. Need to submit Hold 
Harmless Agreement 

None $0 $0 

7C



CLERK 
101.0-000.000-614.0000 

248.530.1803 

 Notification letters to be mailed by 
applicant no later than 3/20/23.  
Notification addresses on file in the 
Clerk’s Office.   
 

Applications for 
vendors license 
must be submitted 
no later than 
5/26/23. 

$200 pd 3/10/23  
 
 

 

   TOTAL DEPOSIT 
REQUIRED 
 
$600.58 

ACTUAL 
COST 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  Rev. 3/28/23 
h:\shared\special events\- general information\approval page.doc 

FOR CLERK’S OFFICE USE 
 
Deposit paid _____365.00______ 
 
Actual Cost     
 
Due/Refund    
 

7C



MEMORANDUM 
City Manager’s Office 

DATE: March 27, 2023 

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Jana Ecker, Assistant City Manager 

SUBJECT: DTE Issues 

INTRODUCTION: 
During the first few months of 2023, hundreds of thousands of metro Detroit residents, businesses 
and institutions repeatedly lost power to their homes and businesses during the coldest months 
of the year.   

BACKGROUND: 
Thousands of Birmingham residents were displaced from their homes and businesses due to a 
lack of power causing heating, lighting and communications systems to shut down.  As a result, 
our residents suffered personal losses from these power outages, including damaged pipes, 
flooding, spoiled food and medication, the cost of alternative housing for their families and pets, 
not to mention the emotional stress of dealing with the cold weather, lack of power and the 
related health and safety concerns.   

During power outages, many residents called into the City offices for assistance, frustrated by the 
frequency and length of power outages and the lack of communication from DTE and Consumers. 
Residents sought assistance from the City as DTE did not answer their phone calls or provide 
accurate (or any, in some cases) estimates of power restoration.  In addition, the City was 
burdened with the additional costs of providing public safety officers at hundreds of downed 
wires, sites with tree damage expected to down a wire, fighting fires caused by downed wires, 
responding to health calls and welfare checks due to a loss of power, and the establishment of 
an overnight warming center for our residents.   

While the City does not regulate utility companies, nor control the rates charged to consumers, 
the City shares the reliability concerns raised by residents.  A combined effort of State officials 
and the public services regulatory commissions will be needed to engage in a meaningful 
conversation on how to improve the reliability of electric utility services, to increase regulatory 
standards and/or to provide reliability standards to hold public service providers accountable to 
their customers.    

7D



2 

The Michigan Public Service Commission (MPSC) is charged with regulatory authority over electric, 
gas and telecommunication service providers.  The stated mission of the MPSC is to serve the 
public by ensuring safe, reliable, and accessible energy and telecommunications services at 
reasonable rates.  The three commission members are appointed by the Governor.  During the 
month of March, the MPSC conducted multiple public meetings across the state to hear 
from residents who were frustrated by repeated power outages. 

On March 21, 2023, the MPSC conducted a virtual public meeting, and at the beginning of the 
meeting, the MPSC commission members advised that they have been working on increasing 
transparency with DTE and Consumers in the following ways: 

 Requiring DTE and Consumers to report outages by Census tracts monthly;
 Conducting an audit of DTE and Consumers utility systems, to be done by an independent

auditor; and
 Increased the payment owed from DTE or Consumers to $35/day for customers that

experience outages.

At this meeting, I spoke before the MPSC to outline the concerns expressed by Birmingham 
residents and City staff and officials regarding the ongoing reliability issues and the impacts on 
our citizens.  In addition, a letter was also submitted into the record via email (see attached). 
Comments made on behalf of Birmingham residents by City staff were also televised in part on 
WXYZ Channel 7 news. 

Given the ongoing electric utility issues, it appears that additional oversight is required for public 
utilities such as DTE and Consumers to ensure the provision of reliable and efficient energy, at 
an economical cost to customers.  Higher standards are clearly needed for the quality of services, 
distribution of services and reliability of public services to ensure that residents have access to a 
reliable power grid.     

In order to advocate for improvement, it is recommended that the City join the Michigan Municipal 
Association for Utility Issues (MI-MAUI) to work together with other local governments and public 
agencies to influence regulatory processes, utility practices and proposed rate increases.  MI-
MAUI brings municipalities together to advocate for reduced municipal street lighting rates, 
reduced electric and gas tariffs, and lower rates and support for utility green-power programs. 
In addition, MI-MAUI monitors and analyzes MPSC rate cases of interest to local government, 
represents members at MPSC hearings, provides regular updates on issues and addresses issues 
such as renewable energy and climate and sustainability goals.  Joining MI-MAUI would allow the 
City to add to the collective focus and expertise of other municipalities and organizations and 
work together to encourage change.  The membership fee to join MI-MAUI is based on a 0.03% 
of the City’s total annual regulated utility costs, which is calculated at $3133 for a one year 
membership. A representative of MI-MAUI will be in attendance at the April 3, 2023 City 
Commission meeting to discuss the benefits of membership and to answer any questions. 

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed this memo and attachments and has no concerns. 

7D



3 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
Membership dues to participate in the MI-MAUI were not included in the current fiscal year 
budget.  However, given the ongoing utility issues experienced by Birmingham residents, it is 
recommended that the City invest in a membership in MI-MAUI to advocate for change.  While 
not budgeted, funds are available in account #101-170.000-955.03 should the City Commission 
wish to join MI-MAUI. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
As discussed in the Background section above (MPSC hearing on March 21, 2023). 

SUMMARY: 
The City Commission may wish to adopt a resolution for the City to join together with other local 
governments and public agencies to influence regulatory processes and utility practices through 
participation in MI-MAUI, in the amount of $3133 for a one year membership.  

ATTACHMENTS: 
 Letter to the Michigan Public Services Commission dated March 21, 2023
 Overview of the purpose and goals of the Michigan Municipal Association for Utility Issues

(MI-MAUI)
 Rate Case Summary filed by DTE with the MPSC on February 7, 2023 requesting rate

increases, amendment of the existing rules governing the distribution and supply of
electric energy, and miscellaneous accounting authority (MPSC Case No. U-21297)

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution for the City to join together with other local governments 
and public agencies to influence regulatory processes and utility practices through participation 
in the Michigan Municipal Association for Utility Issues, in the amount of $3133 for a one year 
membership. Funding for this project is available in account #101-170.000-955.03. 

7D



March 21, 2023 

Executive Secretary 
Michigan Public Service Commission 
7109 W. Saginaw Highway 
Lansing, MI 48917 

Sent via email to: 
mpscedockets@michigan.gov. 

Re:     Public Comment on Reliability of Electric Services 

The first few months of 2023 have been very difficult for the hundreds of thousands of metro Detroit 
residents, businesses and institutions that have repeatedly lost power to their homes and businesses 
during the coldest months of the year in Michigan.  Hundreds of thousands of people were displaced 
from their homes and businesses due to a lack of power causing heating, lighting and communications 
systems to shut down in areas all across the state.   

The residents and businesses of metro-Detroit and the State of Michigan have very limited options to 
consider for the purchase of public utilities, and even less control over the rates and rate changes for 
these public utility services.  Given such limited competition in the market, it would appear that 
additional oversight is required for public utilities such as DTE Electric Company (“DTE”) to ensure the 
provision of reliable and efficient energy, at an economical cost to customers.  Higher standards are 
clearly needed for the quality of services, distribution of services and reliability of public services to 
ensure that residents have access to a reliable power grid.       

DTE Electric Company recently sent out public relations messages to residents and businesses advising 
that Michigan has “faced a series of severe weather events, including our largest ice storm in 50 years, 
followed by a heavy snowstorm and 45+ mph winds” in an attempt to justify the repeated power 
outages.  However, the same communications go on to state that “what was once considered a 
“historic” storm has now become the unwelcome norm” as global climate change occurs and weather 
patterns shift.  DTE’s statement acknowledges climate change and the resulting change in the severity 
of our “new norm” of weather patterns.  Global climate change is not a new phenomenon, and yet 
despite acknowledging the need to adapt and adjust their infrastructure, DTE has not strategically 
invested in updates to provide a reliable power grid for customers that works when we need it the 
most, such as the coldest months of winter, or the hottest months of summer.      

As a resident of Oakland County, I have personally experienced at least 3 prolonged periods without 
power at my residence since last summer.  However, I write to you as a public servant, representing 
the residents of the City of Birmingham, thousands of whom also experienced prolonged periods without 
power at their homes and businesses.   Our residents suffered extensive personal losses from these 
power outages, including damaged pipes, flooding, spoiled food and medication, the cost of alternative 
housing for their families and pets, not to mention the emotional stress of dealing with the cold weather, 
lack of power and the related health and safety concerns.  The small credit proposed by DTE for 
customers  

7D



 
 
 
affected by the power outage does not even come close to covering the expenses incurred by residents.  
In addition, the City was burdened with the additional costs of providing public safety officers at 
hundreds of downed wires, sites with tree damage expected to down a wire, fighting fires caused by 
downed wires, responding to health calls and welfare checks due to a loss of power, and the 
establishment of an overnight warming center for our residents. 
 
It is time for local residents, business owners and the Michigan Public Service Commission (“MPSC”) to 
demand a new course of action for DTE and other public utilities, to demand strategic investment to 
create a solid and sustainable power grid for the future, to increase regulatory standards and provide 
reliability standards to hold public service providers accountable to their customers.    
 
It is of the utmost importance that the MPSC require substantial infrastructure investments into the 
power grid to strengthen the existing grid to increase reliability and efficiency, and to seek out new 
methods and systems to deliver power that are different from the outdated methods currently in use.   
 
For years, DTE has promoted the need for increased investment in tree trimming around overhead 
lines, and has acknowledged that the majority of power outages experienced by their customers are 
caused by “tree interference”.   Yet, instead of converting the overhead lines to an underground system, 
DTE and others wage an unending battle against nature to trim and remove trees and vegetation near 
overhead power lines.  Excessive tree trimming can impact the health of the tree, is unsightly, and is a 
temporary solution, as trees continue to grow each year, requiring ongoing trimming services.  Future 
investment in the power grid should mandate the conversion of existing overhead power lines and 
related infrastructure to an underground system, using modern technology.  Areas with a history of 
frequent power outages should be prioritized for conversion from an overhead to an underground 
system.  Not only will an underground system provide much improved reliability for customers, it will 
also greatly reduce safety concerns associated with downed power lines and the significant risks they 
pose to human safety and property destruction.   
 
The time for change has come, and the MPSC must ensure that all residents are provided with a reliable 
and efficient electrical grid, at an economical cost.  DTE cannot continue to operate in the same manner, 
using the same outdated distribution system as it always has, and continue to request rate increases 
to invest in the same “improvements” to the electric grid that have proven unsuccessful in the past.  
Our residents and business owners deserve better performance from DTE and our electric grid.   
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Jana L. Ecker 
Assistant City Manager 
City of Birmingham 

7D



 

 

 

 

 

 

A collective, expert voice for local governments on utility rates and services 

Local governments and public agencies are eager to reduce their energy costs and impacts, but individually 
lack capacity and expertise to influence utility rates, regulations and business practices. By joining together in 
the Michigan Municipal Association for Utility Issues (MI-MAUI), local governments and public agencies gain 
collective clout, focus and expertise to influence regulatory processes and utility practices.  MI-MAUI 
represents municipal fiscal, service and policy interests in utility rate cases at the Michigan Public Service 
Commission, participates in MPSC working groups and collaboratives, and works directly with utilities to 
advance municipal interests. 

What’s at stake? 

Since passage of Michigan’s 2016 energy law, 
electricity rates have risen rapidly – despite 
increased use of historically cheap natural gas 
to generate power. 

Working together, local governments gain a 
powerful, collective voice defending their fiscal, 
policy, climate and community development 
goals. MI-MAUI has successfully intervened in 
several utility rate cases to oppose increases to 
municipal street lighting rates and to hold 
utilities accountable for frequent and lengthy 
outages. MAUI also intervenes to defend interest of residential ratepayers served by local governments, 
advocating fair rates, better reliability and customer protections. 

Recent and current priorities 

MAUI intervenes in most electric rate cases filed by DTE and Consumers Energy, representing municipal 
interests in rates and reliability for streetlights and residential customers and billing protections for residents 
and local business. In 2021, MI-MAUI helped negotiate a settlement with DTE that created a municipal 
“anchor tenant” solar program, under which local governments may host utility-scale, DTE-owned and 
operated solar facilities that power municipal facilities with additional power available to other DTE 
customers who wish to support local renewable energy. 

MI-MAUI participates in many MPSC working groups to represent municipal operating, fiscal and policy 
interests. We serve on MPSC’s Low-Income Energy Policy Board, Energy Affordability and Accessibility 
Collaborative and the Customer Data Access and Privacy working group. MI-MAUI also researches innovative 
solutions to utility-related issues for municipalities: in 2021, for example, with state EGLE grant support we 
researched energy-efficiency potential of leak reduction initiatives by water utilities, to quantify potential 
savings and identify ways to provide energy efficiency financing for water-conservation efforts. 
While we actively monitor and participate in MPSC rate cases to serve municipal interests, MI-MAUI 
prioritizes direct, proactive dialogue with utilities, which can be faster, cheaper, more flexible and 
collaborative than formal regulatory processes. MAUI’s collective, expert and focused representation gives 
municipalities better-informed and unified representation with utilities, making it easier for utilities to 
respond to municipal needs. 

7D



 

 

 

 

 

 

MAUI’s Scope and Role 

MAUI represents local governments and other independent public agencies served by investor-owned 
utilities throughout Michigan, focusing on municipal operations including: 

• municipal street lighting tariffs, technologies and maintenance practices;  
• electric and gas tariffs and utility practices affecting municipal buildings, water treatment plants, etc.;  
• tariffs and policies related to solar PV and microgrids serving municipal facilities;  
• rates and rules for utility green-power programs; and more.  

MAUI also addresses issues not directly related to municipal costs and operations, including right-of-way 
issues, energy facility siting policies and city-wide renewable energy, and climate and sustainability goals. 
MAUI primarily addresses energy issues but may take on any utility service regulated by the MPSC.  MAUI can 
also provide technical support to local governments in volatile or opaque markets such as recycling, waste 
hauling and energy hedging contracts. 

MI-MAUI is an IRS 501(c)(3) organization that does not advocate for candidates or legislation. 

Benefits, Services, Costs 
• Monitoring and analysis of MPSC rate cases of interest to local public governments/agencies; referral to 
legal and technical experts when municipalities wish to intervene formally in rate cases; 
• Representation of member interests in MPSC policy proceedings; 
• Coordination with and technical support for legislative advocacy partners; 
• Monthly teleconference update on MI-MAUI activities and opportunities;  
• Convening of issue dialogues and collaborations with utilities. 

In most cases, membership or participation costs are figured as a small percentage of a government/agency’s 
annual regulated-utility costs. MI-MAUI may take on special projects at the request of one or more members, 
with costs determined on a case-by-case basis. 
Contact 
Rick Bunch, Executive Director: (m)206-595-8293, rick@mi-maui.org 
 

7D

mailto:rick@mi-maui.org


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
      February 7, 2023 
 
 
Lisa Felice 
Executive Secretary 
Michigan Public Service Commission 
7109 West Saginaw Highway 
Lansing, MI  48917 
 
 RE: In the matter of the Application of DTE ELECTRIC COMPANY for authority to 

increase its rates, amend its rate schedules and rules governing the distribution and 
supply of electric energy, and for miscellaneous accounting authority 

  MPSC Case No. U-21297 
 
Dear Ms. Felice: 
 
 Attached for electronic filing in the above captioned matter is DTE Electric Company’s 
Rate Case Summary.  Also attached is the Proof of Service. 

 
Very truly yours, 

 
 
 

Jon P. Christinidis 
 
 
 
JPC/erb 
Attachments 
cc: Service List 
 

 

Jon P. Christinidis 
(313) 235-7706 
Jon.christinidis@dteenergy.com 

DTE Electric Company 
One Energy Plaza, 1635 WCB 
Detroit, MI 48226-1279 
 

7D



1 
 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 
 

BEFORE THE MICHIGAN PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 
 
 
 

In the matter of the Application of ) 
DTE ELECTRIC COMPANY ) 
for authority to increase its rates, amend ) Case No. U-21297 
its rate schedules and rules governing the ) 
distribution and supply of electric energy, and ) 
for miscellaneous accounting authority. ) 
 
 

 
 DTE ELECTRIC COMPANY’S RATE CASE SUMMARY  

 

In accordance with the Michigan Public Service Commission’s (“MPSC” or the 

“Commission”) July 31, 2017 Order in Case No. U-18238, DTE Electric Company (“DTE Electric” 

or the “Company”) submits its Rate Case Summary. DTE Electric’s Rate Case Summary is being 

provided for informational purposes only. Modifications may be made to the Company’s upcoming 

rate case filing that could impact the information contained herein. 

In DTE Electric’s most recent rate case, Case No. U-20836, the Company requested the 

Commission authorize an adjustment to retail rates for the generation and distribution of electricity 

to provide additional revenue in the amount of $388 million annually.1 This was based on the 

utilization of a projected test year commencing November 1, 2022 and ending October 31, 2023. In 

its November 18, 2022 Order in Case No. U-20836, the Commission authorized DTE Electric to 

increase its retail rates for the generation and distribution of electricity by $31 million annually (a 

71 cent increase per month to the average residential customer) with a Return on Equity of 9.9%. 

New rates based on the Commission Order dated November 18, 2022 in Case No. U-20836 were 

 
1 The Company’s revenue deficiency was voluntarily revised downward to $367.2 million during the course of the 
proceeding. 

7D



2 
 

implemented on November 25, 2022.  

DTE Electric’s upcoming rate case filing, Case No. U-21297, is being primarily driven by 

the Company’s continued distribution infrastructure investments to improve customer power 

reliability and generation investments to bring cleaner energy faster to the state. Based on the 

evidentiary support provided in its upcoming filing, DTE Electric requests that the Commission 

authorize the Company to adjust its retail rates for the generation and distribution of electricity to 

provide additional revenue in the amount of approximately $622 million ($619 million if the 

investment recovery mechanism (IRM) proposed by the Company is accepted) annually based on a 

projected 12-month test year of December 1, 2023 through November 30, 2024. The Company is 

requesting a Return on Equity of 10.25% based on a 50% equity / 50% debt capital structure, and uses 

inflation factors of 3.6% for 2022, 3.2% for 2023, and 2.66% for 11 months of 2024. The Company 

is utilizing a historical test year of 2021. 

The key drivers associated with the Company’s revenue requirement are: 
 

 
Key Drivers  Revenue Requirements ($000,000) 

 Revenue Requirement      
         Impact 

 
 

a. Rate Base   $292 
b. Return on Equity    42 
c. Cost of Debt and Capital Structure    29 
d. Operating Expenses 124 
e. Sales Margin  102 
f. Other    30 
g. Total Revenue Requirement Impact $619 

 

7D



3 
 

The revenue requirement associated with rate base is as follows: 
 

Key Drivers  Rate Base ($000) 
  

 
Drivers 

 
 

Rate Base Impact 

Revenue Requirement 
Impact (Return on, Return 

of and Property Tax) 
a. Last Rate Base Order $20,406,679 $1,386,075 
b. Utility Plant   2,988,118      345,061 
c. Depreciation Reserve       (845,111)     (57,402) 
d. Net Nuclear Fuel and Capital 

Lease Property 
 

       47,172 
 

        3,204 
e. Working Capital        14,372            976 
f. Requested Rate Base $22,611,230 $1,677,914 
g. Increase from Last Rate Base 

Order 
 

$2,204,551 
 

   $291,839 
 

With respect to rate design, DTE Electric is proposing, among other things, certain changes 

to the Company’s tariffs, and rules and regulations, including but not limited to Rate Schedule D1.13, 

Rider 22, and amendments to Rate Schedule D1.6, Rate Schedule D1.9, Rate Schedule D3, Rider 14, 

and Rider 21. In addition, the Company is proposing an IRM focused on certain distribution capital 

expenditures that address customer safety, customer reliability, and the integration of increasing 

levels of Electric Vehicle and Distributed Energy Resources that will be recovered by means of an 

IRM surcharge.  

For the projected test year, the Company’s average overall rate increase will be: 
 

   Total Net 

   Increase/ 

   (Decrease) 
Residential   (%) 

    
D1/D1.6   18.9%  
D1.1 Interruptible Air   15.5%  
D1.2 Time of Day   16.9%  
D1.7 Time of Day   17.5%  
D1.8 Dynamic   14.5%  
D1.9 Electric Vehicle   15.4%  

7D



4 
 

D1.11 Time of Use   13.7%2 
D2 Electric Space Heat   16.6%  
D5 Water Heating   16.8%  
Total Residential   13.9%  

     
Secondary    
D1.1 Interruptible Air   11.1%  
D1.7 Time of Day   15.0%  
D1.8 Dynamic    11.6%  
D 1.9 Electric Vehicle   14.1%  
D3 General Service   11.2%  
D3.1 Unmetered   12.5%  
D3.2 Secondary Ed.   16.5%  
D3.3 Interruptible   12.4%  
D3.5 Charging Service   6.1%  
D4 Large General Serv.   11.8%  
D5 Comm. Water Htg.   12.4%  
E1.1 Energy Street Ltg.   12.5%  
R7 Greenhouse Ltg.   13.2%  
R8 Space Conditioning   11.6%  
Total Secondary   11.5%  

    
Primary    
D11 Primary Supply   8.4%  
D12 Exp. Lg. Customer   -   
D6.2 Primary Ed.   10.9%  
D8 Interruptible Primary   8.8%  
D10 Elementary Schools   8.4%  
R1.1 Alt. Metal Melting   6.2%  
R1.2 Elec. Process Htg.   9.7%  
R3 Standby   7.9%  
R10 Interruptible Supply    (15.0%) 
Total Primary   7.0%  

    
D13 XL High Load   26.6%  

    
Other    
D9 Protective Ltg.   21.1%  
E1 Municipal Street Ltg   13.5%  
E2 Traffic Lights   9.1%  
Total Other   14.2%  

    
Total All Classes    11.8%  

 
2 The D1.11 Time of Use rate represents 94.9% of all residential customers’ base rate in the projected test year. 

7D



5 
 

 In addition to the requests described above, DTE Electric is seeking Commission approval of 

certain accounting requests, including but not limited to, regulatory asset treatment for certain costs 

associated with the Company’s Delivered Fuel Electrification Pilot and Power Supply Cost Recovery 

accounting treatment for potential tax credits related to nuclear generation. Additionally, the Company 

is proposing several pilot programs in this filing pertaining to electric vehicle charging, distribution 

non-wire alternatives, battery energy storage, demand response initiatives and a customer option to 

prepay for electric service.  

In Case No. U-18238, the Commission established new standard rate case filing forms and 

instructions based on the 10-month statutory rate case processing timeframe. The Company will 

include all available information related to these requirements. 

DTE Electric intends to file its upcoming electric rate case on February 10, 2023, which will 

allow for new rates to be effective as early as December 10, 2023. 

 
Respectfully Submitted,  
 
DTE ELECTRIC COMPANY 
 
 

By:                                                                
Attorneys for DTE Electric Company 
Andrea Hayden (P71976) 
Paula Johnson-Bacon (P55862)  
Jon P. Christinidis (P47352) 

  One Energy Plaza, 1635WCB  
  Detroit, Michigan 48226 
  (313) 235-7706 

 

Dated: February 7, 2023 

 

7D



STATE OF MICHIGAN  
 

BEFORE THE MICHIGAN PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION  
 
  

In the matter of the Application of   )   
DTE ELECTRIC COMPANY for  )   
authority to increase its rates, amend its )   
rate schedules and rules governing the  )    Case No. U-21297   
distribution and supply of electric energy,  )   
and for miscellaneous accounting authority  )   

  
 

PROOF OF SERVICE 
 

STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
    )  ss. 
COUNTY OF WAYNE ) 
 

 ESTELLA R. BRANSON states that on February 7, 2023, she served a copy of DTE 

Electric Company’s Rate Case Summary in the above captioned matter, via electronic mail upon 

the persons listed on the attached service list.  

 
            
          ESTELLA R. BRANSON 

 

7D



 
MPSC Case No. U-21297  

Service List (U-20561 and U-20836 combined) 
Page 1 

 

  

ABATE  
Michael J. Pattwell 
Clark Hill PLC  
212 E. Cesar E. Chavez Avenue 
Lansing, MI  48906 
mpattwell@clarkhill.com 
 
Stephen A. Campbell 
Clark Hill PLC  
500 Woodward Avenue, Suite 3500 
Detroit, MI 48226 
scampbell@clarkhill.com 
 
BLOOM ENERGY; CHARGEPOINT, INC.; 
ENERGY MICHIGAN, INC.; MICHIGAN 
ENERGY INNOVATION BUSINESS COUNCIL; 
INSTITUTE FOR ENERGY INNOVATION; 
FOUNDRY ASSOCIATION OF MICHIGAN  
Laura A. Chappelle  
Timothy J. Lundgren  
Justin K. Ooms 
Potomac Law Group PLLC   
120 N. Washington Square, Suite 300 
Lansing, MI 48933  
lchappelle@potomaclaw.com 
tlundgren@potomaclaw.com 
jooms@potomaclaw.com 
 
CENTRAL TRANSPORT, LLC; CENTRAL 
TRANSPORT, INC.; CROWN ENTERPRISES, 
INC.; DETROIT INERNATIONAL BRIDGE 
COMPANY; UNIVERSAL TRUCKLOAD 
SERVICES INC.; ZECO SYSTEMS, INC. D/B/A 
GREENLOTS 
Sean P. Gallagher 
Fraser Trebilcock Davis & Dunlap, P.C. 
 124 W. Allegan, Ste. 1000 
Lansing, MI 48933  
sgallagher@fraserlawfirm.com 
 
CITIZENS UTILITY BOARD OF MICHIGAN; 
MICHIGAN ENVIRONMENTAL COUNCIL; 
NATURAL RESOURCES DEFENSE COUNCIL; 
SIERRA CLUB 
Christopher M. Bzdok 
Tracy Andrews 
Olson, Bzdok & Howard, P.C. 
420 East Front Street 
Traverse City, MI 49686 
chris@envlaw.com 

tjandrews@envlaw.com 
jill@enlaw.com 
kimberly@envlaw.com 
karla@envlaw.com 
breanna@envlaw.com 
 
CITY OF ANN ARBOR; MICHIGAN 
MUNICIPAL ASSOCIATION FOR 
UTILITY ISSUES 
Valerie J.M. Brader 
Valerie Jackson  
Rick Bunch  
Rivenoak Law Group P.C. 
3331 W. Big Beaver Rd., Suite 109  
Troy, MI 48084 
valerie@rivenoaklaw.com 
valeriejackson@rivenoaklaw.com 
rick@mi-maui.org 
ecf@rivenoaklaw.com  
 
ENVIRONMENTAL LAW AND POLICY 
CENTER/ECOLOGY CENTER/SOLAR 
ENERGY INDUSTRIES 
ASSOCIATION/VOTE SOLAR (ELPC et al)  
Heather Vogel 
Alondra Estrada 
Daniel Abrams 
Bradley Klein 
Kevin Lucas 
William Kenworthy 
Charles Griffith 
1514 Wealthy Street SE, Suite 256 
Grand Rapids, MI 49506 
hvogel@elpc.org 
aestrada@elpc.org 
MPSCDocket@elpc.org 
dabrams@elpc.org 
bklein@elpc.org 
klucas@seia.org 
will@votesolar.org 
charlesg@ecocenter.org 
 
Nicholas J. Schroeck 
University of Detroit Mercy School of Law  
Environmental Law Clinic  
651 E. Jefferson,  
Detroit, MI 48226  
schroenj@udmercy.edu 
 
 

7D

mailto:mpattwell@clarkhill.com
mailto:scampbell@clarkhill.com
mailto:lchappelle@potomaclaw.com
mailto:tlundgren@potomaclaw.com
mailto:jooms@potomaclaw.com
mailto:chris@envlaw.com
mailto:tjandrews@envlaw.com
mailto:kimberly@envlaw.com
mailto:karla@envlaw.com
mailto:valerie@rivenoaklaw.com
mailto:jackson@rivenoaklaw.com
mailto:rick@mi-maui.org
mailto:ecf@rivenoak.com
mailto:hvogel@elpc.org
mailto:aestrada@elpc.org
mailto:MPSCDocket@elpc.org
mailto:dabrams@elpc.org
mailto:bklein@elpc.org
mailto:klucas@seia.org
mailto:will@votesolar.org
mailto:schroenj@udmercy.edu


 
MPSC Case No. U-21297  

Service List (U-20561 and U-20836 combined) 
Page 2 

 

  

EVGO SERVICES, LLC 
Brian R. Gallagher 
Moblo Fleming PC 
93555 Orchard Hill Pl., Ste 310 
Novi, MI 48375 
bgallagher@moblofleming.com 
 
Nikhil Vijaykar  
Keyes & Fox LLP  
580 California Street, 12th Floor  
San Francisco, CA 94104  
nvijaykar@keyesfox.com 
 
GERDAU MACSTEEL, INC. 
Jennifer Utter Heston  
Fraser Trebilcock Davis & Dunlap, P.C 
124 W. Allegan, Ste 1000  
Lansing, MI 48933  
jheston@fraserlawfirm.com 
 
GREAT LAKES RENEWABLE ENERGY 
ASSOCIATION INC.; RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMER 
GROUP 
Don L. Keskey 
Brian W. Coyer 
University Office Place 
333 Albert Avenue, Suite 425 
East Lansing, MI  48823 
donkeskey@publiclawresourcecenter.com 
bwcoyer@publiclawresourcecenter.com 
 
INTERNATIONAL TRANSMISSION COMPANY 
Richard J. Aaron 
Olivia R.C.A. Flower 
201 Townsend Street, Suite 900 
Lansing, MI 48933 
RAaron@dykema.com 
OFlower@dykema.com 
mpscfilings@dykema.com 
 
THE KROGER CO.  
Kurt J. Boehm 
Jody Kyler Cohn 
Michael L. Kurtz 
Boehm, Kurtz & Lowry 
36 East Seventh Street, Suite 1510  
Cincinnati, OH 45202 
kboehm@BKLlawfirm.com 
jkylercohn@BKLlawfirm.com 
mkurtz@BKLlawfirm.com 

MICHIGAN ATTORNEY GENERAL 
Joel King 
Assistant Attorney General  
ENRA Division 
525 W. Ottawa Street, 6th Floor 
P.O. Box 30755 
Lansing, Michigan 48909  
KingJ38@michigan.gov 
ag-enra-spec-lit@michigan.gov 
 
MICHIGAN CABLE 
TELECOMMUNICATIONS ASSOC. 
Michael S. Ashton 
Shaina R. Reed 
Fraser Trebilcock Davis & Dunlap 
124 West Allegan Street, Suite 1000 
Lansing, MI 48933  
mashton@fraserlawfirm.com 
sreed@fraserlawfirm.com 
ljohnson@fraserlawfirm.com 
 
SIERRA CLUB 
Michael Soules 
Shannon Fisk  
Hema Lochan  
1625 Massachusetts Ave. NW 
Suite 702 
Washington, DC 20036 
msoules@earthjustice.org 
sfisk@earthjustice.org  
hlochan@earthjustice.org 
 
MPSC STAFF  
Heather M.S. Durian 
Benjamin J. Holwerda 
Michael J. Orris 
Spencer A. Sattler 
Monica M. Stephens 
Daniel E. Sonneveldt 
Nicholas Q. Taylor 
7109 West Saginaw Hwy, 3rd Floor 
Lansing, MI 48917 
durianh@michigan.gov 
holwerdab@michigan.gov 
orrism@michigan.gov 
sattlers@michigan.gov 
stephensm11@michigan.gov 
taylorn10@michigan.gov 
mayabbl@michigan.gov 
 

7D

mailto:bgallagher@moblofleming.com
mailto:nvijaykar@keyesfox.com
mailto:jheston@fraserlawfirm.com
mailto:donkeskey@publiclawresourcecenter.com
mailto:bwcoyer@publiclawresourcecenter.com
mailto:RAaron@dykema.com
mailto:OFlower@dykema.com
file://NAS4/Strategy/Regulatory%20Policy%20&%20Operations%20(Electric)/Case%20Files/U-17767%20-%20Main%20DTE%20Electric%20Case%202014/e-mail%20addresses%20&%20service%20list/kboehm@BKLlawfirm.com
mailto:kylercohn@BKLlawfirm.com
mailto:mkurtz@BKLlawfirm.com
mailto:KingJ38@michigan.gov
mailto:mashton@fraserlawfirm.com
mailto:ljohnson@fraserlawfirm.com
mailto:msoules@earthjustice.org
mailto:sfisk@earthjustice.org
mailto:hlochan@earthjustice.org
mailto:durianh@michigan.gov
mailto:holwerdab@michigan.gov
mailto:orrism@michigan.gov
mailto:sattlers@michigan.gov
mailto:stephensm11@michigan.gov
mailto:taylorn10@michigan.gov
mailto:mayabbl@michigan.gov


 
MPSC Case No. U-21297  

Service List (U-20561 and U-20836 combined) 
Page 3 

 

  

SOULARDARITY; WE WANT GREEN, TOO  
Andrew Bashi 
Nicholas Leonard 
Great Lakes Environmental Law Center 
4444 Second Avenue 
Detroit, MI 48201 
andrew.bashi@glelc.org 
nicholas.leonard@glelc.org 
 
Mark Templeton  
Simone Gewirth 
Rebecca Boyd 
University of Chicago Law School 
Abrams Environmental Law Clinic 
6020 South University Avenue 
Chicago, IL 60637 
templeton@uchicago.edu 
sgewirth@uchicago.edu 
rebecca.j.boyd@gmail.com 
aelc_mpsc@lawclinic.uchicago.edu 
 
Thomas Ashley 
tom@greenlots.com 
 
UTILITY WORKERS LOCAL 223  
John A. Canzano 
Ben King 
423 N. Main Street, Suite 200 
Royal Oak, MI  48067 
jcanzano@michworkerlaw.com 
bking@michworkerlaw.com 
 
WAL-MART 
Melissa M. Horne 
Higgins, Cavanagh & Cooney, LLP 
10 Dorrance Street, Suite 400 
Providence, RI 02903 
mhorne@hcc-law.com 

7D

mailto:andrew.bashi@glelc.org
mailto:nicholas.leonard@glelc.org
mailto:templeton@uchicago.edu
mailto:sgewirth@uchicago.edu
mailto:rebecca.j.boyd@gmail.com
mailto:tom@greenlots.com
mailto:jcanzano@michworkerlaw.com
mailto:bking@michworkerlaw.com
mailto:mhorne@hcc-law.com


7F1



7F1



 

 
MEMORANDUM 
City Clerk’s Office 
 

 
DATE:  March 29, 2023  
 
TO:  Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 
 
FROM: Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 
 
SUBJECT:  Commission Discussion on Items from a Prior Meeting – Special Events 
 
 
INTRODUCTION:  
At the regular City Commission meeting of March 13, 2023 Commissioner Baller brought up the 
item of Policy for Sponsoring and Administering Special Events. Attached are supporting 
documents that include the current City Code and Application which outline the City’s current 
regulations and policy as a reference for the discussion.  
 

ATTACHMENTS:   

• Birmingham City Code regarding Special Events 
• Current Special Event Application 

 
 

7F2



3/29/23, 2:30 PM Birmingham, MI Code of Ordinances

about:blank 1/4

(1)

(2)

(a)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

Sec. 26-116. - Special events licensing.

Additional vendor licenses may be authorized for a special event by the city clerk as follows:

Any such request must be in conjunction with a special event as defined by the City Code.

Such a request must have the prior written authorization from the coordinator of the special

event.

(Ord. No. 2064, 4-11-11)

Sec. 26-117. - Requirements for all applications.

Applications. All applicants for a license under this chapter shall pay to the city the fee required

by the schedule of fees, bonds, charges and insurance, and, file with the city clerk a sworn

application in the form required by the city clerk, which shall include the following:

The name of the person(s) who will engage in vending, soliciting or peddling within the city,

including the person's current address of residence and length of residence at such address,

business address if other than the residence address, business and residence telephone

numbers, driver's license number, and a physical description including height, weight, and

color of hair and eyes.

A brief description of the business or activity to be conducted including the methods to be

used and a description of the types of goods or services to be sold.

The dates, hours and location for which the right to engage in vending, soliciting or peddling

is sought.

Proof that the applicant has obtained all licenses or permits required by state law.

The names of three references who will certify as to the applicant's good moral character and

business responsibility.

If employed and acting as an agent, the name, address and telephone number of the parent

organization who is being represented, and when and where this organization was formed,

including the form of its organization.

A statement as to whether the applicant or its parent organization has ever been found to

have violated a municipal ordinance regulating vending, soliciting or peddling.

A statement as to whether the applicant or an officer or director of the applicant's parent

organization has ever been convicted of a felony, and if so, the date and location of such

conviction, and a brief description of the offense.

A current photograph of the applicant and/or a photograph of the person(s) who will be

engaged in the vending, taken within 60 days immediately prior to the date of the filing of the

application, which picture shall be two inches by two inches in size showing the head and

7F2



3/29/23, 2:30 PM Birmingham, MI Code of Ordinances

about:blank 2/4

(10)

(11)

(b)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

shoulders of the applicant and or vendor, peddler or solicitor, in a clear and distinguishing manner.

The application shall be signed by the applicant stating that the information contained therein

is true and correct, that the city shall have the right to investigate and verify the information

contained in the application, and that the applicant has read the vendors, solicitors and

peddlers ordinance and agrees to abide by its terms.

Such other information as the city clerk shall determine to be appropriate.

Requirements of all vendors, solicitors and peddlers.

Loud noises, speaking devices, lights. No drum, loudspeaker, amplifier, or other instrument or

device which creates noise, or flashing lights which are for the purpose of attracting attention

to commercial or noncommercial enterprises so as to annoy or disturb the quiet, comfort or

repose of persons in any office, dwelling or other residence, or other place of employment or

repose shall be used and may be treated as a violation under this chapter, and chapter 50,

article II, division 4.

Frozen confection vendors shall not utilize any bell, chime or other noisemaking device

beyond a moderate noise level for the purpose of attracting persons to buy the frozen

confection. This prohibition shall not be construed to exclude the customary horn required

under the motor vehicle laws of the state.

Off-limit locations. No vendor, peddler or solicitor shall conduct business within 50 feet of any

school, church, synagogue or place of worship during services or within one hour of services;

courthouse; police station; or other public location unless specifically authorized pursuant to

the terms of the license. In addition, the city manager shall have power to designate such

streets, sidewalks, parts of streets, or sidewalks, districts or areas where it shall be unlawful

for any licensee to operate or conduct her/his business, such designation to be made based

upon congested traffic conditions, character of the neighborhood, or if the conduct of such

business constitutes a public nuisance.

"No Soliciting" signs and "No Soliciting" list. No solicitor or peddler shall enter into property

that has a posted "No Soliciting" sign or shall remain on property after being requested to

leave by the occupant. No solicitor or peddler shall solicit or peddle their wares or enter any

property that is listed on the no soliciting list on file at the city clerk's office.

Threatening or harassing behavior. No vendor, solicitor or peddler shall threaten or harass

any citizen in the course of their activities or in any way engage in conduct that threatens the

health and safety of another or causes a nuisance.

Effect of delinquent personal property taxes. No vendor, solicitor or peddler license shall be

granted to any person owing any personal property taxes or other indebtedness to the city,

or who contemplates using any personal property on which personal property taxes are

owed, in the operation of such business.

7F2

https://library.municode.com/


3/29/23, 2:30 PM Birmingham, MI Code of Ordinances

about:blank 3/4

(7)

(8)

(c)

(1)

(2)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(1)

(2)

Sales limited to products on application. Vendors, solicitors and peddlers shall be limited to

the sale of products specified on their application. Amendments to originally approved

applications must be submitted to the city clerk for review and approval, and shall not be

effective prior to such approval. An application fee of an amount established in the schedule

of fees, charges, bonds and insurance must accompany each request for an amendment.

Licenses non-sellable and non-transferable. Vendor, solicitor and peddler's licenses issued

under the authority of this chapter shall be non-sellable and non-transferable, either as to

persons or as to location.

Traffic regulations, obstructing public places.

Vendors, solicitors and peddlers shall observe all traffic and parking regulations. Unless

specifically approved, vendors, peddlers and solicitors shall not conduct business in a

congested area, or occupy a stationary location on a public street, sidewalk, parkway, park,

parking lot, or any other public property which is to be used by pedestrians or persons

operating motor vehicles. Such vendors, peddlers and/or solicitors shall be presumed to have

occupied a location if he/she has conducted business in any such public place for a period in

excess of ten minutes.

Sales to persons standing in roadway, to vehicles at red lights and to vehicles in moving traffic

lanes are prohibited.

Display of license required. All vendors, solicitors and peddlers shall display the license provided

by the city clerk, on his or her person or in a prominent place on their vehicle or removable or

non-permanent stand. The failure of a vendor, peddler and/or solicitor to conspicuously and

constantly exhibit such license when engaged in his/her licensed business shall be sufficient

cause for the suspension or revocation of his/her license.

Any certificate or license issued by the Oakland County Health Department shall also be prominently

displayed on any vehicle or stand subject to this article.

Prices posted. A vendor and frozen confection vendor shall have posted on their vehicle,

removable stand or non-permanent stand, the current prices charged for each item sold and no

item shall be sold for more than the posted price.

Litter clean-up required. Vendors shall (at their own expense) keep the sidewalks, streets, and

other public places adjoining and adjacent to their locations of business clean and free from any

refuse generated or resulting from the operation of their business.

Under no circumstances may any vendor, solicitor or peddler use any city trash can,

dumpster or other receptacle, drain or sewer to dispose of any litter, refuse, substance, fluid,

liquid or grease.

Violation of this subparagraph more than twice during one license year may constitute license

7F2



3/29/23, 2:30 PM Birmingham, MI Code of Ordinances

about:blank 4/4

(g)

(h)

(i)

revocation.

Cash deposit for litter clean-up. Vendors shall file with the city a cash deposit for the removal of

any litter on any sidewalk, street and/or other public place adjoining and adjacent to their

locations in the event the vendor fails to maintain such areas in compliance with this article. The

amount of the cash deposit shall be set forth in the schedule of fees, charges, bonds and

insurance. If the vendor fails to remove any such litter, the city may remove the litter and charge

the costs against the cash deposit. In the event a vendor exhausts its cash deposit, the vendor

shall be invoiced by the city for any restoration or litter on city property in excess of the amount

of the deposit.

Commercial vendors, peddlers and solicitors shall obtain insurance as set forth in the schedule of

fees, charges, bonds and insurance.

Commercial vendors shall agree to indemnify and hold the city harmless, the language of which is

set forth in the schedule of fees, charges, bonds and insurance.

(Ord. No. 2064, 4-11-11)

7F2



151 Martin Street, P.O. Box 3001 
Birmingham, MI 48012 

248/530-1880 PHONE 
248/530-1080 FAX 

APPLICATION FOR SPECIAL EVENT PERMIT 
PARKS AND PUBLIC SPACES 

I. EVENT DETAILS

II. EVENT INFORMATION

III. EVENT LAYOUT

IV. SAMPLE LETTER TO NOTIFY AFFECTED PROPERTY OWNERS/BUSINESSES WITHIN 300 FEET
OF EVENT LOCATION

V. INSURANCE INFORMATION
• INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS
• HOLD HARMLESS AGREEMENT

VI. POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

VII. CHECKLIST

VIII. SAMPLE MAPS

IX. DEPARTMENTAL APPROVAL PAGE

TIME LINE AS REQUIRED BY COMMISSION ADOPTED POLICY 
TIME REQUIREMENT 

At least 90 days prior to event • Events  utilizing  City  sidewalks  and/or
streets must meet with the Police 
Department  Special  Events  officer  prior
to submitting this application.

• Application  and  attachments  must  be
submitted

• COVID-19 Health and Safety Plans
At least two (2) weeks prior to 
Commission hearing 

• Letters mailed to affected property
owners/businesses within 300 feet of
event area

• Copy of letter and distribution list
provided to Clerk

Three (3) weeks prior to the event • Final additions/changes must be
submitted for approval.

Two (2) weeks prior to event • All building, electrical, sign, and hydrant
permits must be obtained

• All permit fees must be paid and
insurance certificates must be submitted
and approved

• All peddler/vendors applications must be
submitted for approval

Special Event Application Revised – 02/09/22 

7F2



2 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 
APPLICATION FOR SPECIAL EVENT PERMIT 

PARKS AND PUBLIC SPACES 

Police Department acknowledgement: 

I . EV EN T D ETA I L S
• Incomplete applications will not be accepted.
• Changes in this information must be submitted to the City Clerk, in writing, at

least three weeks prior to the event

FEES: FIRST TIME EVENT: $200.00 
ANNUAL APPLICATION FEE: $165.00 

(Please print clearly or type) 

Date of Application 

Name of Event   
Detailed Description of Event (attach additional sheet if necessary)

Location 
Date(s) of Event  Hours of Event 
Date(s) of Set-up _Hours of Set-up 
NOTE:  No set-up to begin before 7:00 AM, per city ordinance. 
Date(s) of Tear-down Hours of Tear-down 

Organization Sponsoring Event 

Organization Address 
Organization Phone   __ 

Contact Person 
Contact Phone  
Contact Email   

IMPORTANT: EVENTS UTILIZING CITY SIDEWALKS AND/OR STREETS MUST MEET 
WITH POLICE DEPARTMENT SPECIAL EVENT OFFICE TO REVIEW PROPOSED EVENT 

DETAILS PRIOR TO SUBMITTING APPLICATION. 

7F2



3  

I I .  EV EN T I N FOR M A TI O N 
 
1. Organization Type    

(city, non-profit, community group, etc.) 

2. Additional sponsors or participants (Provide name, address, contact person, status, etc. for all 
additional organizations sponsoring your event.)    

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
* 

 

3. *The city encourages collaboration amongst non-profit organizations to bring the 
greatest benefit to the community. Please explain your efforts to do so    

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 
4. Is the event a fundraiser? YES NO 

List beneficiary    
List expected income    Attach information about the beneficiary. 

 
5. First time event in Birmingham? YES NO 

If no, describe   
 
 

 

 
 
6. Total number of people expected to attend per day   

 
 
7. The event will be held on the following City property: (Please list) 

Street(s)    
 
 

 

 

Sidewalk(s)_   
 
 

 

 

Park(s)    
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

7F2



4 

8. Will street closures be required? YES NO
(Police Department acknowledgement prior to submission of application is
required) (initial here)

What parking arrangements will be necessary to accommodate attendance? 
Describe  

9. Will staff be provided to assist with safety, security and maintenance? YES NO
If yes, please provide number of staff to be provided and any specialized training
received.
Describe

10. Will the event require safety personnel (police, fire, paramedics)? YES NO
(Police Department acknowledgement prior to submission of application i s
required.) (initial here)
Describe

11. Will alcoholic beverages be served? YES NO
If yes, additional approval by the City Commission is required, as well as the Michigan Liquor
Control Commission.

12. Will music be provided? YES NO 
 Live  Amplification 
Recorded Time music will begin   
Time music will end   

Loudspeakers 

Location of live band, DJ, loudspeakers, equipment 
must be shown on the layout map. 

7F2



5 

13. Will there be signage in the area of the event? YES NO 
Number of signs/banners

Size of signs/banners   

Submit a photo/drawing of the sign(s). A sign permit may be required. 

14. Will food/beverages/merchandise be sold? YES NO 
• Peddler/vendor permits must be submitted to the Clerk’s Office, at least two

weeks prior to the event.
• You must obtain approval from the Oakland County Health Department for all

food/beverage sales/donations. Contact ehclerk@oakgov.com or 248-535-9612 to
obtain Health Department approval.

• There is a $50.00 application fee for all vendors and peddlers, in addition to the
$10.00 daily fee, per location.

LIST OF VENDORS/PEDDLERS 
(attach additional sheet if necessary) 

VENDOR NAME GOODS TO BE SOLD WATER HOOK- 
UP REQUIRED? 

ELECTRIC 
REQUIRED? 

7F2

mailto:ehclerk@oakgov.com


I I I . EVENT LAYOUT
• Include a map showing the park set up, street closures, and location of each item listed in this

section.
• Include a map and written description of run/walk route and the start/finish area

1. Will the event require the use of any of the following municipal equipment?
(show location of each on map)

EQUIPMENT QUANTITY COST NOTES 

Picnic Tables 6 for $500.00 A request for more than six tables will 
be evaluated based on availability. 

Trash Receptacles $10.00 each 
includes 1 bag 
For additional 
bags, the cost is 
$32/per case.

Trash box placement and removal of 
trash is the responsibility of the event. 
Additional cost could occur if DPS is to 
perform this work. 

Dumpsters 
$350.00/per 
dumpster per 
day 

Includes emptying the dumpster one 
time per day. The City may determine 
the need for additional dumpsters 
based on event requirements. 

Utilities 
(electric) 

# of vendors 
requiring utilities 

Varies Charges according to final requirements 
of event. 

Water/Fire Hydrant $224.75/per 
hydrant 
Includes the use of 
5,000 gallons of 
water. Any 
additional water 
usage will be billed.

Applicant must supply their own means 
of disposal for all sanitary waste water. 
Waste water is NOT allowed to be 
poured into the street or on the grass. 

Meter Bags / Traffic 
Cones / Barricades 

# to be determined by 
the Police Department. 

2. Will the following be constructed or located in the area of the event? YES NO
(show location of each on map) NOTE: Stakes are not allowed.

TYPE QUANTITY SIZE 

Tents/Canopies/Awnings 
(A permit is required for tents over 400 square feet) 
Portable Toilets 
Rides 
Displays 
Vendors 
Temporary Structure (must attach a photo) 

Other (describe) 

6 

7F2



7 

SIGNATURE OF APPLICANT REQUIRED 

EVENT NAME 
EVENT DATE  

The Birmingham City Commission shall have sole and complete discretion in deciding whether to 
issue a permit. Nothing contained in the City Code shall be construed to require the City Commission 
to issue a permit to an applicant and no applicant shall have any interest or right to receive a permit 
merely because the applicant has received a permit in the past. 

As the authorized agent of the sponsoring organization, I hereby agree that this organization shall 
abide by all conditions and restrictions specific to this special event as determined by the City 
administration and will comply with all local, state and federal rules, regulations and laws. 

Signature Date 

By providing your e-mail to the City, you agree to receive news and notifications from the City.  
If you do not wish to receive these messages, you may unsubscribe at any time. 

IV . S A M P L E L ETTER TO N O TI FY A N Y A FFECTED
P R O P ER TY / B U S I NES S O W N ER S

• Organizer must notify all potentially affected residential property and business owners of the
date and time this application will be considered by the City Commission. (Sample letter
attached to this application.)

• Attach a copy of the proposed letter to this application. The letter will be reviewed and
approved by the Clerk’s Office. The letter must be distributed at least two weeks prior to the
Commission meeting.

• A copy of the letter and the distribution list must be submitted to the Clerk’s Office at least
two weeks prior to the Commission meeting.

• If street closures are necessary, a map must be included with the letter to the affected
property/business owners.

7F2



8 

SAM PLE N OTI FI CATION LETTER 

SPECIAL EVENT REQUEST NOTIFICATION LETTER 

DATE: 

TO:    
Residential Property or Business Owner 

Address 

The Birmingham City Code requires that we receive approval from the Birmingham City 
Commission to hold the following special event. The code further requires that we notify 
any property owners or business owners that may be affected by the special event of 
the date and time that the City commission will consider our request so that an 
opportunity exists for comments prior to this approval. 

EVENT INFORMATION 
NAME OF EVENT:   

LOCATION:   
DATE(S) OF EVENT HOURS OF EVENT 

BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF EVENT/ACTIVITY: 

DATE(S) OF SET-UP HOURS OF SET-UP  
DATE(S) OF TEAR-DOWN HOURS OF TEAR-DOWN 

DATE OF CITY COMMISSION MEETING: 

The city commission meets in room 205 of the Municipal Building at 151 Martin at 
7:30 pm. You may also attend virtually through ZOOM: 
https://zoom.us.com/j/655079760 Meeting ID: 655 079 760. A complete copy 
of the application to hold this special event is available for your review at the 
City Clerk’s Office (248/530-1880). Log on to www.bhamgov.org/events for a 
complete list of special events. 

EVENT ORGANIZER: 

ADDRESS: 

PHONE: 

FOR QUESTIONS ON DAY OF EVENT, CONTACT:  

A map showing street closures must be attached. 

7F2

https://zoom.us.com/j/655079760


9  

V.  I N S U R A N C E I N FO R M A TI O N 
 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
 
For most types of activities, the City requires a certificate of insurance and a signed hold-harmless 
agreement on the event sponsor’s letterhead. Please submit a copy of your standard certificate of 
insurance with your completed application, which will be reviewed for compliance with the City’s 
insurance requirements. 

 
Following are the general insurance requirements for events held on City property (items A thru I). If 
alcoholic beverages are to be served, you will need to add the coverage described in item J. The 
required limits and conditions may vary depending upon the scope of the event and the organization of 
the event sponsor. You will be notified of additional insurance requirements, if applicable, upon 
completion of the review process. 

 
A. Workers’ Compensation Insurance. Workers’ compensation insurance, including employers’ 

liability coverage, in accordance with all applicable statutes of the state. 
 

B. Commercial General Liability (CGL) Insurance. Commercial general liability insurance on an 
“occurrence basis,” with limits of liability not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence combined 
single limit, personal injury, bodily injury and property damage. Coverage shall include broad 
form general liability extensions or equivalent. 

 
C. Motor Vehicle Liability Insurance. Motor vehicle liability insurance, including all applicable no- 

fault coverages, with limits of liability of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence combined 
single limit bodily injury and property damage. Coverage shall include all owned vehicles, all 
non-owned vehicles, and all hired vehicles. 

 
D. Additional Insured. Commercial general liability insurance and motor vehicle liability insurance 

as described above shall include an endorsement stating the following shall be A d d i t i o n al  
I n s u r e d s: The City of Birmingham , including all elected and appointed officials, all 
employee and volunteers, all boards, commissions and/ or authorities and board 
members, including employees and volunteers thereof. This coverage shall be 
primary to any other coverage that m ay be available to the additional insured, 
whether any other available coverage by primary, contributing or excess. 

7F2



10  

E. Cancellation Notice. Thirty days advance written notice of insurance cancellation,  non- 
renewal and/or reduction or material change in coverage shall be provided to the City. Notice 
of cancellation, material change or reduction shall be attached to the certificate of insurance, 
or otherwise evidenced as in effect under the policy listed. 

 
F. Proof of Insurance Coverage. The City shall be provided with certificates of insurance 

evidencing the coverages outlined above. 
 

G. Expiration. If any of the above coverages expire, renewal certificates and/or policies must be 
provided to the City at least ten days prior to the expiration date. 

 
H. Acceptability of Insurance Company. All coverages shall be with insurance carriers licensed to 

do business in the state. All coverages shall be with carriers acceptable to the City. 

 
I. Hold-Harmless Agreement. The hold-harmless agreement should be submitted on the 

applicant’s letterhead or stationery and signed by an authorized representative of the 
organization. (See attached) 

 
If alcoholic beverages are to be served, you will need to add the coverage described in item J, below: 

 
 

J. Liquor Liability Insurance: The event sponsor shall procure and maintain for this event liquor 
liability insurance with limits of liability of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence for each 
covered location. The liquor liability insurance as described above shall include an endorsement 
naming the City of Birmingham as additional insured. 

7F2



11  

The following language must be submitted on the applicant’s letterhead and signed by an 
authorized representative of the organization. 

 
 

 

 
 

HOLD-HARMLESS AGREEMENT 
 
 

“To the fullest extent permitted by law, the (applicant/organization name) and any 
entity or person for whom the (applicant/organization name) is legally liable, agrees to 
be responsible for any liability, defend, pay on behalf of, indemnify, and hold harmless the 
City of Birmingham, its elected and appointed officials, employees and volunteers and 
others working on behalf of the City of Birmingham against any and all claims, demands, 
suits, or loss, including all costs and reasonable attorney fees connected therewith, and for 
any damages which may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from the City of 
Birmingham, its elected and appointed officials, employees, volunteers or others working 
on behalf of the City of Birmingham, by reason of personal injury, including bodily injury 
and death and/or property damage, including loss of use thereof, which arises out of or is 
in any way connected or associated with this activity/event. Such responsibility shall not 
be construed as liability for damage caused by or resulting from the sole act or omission of 
the City of Birmingham, its elected or appointed officials, employees, volunteers or others 
working on behalf of the City of Birmingham.” 

 
 
 
 

 

Applicant’s signature Date 

7F2



12  

VI .  P O L I CI ES A N D P R O C ED U R ES 
 
 
1. The City Commission will have sole and complete discretion in deciding whether to issue a 

permit for special events in parks and other open spaces. 
 
2. The City of Birmingham will determine a capacity of Shain Park for public events based upon 

the wear and tear, recovery of grass and plants, impact on local businesses, institutions 
(Library, Community House) and residents. 

 
3. The order of event priority for the allocation of the right to utilize parks and open spaces for 

special events shall be guided by the following: 
a. civic events 

b. cultural, education or social events, 
c. entertainment and amusement events, 
d. promotional events that benefit the City’s image 
e. income-generating events, both for and non-profit 

 
 
4. Prioritization among sponsors shall be guided by the following: 

a. Programs, festivals and events sponsored by the City or the PSD 
b. Community groups (defined as a non-profit organization whose members consist of at 

least 75% City residents, or 50% City residents, and 75% Birmingham Public School 
District residents.) 

c. Non-profit organizations and public agencies 
d. Commercial organizations holding non-promotional events that do not charge a fee or 

generate revenue 
e. Commercial organizations within Birmingham 
f. Commercial organizations outside Birmingham 

 

5. Applications and fee must be submitted at least ninety (90) days prior to the date of the 
proposed event. The non-refundable application fee is due when the  application  is 
submitted. The applicant is required to meet with the Police Department’s Special Event 
officer in advance of application submission to discuss the proposed event regarding run/walk 
route, proposed road closures (if any), use of intersections/sidewalks/streets, number of 
Police and/or volunteers needed, and potential costs if City safety personnel are needed. 

7F2



13  

6. Application must include a detailed map of the event site. The application must include the 
location of the following if applicable: 

• street closures (Police Department input required prior to 
submission of application) 

• tents / canopies 
• tables 
• signs 
• trash receptacles / dumpsters 
• barricades 
• audio equipment / band 
• rides / inflatables 
• vendor booths 
• displays 
• portable toilets 
• layout of start/finish area (if on public property) 
• temporary structures or displays of any kind (picture required) 

 

7. The ordinance requires a permit fee in an amount to be determined by the City administration 
to reimburse the City for the costs incurred in providing services for the event including but 
not limited to police, fire, sanitation services or arranging for traffic alterations. 

 
8. All permit fees (building, sign, electrical, hydrant), event permit fee, and all insurance 

certifications must be obtained/submitted at least two weeks prior to the event. 
 
9. Applicant must notify all potentially affected property owners within 300 feet of the event 

location and advise them of the date and time the application will be considered by the City 
Commission, the date and time of the proposed event, and a description of the activity. 
Applicant must provide a copy of the letter and distribution list to the Clerk’s Office two 
weeks prior to the commission hearing.  (Sample letter included with this application.) 

 
10. All vendors/peddlers applications must be submitted two weeks prior to the event. 

 
 
11. All vendors and event participants are required to park in the parking structures. 

 
 
12. Any additions/changes must be submitted for approval at least three weeks prior to the 

event.  Substantial changes/additions to an event will require commission approval. 

7F2



 

VII .  . C H EC KL I S T 
 

ATTACHMENTS TO INCLUDE WITH SPECIAL EVENT APPLICATION 
 

Completed special event application               
 Application fee (payable to “City of Birmingham”) 
 Map of event area detailing 

• street closures (Police Department input required 
submission of application) 

prior to 

o 
o 
o 
o 
o 
o 
o 
o 
o 
o 
o 
o 

tents / canopies 
tables 
signs 
trash receptacles / dumpsters 
barricades 
audio equipment / band 
rides / inflatables 
vendor booths 
displays 
portable toilets 
layout of start/finish area (if on public property) 
temporary structures or displays of any kind (picture required) 

  

 

Map of the route(s) 
Written route(s) 
Photo of display or temporary structure 
Sample of signs/banners – including size 
Hold Harmless Agreement (signed, on event sponsor’s letterhead) 
Insurance certificate 

 Letter to affected property owners (must include map of event area or route)*   
 List of addresses the letter was distributed  (includes all residential and businesses 
in the event area, along the route, and affected by street closures)*  

 List of vendors 
If fundraiser:  Information about the beneficiary 

 
*Letter to affected property owners and list of addresses must be submitted to the clerk’s 
office at least two weeks prior to the city commission meeting. 

 
OFFICE USE ONLY 
Received by    
Date    
License Number     

14 
The above highlighted items must be submitted by    
Date of Commission meeting    

7F2



 

 
 

Shain Park Map7F2



 

 7F2



Birmingham, MI
Residential Square Foot Growth

- Increasing Demands on Infrastructure –

Jay R. Shell, Birmingham Farms Neighborhood Association

3/24/2023 19A1



Increasing Demands on Infrastructure

• Electrical Grid – increasing frequency and duration of electrical 
outages

• Sewer

• Water

3/24/2023 29A1



What This Is Not About

• DTE and regulation of the utility

• Sewer or water but concept applies to both

3/24/2023 39A1



What This Is About

• City of Birmingham continuing to approve residential building permits 
while basic infrastructure services become more fragile

• Problems:
• Safety

• Food Loss

• Disruption

• Unreliability of a basic service

3/24/2023 49A1



Square Foot Growth Example
-simple ‘bathroom’ analysis:
South Side of Northlawn between Southfield Road and Rouge River

1994

• 14 homes

• Approximately 32 bathrooms

2023

• 17 homes

• Approximately 71 bathrooms
• 122% growth in bathrooms

• At least comparable growth in 
total residential square foot

* And people are not just building bathrooms
– a lot of residential square foot being added throughout Birmingham neighborhoods

3/24/2023 59A1



Unsustainable Math Equation

Feet

Square

Residential

Electrical Grid

TIME -->

3/24/2023 69A1



Questions

• Can City provide total residential square foot permitted growth over 
last 25 years?

• Can City provide residential property tax base growth over last 25 
years from the approved permitted growth?

• Can City provide total investment in residential electrical 
infrastructure over last 25 years to support the permitted residential 
square foot growth?
• Water services?
• Sewer services?
• Do not include downtown business district infrastructure rip and replace 

spend  

3/24/2023 79A1



������������	
��� ��������������������������������� !"��#$���$�������$�������%��&����'$���(���������&$)��$��)���$�*$�

���%)�������+�����$+,��������-�.�/�01���$$�2�234&�$�1%�4)$��,�1���4%$���)���1�)�����23.3�	�
���5	5��5�4)��%�1�)�����23.3�	�
���5	5��5� ��5

6789�:;<=>?@�A?B;<=>?@CB>?@=DEFDG=HIJKL�MNOL�P8�?G8�QD@@;RR8K�RD�S@TGDE;<=�U87;?B;7;RVW�S<E8XR@8<RX�?G8�Y8VND@�Z?G[\X�]����0-)̂ (�����&+���_ ����������2���.��������.5���!�����������))����],����,����))���̂ (�����&+���_�� $%����$���̀$��)�]�$%����$���$��)̂ (�����&+���_��a$����$��b#����$�0$��]c$����$�+�����$�0$�̂ ��$$�$���+,��_���������$�d��(���]�d��(��̂ (�����&+���_�������$�����$�)$�%-)�����)��-�����-���)�,�����$����������������-���$()��$+������������������$���$))��$����������������e8<<;f8G�P>;RR8?[8G�]c$����$�+�����$�0$�̂ ��$$�$���+,��_ ��$������������2���.���������	
���g-(c$,��� !"��#$���$�������$�������%��&����'$���(���������&$)��$��)���$�*$�!���!������0-)�]����0-)̂ (�����&+���_P8�?G8�QD@@;RR8K�RD�S@TGDE;<=�U87;?B;7;RVWS<E8XR@8<RX�?G8�Y8V����$,$����$$0)���-���������������$�)���$������,��������,$����)$��$)���)$&$�$��$���$��$&$��)����,�-������-������$)���,$�)��������	.��$��)�������$��(�����$�&��)���)���������5	h��%������)�����,��,�-)$��-���$�)�������-)���)�����-��,-)���$�)������)$�%��$�+�#������)���,$,��)��$�$����i��)����,j�)�������)�����($,��$���$�-��$�,��$������������$�)$&$�����������)��$��������)�,����$������-)������-�������)��-,�-�$������%��������c-)�+�k��($����������$�$����$� !"��$�����$�)��,$�$����%�����l$�������)$����$,�$�(����$�%��$���-���$)��-�������$��$,$�����&$)����$m��$�$��$���$��$&$��)+k-��,-)���$�)�����,���-����$)�������$�)$�&$��$)$�&$�($��$�%$�������,$�������-��$�$,���,���������� !"�"�$���+�#$�0�������)��������$�$���$�����,,$%����$��$)%��)�(������������0�������$��$�������&$)�����-������������%��&$���)��$���(����������%$�������,$������-��,-)���$�)+�#$���)����������$m%�$))��-��%����-���������-�$����$�,�������-����������-�%����$�)�������-���))�)���,$�����,��%$��������-�������$��$,$����$)��������$�����)+�n�-��,����(���������)�,����,�������$�%����-)�%��&��$��-��,-)���$�)����-��,��)���-$��)����������$�)��$����$))��$)������$)�-�,$)�����$��$���0$������$)���$�%��$���)�)��$�������o-�,0����)�%�))�(�$+
p

9A2 



������������	
��� ��������������������������������� !"��#$���$�������$�������%��&����'$���(���������&$)��$��)���$�*$�

���%)�������+�����$+,��������-�.�/�01���$$�2�234&�$�1%�4)$��,�1���4%$���)���1�)�����23.3�	�
���5	5��5�4)��%�1�)�����23.3�	�
���5	5��5� ��5

67�89:;7<=�>=?@AB@?@CDE�F=�GHIC�JKK=?=;AC=8L<=IC9=LCI�@LC7�CM=�N;@O
 !"�"�$,���,���$)��$�������PP�!�$&���Q�-$���$,$�����&�)��$��Q��)�������������$���),-))���)�������$��)�����)���������$�,�����%��&$�$�$,���,�$���(�����������-��,-)���$�)+�!��)$$��������,�������%��&$��%$�������,$��$��-)����&$)�������$��������)�$������-�%�,$���$����$�������,���$���$$R%$��$�,����)$&$�$��$���$�+�!��������)���$��$$��)-%%�����������$���,�������-(��,�S$�&�,$�����))�������)��0$����$�)���� !"T)��$�-�������������)+�����$(�-����������)��$�����$���$���������$���,�������-(��,�S$�&�,$�����))�������������$��$&�$������-�(�)$�$�$,���,����$)+�#$�0��������������$�����)����%������$�����$�$,���,���������$��)���)���$��-)�����$&$���������$�,��������0$�$�$,���,�����$���(�$�����$)���$�������$��������������������(�����+��-�������$��-��,-��$���%�,$�����&$)��$��)������$�$�$,���,��������)���$��$����%��&$�$��)������-�,-)���$�)������(�)$����$)��$���������$����������)��,$��.�.���$��$$����������$����)%$$��-%���$)$���&$)��$��)����,�����-$��$�-,������$���$U-$�,������-�����������-���$)��������)�-%�����$�������$��),����)������(-)��$))$)+V9A;C�N;@O�JHC79AC@7L#$��$$��������&$������-����-��������������$�$�$,���,�������������	����3��$��)�W���,��,����-����$��������$�-,$���$��-�����������-���$)�(�����������-)����$���-�$�%��$�������$�������-���������-���$+6;==�6;@99@LX#$��-)��,�����-$��-����&$)��$������$����,$����$$���������+�#$�0����������$���Y�����������$����$��-��,-)���$�)�)%$��������-��%��$���)��-$�����$$����$��$�$�,$+������$�)���$�$���$$�����������)�-%�������$��,-)���$�)$R%$��$�,$���3.�2.Z���%��&$�$�������&$������$���(�����+[;=<=LCAC@<=�GA@LC=LALK=

9A2 



������������	
��� ��������������������������������� !"��#$���$�������$�������%��&����'$���(���������&$)��$��)���$�*$�

���%)�������+�����$+,��������-�.�/�01���$$�2�234&�$�1%�4)$��,�1���4%$���)���1�)�����23.3�	�
���5	5��5�4)��%�1�)�����23.3�	�
���5	5��5� ��5

#$��-)��,�����-$�%�$&$�����&$������$���,$�����-%���������$�$6�)���������)��-,�-�$�7�)%$,���,������%��$)��,��))����)��(��,$)�����$)���������$�$8-�%�$����������0$)���$�$�$,���,���)�)�$�����$��$���(�$������$)���$��+����.����������)$���)��,����$��$��,��,-��)���$�$� !"�,��%�$�$�����)���%$�����,-)$�������$���,$��������0��,-)���$�)�$6%$��$�,$����5.�2.9��%��&$�$�������&$������$���(�����+:;<=>?@�AB;�CD>@�EF@�GF@;DHDI=F@>FH#$��$$�����,�����-$���$�,��%�$�$��$(-���������$����$��%������)�����-��������������$����$)���+����)��$���)���,$)���$�$������0$)�)$�)$���$�%������%-�)-$���$�-��$����-����������-����)���(-�����)�)�$�+
J KBEA�LEF�MI=�NIO!�$���,�������-(��,�P$�&�,$�����))����������������)$��$)��������������$$����)������0$�%-(��,�,���$��)����%��$���-���$)��������$��$,$������$��)����)+�#$�($��$&$�$������������)��0$����$�)��)�&����������%��&�����$��$���(����������-������+�Q)�)-,����$���������$�)-�$��������-���$�������$��(�-����$)$�%-(��,����-�)�������&$���$��%%���-��������%����,�%��$+������0�������$��$����$�,����$��&$������,,$�$���������$���&$)��$���������-�������$$�)������-��,-)���$�)�����-��,��)���-$��)����$)$�&$������$���(�$%��$�+��!�$���,�������-(��,�P$�&�,$�����))���������������������%$�)�����������)�������,���.��)��$����)���&���-��������������$$�����������,����+� RESTUIF�VIWF�XE??�IF�YEDSB�Z[\�Z[Z]���..�%+�+�������.�%+�+Q�$��,������$����̂�����"&$���$��$�����#+�_��)���P�+�̀,0)������� N;ED<IDF�VIWF�XE??�IF�YEDSB�Z[\�Z[Z]	��.�%+�+������..�%+�+����)���a����P,�����Q-������-����..������'��� $��(�������� b>DA=E?�VIWF�XE??�IF�YEDSB�Zc\�Z[Z]3�..�%+�+������..�%+�+��,0��$�$�������$�$&$����$)$�&������%��$+d�e�fghi�jk�lmnjgoglmjp�jqnkrsq�tgonkukvj�wpmxu�ygff�zp�lkujp{�ofkupn�jk�jqp{m|�kv�jqp�}gnjrmf�jkyh�qmff�kh�jqp�p}phj~u�ypzlmsp��#����$��,���$��)���)������($�)-(����$��(����������"6$,-��&$�P$,�$�������,�������-(��,�P$�&�,$�����))������+�+���6��.��������)��������5�
.
����(��$���������%),$��,0$�)���,�����+��&+

9A2 



������������	
��� ��������������������������������� !"��#$���$�������$�������%��&����'$���(���������&$)��$��)���$�*$�

���%)�������+�����$+,��������-�.�/�01���$$�2�234&�$�1%�4)$��,�1���4%$���)���1�)�����23.3�	�
���5	5��5�4)��%�1�)�����23.3�	�
���5	5��5� 5�5

678879�:;<�7=�>7?@A8�BCD@A�E7�>EAF�GHDAECDI���J�-��$,$�&$�����)��$))��$�($,�-)$���-���$�)-(),��($�������$�K����$�K��-%)�L $%����$��M$��)L����-%+!��-�)-(),��($���������)����-%�����)��%��$,$�&����$����)����������)$������$���������$%����$���$��)N-�)-(),��($O(�����&+���+!��&�$�����)���),-))���������$��$(�&�)������%)������-%)+�����$+,�����(�����&+�������)�����$%����$���$��)�PQ�QR�S0�TQK""�2U�	#P'V&W��V�	!XS�Y�VZ,��XU�W� ZR�PW5.����+�����+,��+

9A2 



������������	
��� ������������������������������� �!�����"�������� #$��������������%���&�

���#!�������'������'$�������� �(�)�*+�����&,�,
-.��/+#�-!���$�+���-#����!��&+�!�����,
�
�((0����
�,,��-&!��+�-!��#�+�!�����,
�
�((0��1 ���

2345�6789:;<�=;>789:;<?>:;<9@AB@C9DE4FG4HI�I@�>4�@8�;8�GJK@<789�L44I789�2948M;N@<�L;COGH�P����* !Q"�����.'���R S ������������(����������0���S���%��T���������P�"������Q"�����.'���RS��!�!�� �&�"���&&�&� �&�������U���V�����$��� ��$�����!'�����������W��/��&�&���!!�������������W�����X;Y�Z:433�P[��'!����Q�����'$��R\�����S ��������	���(��������00]��V "[�$���������� �!�����"�������� #$��������������%���&�S���S������* !�P����* !Q"�����.'���R$����������!!����P$����$����!!���Q"�����.'���R��\�#�������̂��&!�P&�#����������&!Q"�����.'���RS���*��� �S��'��/� �&�! ���!���#�������/� �&�"������"�!��/������#��$��&'��S��!���.�!�����$����!!�����!�������$�#�����/����/��/� �&��*�����#��!������&�!�� �&���! ��������/����&� #�������$�����/����������.���������##��� ��������#��&���� ��� �!����!����&.��$�'��#���������.��/�� ��#��!���������&�����/�������������"�����&�"���&���T�����&�����&������/��!�� �&�"�������#�!��������!��&�����/���������� �!��/����� ��#��!�������������$��&�"��������&���������������������%#������&�$����!!�����������'_������*��/�������!�!� �&!�������"��'S���*��� �U����'�V����V�������������������̀������	���(����������	
�%���S������* !�P����* !Q"�����.'���R�/�������'�V������̀ ���������!��������$����$� &�������,�����&�����%#�����������$� &��������&���&������	��'��a� ����/��$�������$������������������!���&�#��!������ ��$��$���!���� �!����!� �&�������%���&��������������&����!���̀#����������� "��$�����������!������������%���&�'��S��!�����&��������##���!����������������������!��� �/��������"��/����������������������!�����������������������!#��*'��a� ��!�$��&��#������!����#��!����������&������&�/���������� �!��/����� �!����!���&�"��#��$�&� �&�������%���&��������������&�����!���� ��$�����!'��b���������$����!!����&��!�������#�$�����������������"�$*���&�������$��.��!������ �&���������!�������&����������������$�������/������ � �&������ ��$�����!�"�$� !����������!!�����!���&!�����������.����&��������������$��!�&����� ��!#�$���$�� �!����!'������������$�!������!�#�!!�"����������������������"���������&����!����������������$��#�������#���'������#�����!����#!��� �&�$�&��/������&���/����##���$��������������!!����/������ ��$��$���!'��S������* !�����������W��/��&�&���!!�������������W�����X;Y�Z:433�P[��'!����Q�����'$��R\�������������������(��������	
]��V "[�$���W/&����� �!�����"�������� #$��������������%���&�S���S������* !�P����* !Q"�����.'���R����� ��!!�!������������� !������������̀ ���!!������������$����&��)U%a�����������W��/��&�&���!!�������������W�����c378I@8�6;334C�P$������Q"�����	"���'$��R\�������������������(��������00]��
9A2



������������	
��� ������������������������������� �!�����"�������� #$��������������%���&�

���#!�������'������'$�������� �(�)�*+�����&,�,
-.��/+#�-!���$�+���-#����!��&+�!�����,
�
�((0����
�,,��-&!��+�-!��#�+�!�����,
�
�((0��1 ���

2 "3�$���������� �!�����"�������� #$��������������%���&�4���5���2�����63��'!����7�����'$��8��'�2�����4���*��� �����$�#��������������!������'���!�����$����$��������������4������* !9����* !7"�����.'���:�����������������������������#����!'��!���������������;����������������(���������0<���5���2�����63��'!����7�����'$��8�/�����4��������������=���!�>����"�����&�%!!�$��������!���� �!��������"���&&�&������� � �����������!!����������'4�#�$��������������������!�&�������2� ����=����?��/�����&���!���#�$���������&����&!�����@���2��.�$�!�����!�� $� ��A�! $���!����$���$���%!����!�&����������������"�����&��!!�$���������#�������!�������"�����#��!��������������#�!�!�!���������!������ �!����!�����.����������������������������������/���!'��%�&�B������� �����"��!�C�����!�#�������3���������������$� &����������!#� !�!'����!���������*��/�� � ������������#����!'4���*��� �5����'�2�������!�&���������������=���!�>����"�����&�%!!�$���������D� ���$��.�&����!���!!����"�$� !���� �����! "!$��"�&��������?������?�� #!�E��������!!���E���� #'4�� �! "!$��"����������!���� #���&�!��#���$��.���������!����������!��&�������������$����$����!!���C �! "!$��"�7"�����.'���'4��.��/����!�&�!$ !!�����������/�"�.�!������#!������ #!'������'$�����"�����.'����&��!��&�$����$����!!����%�"��	F(�2���GH�I4�@H�IF0�@JH��&��/��3*�H�I�,KD2�BL"M%�NOH	(����'�����'$��'

9A2



��������������	
 ������������������
��
������������� ��!��"��#����$%��"���������&��

�%'�������(�����"()��������*�&�+�,-.��""����/01�"�-%0'"��)�-���0%"�����-��"�����.�/./�/23.&�2&���3.0'��%�-�'����.�/./�/23.&�2&���3. .�4

5678�9:;<=>?�@>A:;<=>?BA=>?<CDECF<GHIJK�LMNK�O:;P7F�QPCF?�RSJ>P7�T�UVUWVUXUY.��"''��"MC?�Z>F[\]�̂���,*'_ �̀����1(���a �*"��
��������&�������.��	
����b�"c���������̂�̀������_ �̀����1(���ab�����)���*��)����'�������������������"���"''��"����������������d>e�Q=766�̂f��('�"��_�����()��a��"����*��
�������&�����..�3/gb
#*̀f")��h"���� ��!��"��#����$%��"���������&������i"'��"�	�"��),�̂i%�"��),_ �̀����1(���a�)��b�"c���"��
�"��̂��"c��"�_�����()��a��b�"c������j����'�̂�,�����'��_�����()��a���������"�b'��"����̂���_�%%���'"��*���()��a��k��'����̂,��'�̀���"._�����()��a��
����i��*"�̂���"��'_)��)�'(�"a��	��j*��"'�̂��*��"'_�����()��a��l*����k""�"��̂f��,�&.3_�����()��a���"1� ��),'���̂ "̀1"��),'��_)��)�'(�"a��m"���"m"')�����̂�"')����������_)��)�'(�"a��i"'��"�
���̂'"���*����'_�����()��a������
��,*'�̂���,*'_ �̀����1(���a� ),"���l����̂l"),"�_ �̀����1(���ai"'��"�n*��)��������"���'����"�����"�������"�������)���"�'(	�"�'"�,�����������m�1"���"����'�on���"���"���')��"�����"c�''������"'��"�'����*����"��*����)�������"1"��%�"�����'�'���������*�������'�*)*�"������"�����%���������'�����"''�����"c%")"���"��1"������)��"�'"�1�)"'(����"��"��"��1"������"�")��)����'���%�����*���"p*��"�"�����������"'��"������*��)���*���(��b������'�)��%�""��*��))"%�̀�"������*��)����"��"�'��%��������������"''��"�1*��"��̀���������'���)�"�'��������*��)���*����̀")�*'"�����"*��̀�"���"1"��%�"�(	*����*%������"�����"�)����"̀�'�"�����'�����'�����������"''�����"��''*"(b'����"���̀��������''�)������	�"'��"������%�������"�)���")�������*��)�����1"���"���������̀"�%*�'*�����*��"���)���'�����*��)�����1"���"�(���'"�����������f�����"�%�"�'"�)���"���(h"����'�l���h(�#�"��#"�����������	���"n��
�������&������4�3/�b
��i"'��"�	�"��),�̂i%�"��),_ �̀����1(���a����"�m�������������l���
��"������̀�*��"��� �'�������������������*"'�����������"��������"�����
����"�q'�����)"(�����'�%�''������������'����"�"�����������������)���*��)��������"�
*'"*�������������"����"��'������������"�̀ "�'q�"�"�"�)"(���"�)���"�'������*��r�"%������r���1"�̀""���������"�����"�����
����"�q'�����)"�����)���'��"��%%��%���"�%��)"������*���1��)"���*��)��)"��'(���"�"��'���'��������������̀�*�)���)������ q'��"%�"'"���1"������*����"��l"����"��!���","�������"�'����*%��"(�j"��)���)�����������������*���''"�����'��f"����"�(���"�,"�_�""�"���()��(����,���*�i"'��"n��!"���
���.���&�����.&�.�g	
�l���#�"���̂f��('�"��_�����()��a����"�n��̀"������������"���̀�����������&&����"'�����������%��"������3����'��"���"��""�����������������������"��"�'��%��'���̀�����%�)��������"��"�'%"����������'����������'�����%������"%��)"��"��*��"�������'�*)*�"����)�*�����"�")��)��������'�*)*�"��������"��*��%�"��"��'��������������%��1"�"�'���"�)����*"����''*"*̀�������%"���'������"��"%��)"�"�����"c�'�������"'������*)������"�����"'���)�"�'�����"�"�")��)����"����
9A2



��������������	
 ������������������
��
������������� ��!��"��#����$%��"���������&��

�%'�������(�����"()��������*�&�+�,-.��""����/01�"�-%0'"��)�-���0%"�����-��"�����.�/./�/23.&�2&���3.0'��%�-�'����.�/./�/23.&�2&���3. ��4

����"����"����������"������'�*)*�"���5'��*"������%���)�1"�"�")��)��������'�*)*�"��"%��)"�"���'�"�)�*���"��'*��"��������')*''"�������"����"���������"���5������'(�� �")��)����*��"'���"��������������5")��"����"��"6*"���������������(��7"'��"�'���"��"������"������')�*���"�(�8��#"�����������	���"9���"5������&��������&��	
��:"'��"�	�"��),�;:%�"��),<5�����1(���=����"��>��"1"����"���"�������'�5""�����,������*���?"�)���*��)����'����"�%��"'��"�'�*��"�'�����"���)��'������")��� @'��"'%��'"����"��"���''*"'����������))�*�'�����'%������"A"��"���*��"'(�B�*�����������'�������������"�%�*�(�C�'���%�"�'"�5"�����"�����"�������'����"����%��"����"�"5'�"�������)*'"��������������5�*�%��"���*��"'(�	�"�'"��"��"�,���������*���1"�����6*"'���'��5�*���'���������,���*D:"'��"������������������"���"''��"����������������EFGGHIFJ�KLHMMFNOFJ�;P"����"�(���"�,"�<�""�"���()��=��"���*"���"5������&�����.����	
#*5P")���� ��!��"��#����$%��"���������&����������
��,*'�;���,*'<5�����1(���=!��"��#����C�"��QFRS�TUV�TWTX�YZ[NMF�\������������������,���*�������*��)����*"��%��"�)"(�>"�"��'���*�������*%��"(]FNĴ_�̀Ua�bI�cdeMbfFJe�gIIFhMF[�R_�iFhFGM�jhF�kMbJfiFeMbJF[C'�������(�(��������� ���'��"'��"�����"�����/.2�&&&�����"/�&�&&&�)*'��"�'���%�)"��5���"��")"���)"�'���(
�����"���������*��"'���"�l'����"'�m��"�"���������'���"���*��"'���")�����������"�������)*'��"�'(�$���,"�����"���*��"'���"�")�"�'�)����"'��"�%��"�����*���"�'�����)"��l'����"'m��"6*��"�)�"�'����1"�������%��)"���%��)"�������"''�"�)���*��"�����)�������,"���"���"����"'��"�'��"��(��B"'"�������� �����*�)"���������*����)�5����)�"������n�2������5"�%%��"����)*'��"�'�����"A%"��"�)"����%��"���*��"��������"����4/�)��'")*�1"���*�'��*"����"��"5�*����������)"�'���(�o���)����'��"6*��"������"�)*'��"�p'�%������")"�1"�)�"��(��������,"�*%��4&����'������"�)�"������%%"������)*'��"��5���'(�
9A2



��������������	
 ������������������
��
������������� ��!��"��#����$%��"���������&��

�%'�������(�����"()��������*�&�+�,-.��""����/01�"�-%0'"��)�-���0%"�����-��"�����.�/./�/23.&�2&���3.0'��%�-�'����.�/./�/23.&�2&���3. ��4

5'������'�����������')������*��"'��"'*�����������"��"6�*���������)"�'������1"�6""���"'��"�(� 789:;:<8=<�>;=<89�?@=A;<;@=:�B8CD;=�D�EDF<@9G"'"��������)��6���������������������)��)�������'����")"����'����*��'"�1�)"���"������)��)�"�"��)����"���������,����)�������'�����*����"���)�"�'������"'*�"������"���*��"'��������"�����'(��"'%�"��"'"����H'��"��"��)�������'��)�"�'�)����*"�������,���*����"�)��),����"'��"�%��"��������)*'��"�'����")"���'�I*�),������'��"����'�%�''�6�"(�G"'"����H'��"��"��)�������'�)�"�"���"��')������*��"'�����)��"���"�����"''����������'�I*�),�������'��"����'�%�''�6�"(�#��"���"����'����%�%����������������� �"�%���""'�������"���)�"�'�"'%")�������'�"J��*'����'"'���(��!"��"�����")�''�����)�"����������'�6*������������'�����*����"��"�����(�	�"�'"���"����'����������)�������'�����'�����*��"'�������%��)"''���'�)�"�'���"�*��6�"���'��"����%"��"�6*),"�*),'�������������'(�7K8D:8�:LD98�;=M@9CD<;@=�;=�<L;:�=8N:K8<<89�N;<L�O@P9F@=:<;<P8=<:Q
R 7K8D:8�S88T�UDM8<O�V@T�@M�W;=A
X�Y"%����*��"'������������"'�6��)��������&&�3���3�3���)��),����6"����1�'������*��"(�""�"���()������*'�����"��� � �"������6��"��%%(�����"��%��"�����"'�����6"�����"��6���"6��'��'��6"�)��"�*���'���*��"���*'��"(�X�#������"�'���6*'��"����Z�2��""[���������������"��%��"�����"'�������H��*)�����������"������6"����)���)�����\������'�)��'��"���"���1"���������"��*'(]]]]�

9A2



��������������	
 ������������������
��
������������� ��!��"��#����$%��"���������&��

�%'�������(�����"()��������*�&�+�,-.��""����/01�"�-%0'"��)�-���0%"�����-��"�����.�/./�/23.&�2&���3.0'��%�-�'����.�/./�/23.&�2&���3. 3�4

5� 1"����"�'��*�����'���""���"�������������"�����)�*�����%"�����)�����)�"'��"�"��'�������"��%��"�����"�����"���"�(�67�879�:;7<<=>??7@�:AB9C78�9AD>EFFF�F�5�G"1"��*'"���%���H�"��"�"�������'��"������"����H*'��"''(���"��')��H�������I��"�����)��)���H"��"����(�J""%����*'��"�����������������'���������'��'���"��*�"'����K�)��"���(:LMNO�PQRQ�ST�;QUTRS�VW�7XSVYQ�TR�6TZW�@MRQ
[ @QVS\QR�7XSLTTO
[ <SV]�@VR̂ �VS�V�_MN\MYVW�@VR̂ MWY�:QWSQR̀!����������"�%"��*�"'�'�""%�����"�'�"���� ��'��"��������)*'��"�'�����������)"�"�'���"��1����H�"���%��1��"��"��"��������"�)���(� �)���)������'�'*Ha")����1����H���������)�%�)����"'��)���'�b�%�"�'"�)��������1��)"�����)*��"������������������������1"������"�)�������'���"�'��"(���),��"�"����H"�����������"�������������������)�"�����������)"�"������*����"�( :LMNO�PQRQ�ST�cMWd�V�@VR̂ MWY�:QWSQR
[ e_]�8QMY\fTR�PV̀�DTZQREEE@\]�6TWgS�Chei����#��"��1�)"�%�"'��"�������'��H*����j%"�����'��"I%����'������"��)�������������"�����*�������)����""����"�����'")���'������"���H���������'"�%��"�(

9A2



��������������	
 ������������������
��
������������� ��!��"��#����$%��"���������&��

�%'�������(�����"()��������*�&�+�,-.��""����/01�"�-%0'"��)�-���0%"�����-��"�����.�/./�/23.&�2&���3.0'��%�-�'����.�/./�/23.&�2&���3. 2�4

�
5 6789:;<�=>8;?�9�@8A?BC����#��"��1�)"�%�"'��"�������'��D*����E%"�����'��"F%����'�����'��")*'��"�'�����%��"����"��'���'�����"�����*����*��'"�1�)"�"�������D*�"��"F%"��"�)"������*��"���"�(

�
5 G?A7HI;�J;KLMN�G?A7HI;�OPQI9LM;N
��R"������'��D*���'�E%"�����'�
����"��"F%����'������*���"'��������"'���"�)��)*��"�����������"������D"���S*'"���*������"'������

9A2



��������������	
 ������������������
��
������������� ��!��"��#����$%��"���������&��

�%'�������(�����"()��������*�&�+�,-.��""����/01�"�-%0'"��)�-���0%"�����-��"�����.�/./�/23.&�2&���3.0'��%�-�'����.�/./�/23.&�2&���3. /�4

��"���"��������*5�"�5"�������*5�"(
�

6 789:;9<=>?�@AB9C�D;9A=EF<A

9A2



��������������	
 ������������������
��
������������� ��!��"��#����$%��"���������&��

�%'�������(�����"()��������*�&�+�,-.��""����/01�"�-%0'"��)�-���0%"�����-��"�����.�/./�/23.&�2&���3.0'��%�-�'����.�/./�/23.&�2&���3. ��45

9A2



��������������	
 ������������������
��
������������� ��!��"��#����$%��"���������&��

�%'�������(�����"()��������*�&�+�,-.��""����/01�"�-%0'"��)�-���0%"�����-��"�����.�/./�/23.&�2&���3.0'��%�-�'����.�/./�/23.&�2&���3. ��4

5678�9:;76<;�=>�?76<@6�AB67C<�D>E=FG76H=>!�"������*��"��))*�'����"������ I'��%�%������"'��'����"��1"���"�����"�*%�����"���������������*��)*'��"�'(�!�����'�����������*��"��*%��"���*���*��"���%���"�'*�"�)*'��"�'�)����))"''������"������������"���""�����"���"���""���(�J*���"��"����)"���*��"���%���"�'���'��%����"�����,����������%��1"��*'"��"K%"��"�)"(�!"�"�)�*���"��*�����)���"�1��"��L"������L""��*��"�'�����"�*%��"'��"M1"���"(
����'���*%��"������"���"'��*��"�����������������*��"����)"���*��"��%��1�'���*�������"��*��"�)"�"��L��)��),����L"�������1�'�����*��"(�""�"���()��(NOHPQ�R<F<�6=�SPP<@@�ABF�AB67C<�N<>6<FT=OO=U�VWX�=>�@=PH7O�G<;H7�6=�@678�B:;76<;Y�����Z[\]̂[�_̂[]̀abcdefghiejdekdlmnok�pqrfqkstuvwxyvz{us

9A2



��������������	
 ������������������
��
������������� ��!��"��#����$%��"���������&��

�%'�������(�����"()��������*�&�+�,-.��""����/01�"�-%0'"��)�-���0%"�����-��"�����.�/./�/23.&�2&���3.0'��%�-�'����.�/./�/23.&�2&���3. 4�4

��567896�:968;<=>?@ABCD@E?@F?GHIJF�KLMALFNOPQRSTQUVPN

9A2



������������	��
� ��������������������������������������� !���"�����#�����#�����$��%"��&

���$&������'������'#���������(�)*+�����",�,-.%�/+$�.&���#�+���.$�����"+�����"����,	�((�,�(01,,�1--1.&�$�+�&�����,	�((�,�(01,,�1-2 ���

3456�789:;<=�><?89:;<=@?;<=:ABCAD:EF5:G4<H8A9�AI�JKL�<9M�H545NA==G98N<H8A9�ODAB8M5DP����&&���&KA=�Q<DRGP�S����*�&TU�����%'���V �����W�U��,���(���������	(�X� �����������&&���S#���#���&&��TU�����%'���V����$�������Y��"&�S"�$����������"&TU�����%'���V�#��Z�����
�#�T���&�'�'��%��[�������#������T���&�'�'��%��[�������[��#*����T���&�'�'��%�[����#�����/T&�����'�#����'��%������#���'/�����T�#����'��%\����������#������&&����$�/�����������$��$����&�������#�������������������������/�������������������$��]$������/!��#��#��̂�&���"� ���#�����#����&�������������"�������&����'�� �&�����������&�����"�"���������������������&&������$��������Y��"&���"���_��&������/�����������/�����������#����$�/���"����������������&��&��%#�&'����&"���������#���������"�/"�&$���"���&&�������#��#���"�����#�����#����&�&��%#�&����#��U��"�����������&�������#��&���"������
[��/������"�������������������������#��%��&����������/�����$��%����������U����������&�&��%#�&'�'��W!���W�"����!���������������������&&�������"�$��"��������#���������������&���������&���������&�&&��������#��#��������������&����"���'�'���
[����#�����
�U�#�[��%#������&&���&�#�����"�/������������������������%������#��#�����&���"����#�����#�����&��%#�&�$��%"��&'�� ���&����"��&&�����������
[��&����&��%������$�U�#�U����&�����&���������U�����"��##�&&U������������"�����#�����#����&�&��%#�&�������&���U�������&'� ��������#��$������U��$�������0((������			����	�,��01�0�((�U��������
[����&������X&&&���#��
'̀'��(����a��&�������10�(������������aX�X��
[��#���&&����&�T�#����'��%'���������/&�����������#��$���������&����"�����������///'�#����'��%��$&#�/�U&�����"���"���/����������#��$�����/������������������������'�� ���������#���&&������U��&������$$����"�U������̂�%�����'�'��̀%�����"�����&�&&������&�����%������U����������������������_�����#��#��"���&�/������������&���"�����&�/�#�#��&��"�/�����&'��!]#�&&%��/�"�#��"���&�#��&��"�������&�/���'�� ���&����"�$�#�������$��#�����������&�/����"�������"����&�&��&�����"����&�%��������"��"�����&��"&����"�����&�$���������"���&������"��&���"����������&�#�&�/���"�U��$�&&�"�����������#��&�����U�����������������#������������&��%#�'��[�%������"%"����$��$������/���&���%���*������$��#��&���U�#*�$�$�/������������&�b$������������$����U��c�"������$����������&�����&������$�/���&���#�"������ !�������&'1'��\��������̂�%��������*�&������$$�������&���������
[��������#�$����������#������&�����&�&�����������������/��*/�������̂�%��������"��
[�������&���������������#�&&������"��%���U����#���&�������*���U��&��%#��$��%"��&������&�������U���&��%#�'�\���/�������$������&�&��������U�#����������&�%����"������#������#���������/�&�������&����"���U��#��&"���"����$����#����������U����������&��&��%#�&'	'��\�������&��������&�����&d��#�%&����&���$�"�����������
[����"�̂�%��������$��&_�������$�����#���������U��$�/���&���#�&���"�"��%������"������/��&������&���U����$��%�����&�������&���$�������&�&���&'-'��e����&������f���&�����������&���������&�������"���/���U����#�&&�������*��$�������������/��&�#�����"�����������"%������������/����$�#�����������������&'��̀�������&�����U�����$��$������/���&��Uf�#����������#���������"������������������&����&��&'�� �&�&������"������������"�$��$������/���&����������%���������#������#��&�����&&�������������#�����#�������'����_��"�/��"����&'��g�����#�%�"���&���&&����U�#��&����������&�U&#�U�"��������̂������̂���$&�h��$�������Y��"&h�����$' ����&�U&#�U���������&�����$���"�&��$���#�%�������&���������&��"������������"�$����������"&i��&�U&#�U�TU�����%'���' ��%�/���&�"&#�&&����������/�U�%&�����$&�������$&'������'#�����U�����%'����"��&�"�"�$����������"&��Xa
aj�fk��[g
̂ l0Wm���#n�W�%����!�,a"k�����o���
�/	]XXk1(���'����'#��'KA=�Q<DRGP�S����*�&TU�����%'���V \�"�����������(��������1��X� ���X��]��������S�U�����TU�����%'���V
���&���""��������#�����#����&�����������W��/��"�"���&&�������������W�����KA=�Q<DRGP�S����*�&TU�����%'���V
9A2



������������	��
� ��������������������������������������� !���"�����#�����#�����$��%"��&

���$&������'������'#���������(�)*+�����",�,-.%�/+$�.&���#�+���.$�����"+�����"����,	�((�,�(01,,�1--1.&�$�+�&�����,	�((�,�(01,,�1-2 ���

�����������3�4��,���(���������105
�6�47�#���3/"���������������� !���"�����#�����#�����$��%"��& ���8���6�����97��'&����:����'#��;�����������3��/��"�"���&&�������������3�����<=>�?@ABCD�9����*�&:4�����%'���;�����������3�4��,���(���������		�E�6�47�#���3/"���������������� !���"�����#�����#�����$��%"��& ��� ������*�&�9����*�&:4�����%'���;FG����"���H���""��I

9A2



������������	��
� ������������������������������� �!��!��
��!��"#���!

���$%������&�����!&'�������#�(�)*+���!!�,�,-./!�+$�.%!��'�+���.$!�����+���!������,	0�(	,�01,�(-�	�-.%�$�+�%�����,	0�(	,�01,�(-�	�2 ���

3456�789:;<=�><?89:;<=@?;<=:ABCAD:EFGHI�J6K59H5H�LAG5D�MNK<:5���!%%��!%OA=�P<DQNR�S����*#%TU�����/&���V W#����!U��-���(��������	��X�Y�����������%%���S'���'���%%��TU�����/&���V��Z!$����!���[!��%�S�!$����!���!��%TU�����/&���V������$��/�!�����$$��$���!��!%$��%!&������������������!���!%%��!����������������\<]�̂;544�S_��&%�!��T����&'��VZ��!��W#����!U��-���(������,�	-�X�W#U_!'���� �!��!��
��!��"#���!Y���Y������*#%�S����*#%TU�����/&���V������#�!!���!���S��#�!!�&U&�!��T����&'��V��S���1((T'��'�%�&�!�V��W#%���̀������S%#%��&�&�������T%U'���U��&�!�V��
���'*�W!!U!���S$_%!!U!��11T����&'��V�������#�*!�SU��UU#�*!T�����&'��V�X#%���a#����S�#%��b#���T����&'��VY���X%���#�*������!��������������%�c!��U�������X%%�'�������%�U!!������#��!�!'��'�������1�'��%!'#�/!����%&��"�'!��!�$��!��%��!%���!�������#����*!���#��������!���������%%����#���'!�������������!�'�����*!�����$$!�������ZY���!��������!������!���%������!�!���!����#�!����!'�����#���!��U��������''#��!�����������%�U!���$����!������!��#�#�!���$!������#$����!%�����$��/!���!�%��!���������#��!�!'��'������������!�$�$�!/!����#�#�!����#�!%&����/!��/!������!��!��U������������!������(��!��%�����������'!���/!���%!!��$���'�/!�!�!'��'�������%��#'�#�!����*U!���$!�����!�&�Y�%�%�#�����!%�d����%�����!/!����!��'#%���!�%�*!!$�$��������!���������!����������!�!'��'���U��%&e���d%����!��������������!�$���%��!������!����!%��$��$!������ ����!%�����!�%���!�����'�����������%�%#'���#��'����/!���!���%��#���U!�$����b�����!��!�/!������U�%'�%!�/'!%�����b!�����!��#$���%&��Y�������������#���!��U��%���/!��������!�/!���!��!��U����������������������%�����������#���!�d%����!���c!��f��*�W���!�������������#��'����U�����%��/�������$!���!����������%�!��!��%�$�!����#��''!$��U�!&Y�!��������������%�c!��U��������$$�!'��!%���#���%%%���'!&!̀����%�g���̀&W�!��
�!%�!����������������%�c!��U�������X%%�'����W!�����������
���!��f�#��!'!/!����%��!%%��!�U!'�#%!���#���!�%#U%'�U!�������!�h����!�h��#$%�i��������%%��i����#$&Y��#�%#U%'�U!��������%����#$�����%��$��!'!/���!���%���������%!������!�������'���'���%%��j#�%#U%'�U!TU�����/&���&Y��/!����%��%'#%%��������!��!U�/%�����$%������#$%&�����!&'�����U�����/&�������%���'���'���%%����Xk
kl��	����hYm_n,U,�Uh�h--Zo�-��Y���̀p�Zq�_�l�p��XZ�Xp1(���&����&'��&OA=�P<DQNR�S����*#%TU�����/&���V e!������������(��������1��X�Y���X�! ��������S�U�����TU�����/&���V
�!�%!��������'���#�'����%�������������������!���!%%��!����������������OA=�P<DQNR�S����*#%TU�����/&���VZ��!��������!U��,���(���������(	r
�W#U_!'��������� �!��!��
��!��"#���!Y���g���W�!���S_��&%�!��T����&'��V
9A2



������������	��
� ������������������������������� �!��!��
��!��"#���!

���$%������&�����!&'�������#�(�)*+���!!�,�,-./!�+$�.%!��'�+���.$!�����+���!������,	0�(	,�01,�(-�	�-.%�$�+�%�����,	0�(	,�01,�(-�	�2 ���

���������'�$������%�������!�%����!/!�������#������#���������������3#%����#�����#���%������ ����!%��������!�%����!�!�����������#�#%!��%�����%*!���#������'!�4�!'�������$��/�!���!�����'�!�����������&��5����!�%�%#��!%�����������#���6��$�����%���'�������#������$��$!������ !%�����!/!����!��%�������*�7!�8!��$��/�!%�����8!��!����������#�#��!�%������&������#�������!���/!�����'���#��������'��%��������$��/���$��$!����/��#!%��������!���'����%����!��� ����!%��#!�����!'�����/��#!%&��������������������!���!%%��!����������������9:;<�=>;?>;�@��!�8!�A8�����/&���B4��!��������!8��,���(���������10�C�D#83!'���E!��� �!��!��
��!��"#���!F���F������*#%�@����*#%A8�����/&���BF�!����6%��� ����!�%��'�#�����$�!����������!��'��$��!������#��%#���#�����'���#��!%&��F�!����6%��� ����!�%���&�	1�&�F�%�'��$��!%��������%��������&�,,0��E�����"�*��,&		0(���!�*�!���	&,,	����!/!����G��%���&-,�	���!�����!��1&-�	������������!���G��%��(&�-((&��H�#��������!����������������'�#�!���������%�$%��%����%!��#�'$���!%���!�����!%$��%8�!����������������!������%��%���!�!���������!���� !%���!����!��I������!���F���%�$6%����!�%���&(�1�J&�������#������!�'�#��������%'������� ������$������!���'����� !%���#��!��I�(������������!%�!���! !�$���J������������1(&�(-������%���10&�,�,��E�����"�*���&1(�����!�*�!���0&	,00���!/!����G��%�1(&�-(,���!�����!�	(&0(�	��������!���G��%�-&(0�1&���/!���������%���!�$!�%$!'�/!����!����6%������������!����!�%����!������������'���#��!%�����$$�� ���!$�$#������%K!�����&�
�!�%����11&�1����C�����1�&��,���H$%�����-,&	-���������!�1�&������C#8#���G��%���&((-0�E��#�#%�	�&-	-0��L�������!�	1&(�	0��7���!������	,&,0�������%���G!���%�1-&--�1&F�!����6%��� ����!�%��������$�����������!��/!������� �8��&��F�!����!���� !%��!$�!%!���'�#��������%'������� !%&��F�!����6%�� ��!/����*!%�#$��$$�� ���!����1M������!��/!������� �8��&��F�!�������%����!�!���%��� ��!/��!�'���!���������!�$�%��0�!��%&��L!���!��8�!���������%��#!������!��!�/!%��!�������!��!%�!���������'���!�'�����!�%�����#�����&�������'�����!%�!����������%��������!��$��/!�!��%������!�����!��/!����!�$�%��0��!��%���%�%!!�����!%%������������������'�!�%!�������!/!���� !%&��C��!%�!��6%��� �8���%�'��'#���!��8���#��$�������!��� ����!�8����!�/��#!������!�$��$!���&���/!�����������!���� ����!�����������!%�!��%�����$������!�$��$!������ !%�������!%�!��%������!���#�'$���!%��#!������!�/��#!������!�$��$!���&��F�!��!�%����������������$��$!��!%���!����!���������%��'���#��!%�%�8!'�#%!����%!�/'!%���'����!$��/�!�������������������%'����%������$�� ������������/�����������&��"��D#����!8��-���(��������1��
��F������*#%�@����*#%A8�����/&���B�����!�
�!�%!�'��������!%$��%!��!��������� ����!%&���!��#���� ����!%���!��!���/!�������'��$��!��������!��3#�%�'���%�$��/���'��$���8�!�%!�/'!%&��L!���/!����!�!���� ����!%�������!�$�%��NN������!��%&��L����%�����%��#��$��$!����/��#!%���'�%$!�*%������!������!�������������������!���!%���!&���/!����������$��$!������ ����!%���!����#���/!�����/��#!%��!��!���!%#���%�%����%���'����$��$!������ !%&�C�%��!����������$!�'!��������!��� !%���!�8�%!������#������'��$��!����%'����%�����'�#������ !%&OP#��!���! �����!�Q�����*�7!�8!����
C����'!�4�!'����F�!�%#�!�����������������	��������D��!!�
"��� ��((���������������10(����((�I�10J�	�(��0�1�$���!I�10J�	�(��(�(��� R��$�������5��!����E!%�!��%RS!�T%�'���!'�U�V�����!������!������D�%�!������!'!/!��$�����������#$���!%�����'��'�������������%$!'�'������#��!��8�������������&8�����/&����'����!!���&
9A2



City of Birmingham, Michigan

9A3



95,000

100,000

105,000

110,000

115,000

120,000

125,000

130,000

135,000

M
C

F

15 Year History Water Consumption

Actual Linear (Actual)

City of Birmingham, Michigan

9A4



3/29/23, 4:14 PM City of Birmingham MI Mail - Fwd: New construction

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=122eed7f76&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-f:1761734348821027962&simpl=msg-f:1761734348821027962 1/2

Alex Bingham <abingham@bhamgov.org>

Fwd: New construction
1 message

Tom Markus <tmarkus@bhamgov.org> Wed, Mar 29, 2023 at 4:13 PM
To: Alex Bingham <abingham@bhamgov.org>

Place in pending 

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Bruce Johnson <Bjohnson@bhamgov.org>
Date: Wed, Mar 29, 2023 at 4:00 PM
Subject: Re: New construction
To: Tom Markus <tmarkus@bhamgov.org>

Tom,

Energy efficiency has definitely improved over the past several years and will continue to do so as building codes are
updated. The following list are some areas where efficiency has improved over the last 15 years or so.

Insulation:
• The R-value required in exterior walls has increased from R-13 to R-20.
• The R-value for ceilings has increased from R-30 to R38.
• Insulation is required around all windows and doors and wall plates are sealed to the floors to prevent air leakage.
• Blower door tests are required when the house is completed to demonstrate compliance with the code requirement of
four or less air changes per hour.

Mechanical:
• Furnace and air conditioning efficiency ratings have improved.
• Air ducts are required to be sealed and must be insulated when installed in unconditioned spaces.

Electrical:
• Lighting is much more efficient with the use of LED fixtures and bulbs.
• Energy Star ratings for appliances installed in homes have improved reducing energy usage.
• While not an efficiency improvement, DTE requires all new electrical services installed for new homes and many
additions to be installed underground.

Plumbing:
• Faucets are equipped with restrictors to reduce water usage.
• New water heaters are much more efficient than older ones.
• Toilets utilize much less water

In summary, while the improvements in energy efficiency noted above are minimum requirements in the building codes,
many new homes constructed utilize design features and equipment that achieve even higher efficiency ratings. 

Bruce

On Wed, Mar 29, 2023 at 11:58 AM Tom Markus <tmarkus@bhamgov.org> wrote:
A review of our water consumption shows declining consumption.  Recently, I have listened to comments concerning
added square footage and more bathrooms suggesting a heavy demand on our infrastructure.  With our new
construction are there code provisions that require more efficiency in water use, electricity use and other improvements
that make newer houses more efficient than houses built in earlier times?  More efficient water heaters, toilets requiring
less water, better insulation, passive solar, more efficient heating systems.  Do we require new homes to have their
electric lines buried vs strung from poles?

-- 9A5

mailto:Bjohnson@bhamgov.org
mailto:tmarkus@bhamgov.org
mailto:tmarkus@bhamgov.org


3/29/23, 4:14 PM City of Birmingham MI Mail - Fwd: New construction

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=122eed7f76&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-f:1761734348821027962&simpl=msg-f:1761734348821027962 2/2

Bruce R. Johnson
Building Official 
City of Birmingham
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48009
(248) 530-1842 Office
(248) 530-1292 Fax

*Important Note to Residents*
Let's connect! Join the Citywide Email System to receive important City updates and critical information specific to your
neighborhood at www.bhamgov.org/citywideemail.

9A5

https://www.google.com/maps/search/151+Martin+Street+Birmingham,+MI+48009?entry=gmail&source=g
https://www.google.com/maps/search/151+Martin+Street+Birmingham,+MI+48009?entry=gmail&source=g
http://www.bhamgov.org/citywideemail


NOTICE OF INTENTION TO APPOINT TO THE 
PARKS & RECREATION BOARD 

At the regular meeting of Monday, May 8, 2023, the Birmingham City Commission intends to 
appoint to the Parks and Recreation Board an alternate member to serve the remainder of a 
3-year term to expire March 13, 2025. 

Interested citizens may submit an application available at the City Clerk’s office or online at 
www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities. Applications must be submitted to the City Clerk's 
office on or before noon on Wednesday, May 3, 2023.  These applications will appear in the 
public agenda for the regular meeting at which time the City Commission will discuss 
recommendations, and may make nominations and vote on the appointments. 

Responsibilities 
The Parks & Recreation Board consists of seven members and two alternate members who 
serve for three-year terms without compensation. The goal of the board is to promote a 
recreation program and a park development program for the City of Birmingham.  The Board 
shall recommend to the City Commission for adoption such rules and regulations pertaining to 
the conduct and use of parks and public grounds as are necessary to administer the same and 
to protect public property and the safety, health, morals, and welfare of the public. 

The meetings are held the first Tuesday of the month at 6:30 P.M. 

NOTE: All members of boards and commissions are subject to the provisions of City of Birmingham City Code Chapter 2, 
Article IX, Ethics and the filing of the Affidavit and Disclosure Statement.   

Criteria/Qualifications of Open Position Date 
Applications Due 
(by noon) 

Date of 
Interview 

Members must be electors (registered voters) of 
the City of Birmingham. 

5/3/2023 5/8/2023 

10A1



3/27/23, 1:31 PM City of Birmingham MI Mail - Fwd: Follow-up letter… this very important corner

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=122eed7f76&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-f:1761542209578663091&simpl=msg-f:1761542209578663091 1/2

Alex Bingham <abingham@bhamgov.org>

Fwd: Follow-up letter… this very important corner
1 message

Tom Markus <tmarkus@bhamgov.org> Mon, Mar 27, 2023 at 1:19 PM
To: Alex Bingham <abingham@bhamgov.org>

Info only next agenda

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Scot Beaton <scotbeaton@gmail.com>
Date: Mon, Mar 27, 2023 at 1:15 PM
Subject: Follow-up letter… this very important corner
To: <tmarkus@bhamgov.org>, <jecker@bhamgov.org>, <mfairbairn@bhamgov.org>, <mgamboa@bhamgov.org>

Time Sensitive Please Post/Share

Follow-up to my open letter to the architect/developer, the planning board and the citizens of Birmingham MI.

I watched the video. Is the southeast corner of Maple and Woodward Avenue the center of the universe… for the
residents of Birmingham you kinda could say yes. Many say Michigan is the center of the universe; ‘it’s in the
shape of God’s hand’… LOL All fun aside I sincerely thank the planning board for taking the time to read my
email and referring to it during your discussion. Also thank you for entering the letter into the public record and
attaching it to future meetings with other citizen comments regarding this very important corner. I also thank you
passing my email on to the applicant. I did also emailed them directly.

‘As stunning as the Guardian Building’ is a really big ask… “The World’s Most Beautiful Art Deco Buildings From
New York to Shanghai, By Elizabeth Stamp July 21, 2016 www.architecturaldigest.com. Number 4 The Guardian
Building “The Art Deco skyscraper—nicknamed the Cathedral of Finance—was designed by architect Wirt C.
Rowland and completed in 1929.” Now that I have reread my own letter this is way too big of an ask for this
corner… But I did learn this a long time ago “When you reach for the stars, you may not quite get them, but you
won't come up with a handful of mud either.”  ― Leo Burnett

Your architect/developer does not hide the fact they are big, nor what they do. The Guardian Building was built to
show off a headquarters for a financial institution… way different story at Maple and Woodward Avenue. Your
applicant, they build rental apartments, retail… sell off and move on. They don’t hide that fact and with all the BS
out there as of late we should sincerely thank them for their honesty. They have also shown they respect in
principle Birmingham zoning codes and planning studies. Many out-of-town architect/developers ask for more…
more density more profit; this is not them. This does not mean Birmingham has to settle for ‘more of the same.’ 

Let me make a few suggestions before they attend your next meeting. Birmingham has many buildings with
‘timeless architecture and individual character’ Suggest what you like. They build for profit with the least amount
of resistance and move on. Suggest the kind of facade building design you like… I’m pretty sure they will
accommodate your taste and appreciate your input. Guessing games cost money. PLEASE watch this video
New York City's Great 1920s Revival  https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rfsuU8V40U0 … It’s really good!!!
Encourage citizen input but please remind them that they are following in principle your zoning codes and
planning studies. The podium that faces Woodward Avenue second floor parking above the retail could be a fake
second floor of Architecture. Windows and Juliet balconies. Fake is OK if done well. The sidewalk, building street
level setback… very few planners show sun studies… We do not know what kind of retail may find a home
there… but sidewalk cafes that face warm sunsets in the summer sounds like a good idea, sitting down get
something to eat and drink, then go upstairs. Was a good idea in ancient Roman apartments for over a thousand
years… still a good idea today… your going to need a wider sidewalk along Woodward Avenue if you like
outdoor cafes. Just a few initial thoughts.

Why does the massing of this structure not match all the good thoughts that went into the Triangle District Urban
Design Plan. The citizens of Birmingham and planners envisioned a 9 story building that would face the corner…INFORMATION ONLY

mailto:scotbeaton@gmail.com
mailto:tmarkus@bhamgov.org
mailto:jecker@bhamgov.org
mailto:mfairbairn@bhamgov.org
mailto:mgamboa@bhamgov.org
http://www.architecturaldigest.com/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rfsuU8V40U0


3/27/23, 1:31 PM City of Birmingham MI Mail - Fwd: Follow-up letter… this very important corner

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=122eed7f76&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-f:1761542209578663091&simpl=msg-f:1761542209578663091 2/2

Both Maple and Woodward Avenue equal partners in the building design. What is been presented only favors
Woodward Avenue, diminishing Maple to be just a side street. 34977 Woodward Ave is an outstanding looking
building in many ways on the southwest corner the design faces the corner not just Woodward Avenue. They do
present a case to bring more sunlight to the pool for the residents and less road noise. (How much less road
noise I doubt very little.) Besides is this not the famous Woodward Avenue… all kinds of residents may love
sitting on their balcony watching all the classic cars go by, not someone sitting by a seasonal outdoor pool. But
because they have now pushed the massive 9 story building back from Woodward Avenue, that now will not
match the massing of the westside of Woodward Avenue the building is forever going to through a lot of shade
on their eastern neighbor diminishing their property value… is this a good idea? … What is the summer solstice
shadow at 6:00 pm or 9:00 pm daylight savings time. Watching the video the applicant rolls over this planning
board commissioner concern and no defense from other planning board commissioner’s. They are big but please
do not let them intimate you. Yes… that's a harsh comment I apologize. Thin towers even taller than 9 stories
would bring more sunlight to the entire area year-round.

Woodward Avenue is under a lot of public pressure to become a complete street* parkway not today's auto and
truck highway. November 3rd, 1939 the car split Birmingham in half with an 8 lane boulevard highway. The
Triangle District Urban Design Plan …hours of hard thoughtful work heals many historical east west wounds…
most of Birmingham’s attention has been on the westside. One critique I personally do feel some of the facade
illustrations lack individual character presented in the plan. Could be argued you get what you illustrate. Massing
is an important conversation; and what you approve…? Will we still drive around Birmingham or through
Birmingham. Will there be something of significance built there to connect the east to the west? Planning
commissioner can be a thankless job, rarely if ever the auditorium is filled with residents telling you how great of
a public service you are doing, more like the opposite. Let me say you are a great planning board, Birmingham is
a beautiful and well planned city. Your dedication and service shows throughout the city. I wish you and your
talented applicant all the very best in the decisions that will be made regarding this eastside corner.

Art Deco thin twin towers; takes me back to the Leo Burnett quote… No podium. No retail. No visible parking or
loading. Goes beyond the Triangle District Urban Design Plan Study. For the architect/developer to turn a profit?
Don’t know how tall they would have to be, I’m sure more than 9 stories, probably more like 20 each. Would be
fun to ask how tall. Your applicant has the talent to build tall. Such a big idea like that would be historic for the
city of Birmingham and still worth saving 150+ years from now. Birmingham is a bold artistic town with big
shoulders… Suggestion, if you are also inspired by such a bold idea slowdown, give your architect/developer a
24 month property tax holiday, no tax for 24 months. Start with a clean slate. Use this gift to draw up bold ideas
for this very important corner, share with the community what could go there. Design something memorable…
then write the zoning code to match the development, not a development to match the zoning code. Suggestion,
work with the faculty and students 2 miles up the street; Cranbrook Academy of Art, what would they do? What
would Albert Kahn or Eero Saarinen have built or the late Zaha Hadid?

Always thanks for your time
Scot Beaton
https://www.linkedin.com/in/scot-beaton-474a7b51

note: As of late I’m having second thoughts in general with all planning studies, they can stifle creativity.
note: Please share this open letter with friends, family and business associates, please share with the applicant
way before the next meeting.

*complete street is an approach to planning, designing, building, operating, and maintaining streets that enables
safe access for all people who need to use them, including pedestrians, bicyclists, motorists and transit riders of
all ages and abilities.

INFORMATION ONLY

https://www.linkedin.com/in/scot-beaton-474a7b51


INFORMATION ONLY



The Center for Local, 
State, and Urban Policy
Gerald R. Ford School of Public Policy | University of Michigan

Michigan Public 
Policy Survey
February 2023

This report presents the opinions of 
Michigan’s local government leaders 
on a range of issues regarding their 
jurisdictions’ workforce, including 
recruitment, retention, and retirement 
turnover. These findings are based on 
statewide surveys of local government 
leaders from the Spring 2022 wave 
of the Michigan Public Policy Survey 
(MPPS), with comparisons to the Spring 
2017 MPPS wave. 

Michigan local 
government 
leaders report 
increased problems 
with workforce 
recruitment, 
retention, and 
other issues

The Michigan Public Policy Survey (MPPS) is an 
ongoing census survey of all 1,856 general purpose local 
governments in Michigan conducted since 2009 by the 
Center for Local, State, and Urban Policy (CLOSUP). 
Respondents for the Spring 2022 wave of the MPPS 
include county administrators, board chairs, and clerks; 
city mayors, managers, and clerks; village presidents, 
managers, and clerks; and township supervisors, managers, 
and clerks from 1,327 jurisdictions across the state.

By Debra Horner, Thomas Ivacko, and 
Natalie Fitzpatrick

 Key Findings 
 • Statewide, 92% of Michigan’s local governments report having some kind of

paid employees (full-time, part-time, seasonal, or temporary), while 8% say
they have none at all.  These levels are essentially unchanged from 2017.

 » Nearly all Michigan counties and cities report having full-time employees
and the overwhelming majority also have part-time employees.
Meanwhile, 75% of villages and just 31% of townships report having full-
time employees.

 • Recruiting employees with the necessary skills is a common problem,
reported by 60% of Michigan’s local leaders in 2022, up from 48% in 2017.
Only 16% of jurisdictions statewide say recruiting is not a problem at all.

 » Among jurisdictions with over 30,000 residents, 89% report that
recruitment is a problem, including 41% who say it is a significant
problem. Among mid-sized jurisdictions with between 5,001-10,000
residents, reports of significant recruitment problems have tripled in the
past five years, up to 28% in 2022 from 9% in 2017.

 • Retaining current employees is a growing problem as well, reported by 32%
of jurisdictions with employees in 2022, up sharply from 17% in 2017.

 » Two-thirds (64%) of jurisdictions with over 30,000 residents have
problems retaining current employees, up from 43% in 2017. Among
jurisdictions with 5,001-10,000 residents, retention problems have more
than tripled in the past five years to 37%, up from 12%. Meanwhile,
even in the state’s smallest jurisdictions—those with fewer than 1,500
residents—that have any type of paid employee, retention problems have
increased to 26%, up from 17%.

 • Local leaders express concern about a variety of other workforce problems,
especially in Michigan’s largest jurisdictions, among whom 62% report
problems with turnover due to retirements, 58% note problems with
employee workload, 54% identify low employee morale, and 48% report
challenges due to hostile interactions from the public.

 » Among places where local leaders report their employees have recently
experienced harassment or other abuse, 79% say new employee
recruitment is a problem (including 40% who say it is a significant
problem); by comparison, 52% of jurisdictions that did not report
harassment by the public have recruitment problems. Similarly, employee
retention problems are more likely to be reported among jurisdictions
that have experienced harassment or other abuse against non-elected
jurisdiction personnel (45% vs 25%).

website: closup.umich.edu | email: closup@umich.edu | twitter: @closupINFORMATION ONLY

http://closup.umich.edu
mailto:closup@umich.edu


The Center for Local, State, and Urban Policy

2

Background
The COVID-19 pandemic triggered enormous turmoil in the U.S. labor market, in both the public and private sectors, 
with repercussions still being felt today. Widespread job losses in the early months of the pandemic1 gave way to 
tight labor markets in 2021,2 with challenges for recruitment and retention of personnel driven in part by turnover 
in the labor force that has been dubbed the “Great Resignation.”3 Through the end of 2022, the national labor market 
remained turbulent. Hiring demand was high despite concerns over inflation and a possible recession, as the wave 
of employees quitting their positions for new ones or leaving the job market altogether continued.4  

In Michigan, pressures on employers have persisted, as unemployment and participation in the labor force both 
declined in 2021 and 2022. According to the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, by September of 2022, Michigan’s labor 
force participation rate (60.1%) was lower than the Midwest region as a whole and ranked as the 11th lowest among 
all 50 states.5 In the public sector, approximately 14% of Michigan’s workforce is employed by either the state, 
local, or federal governments.6 And although this is below the nationwide average, it is still a significant portion 
of the state’s workers. Among this group are public works, police, fire, election, administrative, and other local 
government personnel that are critical to the welfare and quality of life of communities across the state. 

To get a sense of how Michigan local government leaders view current workforce challenges in their jurisdictions, 
the Spring 2022 MPPS revisited questions asked on the 2017 wave of the survey regarding local governments’ 
personnel issues, including potential problems with hiring, retention, turnover, and other workforce challenges 
they may be facing. 

INFORMATION ONLY



3

Michigan Public Policy Survey

Most Michigan jurisdictions have at least some paid employees, but only half 
have full-time employees
In 2022, 92% of Michigan’s local jurisdictions reported 
having at least some type of paid employees beyond 
their government’s elected officials (see Figure 1a).  The 
most common type are regular part-time employees, 
reported by 75% of local governments. Meanwhile, 
50% of local units report having full-time employees, 
38% report seasonal workers, and 22% report having 
temporary/irregular employees. Despite the disruptions 
faced by many employers including local governments 
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic that began in 
2020, these personnel levels are essentially unchanged 
since the last time the MPPS asked this question in 
2017.7 

Nearly all Michigan counties and cities have full-time 
employees and the overwhelming majority also have 
part-time employees (see Figure 1b). Meanwhile, around 
three-quarters of villages report having full-time (75%) and part-time employees (77%). By contrast, just 31% of 
townships report having full-time employees, 70% have part-time employees, and 11% of townships have no paid 
employees. Again, these general proportions are equivalent to those reported on the 2017 MPPS.

Figure 1a
Percentage of jurisdictions reporting various types of employees in 
their workforce

Part-time employees

Jurisdiction has any paid employees

Temporary / irregular employees

Jurisdiction has no paid employees

Don't know

Seasonal employees

Full-time employees

92%

75%

50%

38%

22%

8%

1%

Figure 1b
Percentage of jurisdictions reporting various types of employees in their workforce, by jurisdiction type

Cities

Counties

Statewide total

Townships

Villages

90%

100%

98%

75%

75%

50%

77%

70%

31%

Full-time employees

Part-time employees

89%

INFORMATION ONLY



The Center for Local, State, and Urban Policy

4

A majority of Michigan local governments struggle to recruit employees with 
the needed skills
Local leaders who indicated their jurisdictions have a least some non-temporary employees were asked about a 
series of personnel challenges their jurisdiction might be experiencing. Recruiting employees with needed skills 
is by far the most common concern, with 60% statewide indicating that recruitment is somewhat of a problem 
(37%) or a significant problem (23%) for their government (see Figure 2). Although less widespread, around a 
third report that employee workload (34%) and employee retention (32%) are problems, while about a quarter say 
turnover due to retirement (28%), impacts of hostile public interactions (27%), and employee morale (26%) are 
problems. Fewer local leaders across the state report problems with COVID-19 workplace policies or issues related 
to remote work (14%).

Figure 2
Local officials’ assessments of personnel problems facing their jurisdiction’s government (among jurisdictions that have full-time, part-time, and/
or seasonal employees)

10%

20%
3%

4%20%
6%

Turnover due to 
retirements

Retaining current 
employees

Employee
workload

Recruiting
employees

Impacts of hostile 
public interactions

Employee
morale

Continuing COVID-19 
work environment 

policies

Issues related to 
remote work, telework, 

flex schedules, etc.

23%

37% 9% 7%
25% 25%

21% 19%

8%7%

11%

A significant problem

Somewhat of a problem

Note: responses for “not much of a problem,” “not a problem at all,” and “don’t know” not shown

INFORMATION ONLY



5

Michigan Public Policy Survey

Local governments increasingly struggle to recruit qualified employees
Problems with employee recruitment have risen substantially 
over the past five years. Among jurisdictions with non-temporary 
employees, 60% say recruiting employees with the necessary 
skills is a problem, including nearly a quarter (23%) who say it 
is a significant problem, which is up from 13% in 2017 (see Figure 
3a). Only 16% of local leaders across the state say that employee 
recruitment is not a problem at all for their local government.

Recruiting challenges have increased in jurisdictions of every 
type and size. In particular, 42% of city officials reported in 2022 
that recruiting employees with needed skills is a significant 
problem, up from 25% in 2017 (see Figure 3b). Meanwhile, over a 
third (36%) of county officials, and 27% of village officials report 
significant recruiting problems. By jurisdiction size, a full 89% 
of the largest jurisdictions—those with over 30,000 residents—report that recruiting employees with needed skills is a 
problem, including 41% who say it is a significant problem (see Figure 3c). And notably, among mid-sized jurisdictions 
with between 5,001-10,000 residents, significant problems with recruiting have tripled in the past five years, up to 
28% in 2022 from 9% in 2017.

Figure 3a
Local officials’ assessments of problems in their jurisdictions 
recruiting employees with needed skills, 2017 vs. 2022

23%

37%

3% 2%

17%

32%

22%

16%

13%

35%

2017 2022

Not a problem at all

Don’t know

Not much of a problem

A significant problem

Somewhat of a problem

Figure 3b
Local officials’ assessments of problems in their jurisdictions recruiting employees with needed skills, 2017 vs. 2022, by jurisdiction type

15%

36%
30%

8%

27%

33%

44%

16%

25%

44%

42%

37%

54%

36%

37%

23%

13%

35%

21%

48%

Townships

2017 2022

Villages

2017 2022

Cities

2017 2022

CountiesStatewide total

2017 20222017 2022

A significant problem

Somewhat of a problem

Note: responses for “not much of a problem,” “not a problem at all,” and “don’t know” not shown

Note: responses for “not much of a problem,” “not a problem at all,” and “don’t know” not shown

Figure 3c
Local officials’ assessments of problems in their jurisdictions recruiting employees with needed skills, 2017 vs. 2022, by population size

30%

47% 43%

31%

41%

48%50%

16%28%

40%37%

9%
11%

29%

19%

35%

20%

32%
37%

23%

13%

35% 36%

13%

2017 2022 2017 2022

Population 5,001-10,000 Population 10,001-30,000 Population >30,000

2017 2022

Population 1,500-5,000

2017 2022

Population <1,500Statewide total

2017 20222017 2022

A significant problem

Somewhat of a problem

INFORMATION ONLY



The Center for Local, State, and Urban Policy

6

Among those with at least some recruitment challenges, the most common areas of concern are for hiring police 
officers and firefighters. As shown in Figure 4, among those with police services, 70% say finding qualified 
candidates is somewhat of a problem (29%) or a significant problem (41%).  This includes 52% of city officials 
who say it is a significant problem. Among those with local fire services, 32% say finding qualified employees is a 
significant problem, including 37% of jurisdictions with between 5,001-10,000 residents.

Almost two-thirds (62%) of local leaders selected two or more types of position where they are having recruitment 
problems, including 43% who selected at least three job types. This highlights that most jurisdictions facing 
problems with recruitment face them in multiple areas, rather than the problems being concentrated in one specific 
segment of the workforce.

Figure 4
Percent of jurisdictions reporting problems recruiting qualified candidates for various positions (among those who have trouble recruiting and 
who have employees in a particular service area)

36%

22%

38%

21%

Police Fire Other public works 
and services

Part-time / seasonal 
employees

Administration or 
management

29%
37%

32%41%

36%

17%

A significant problem

Somewhat of a problem

INFORMATION ONLY



7

Michigan Public Policy Survey

Retention is a problem particularly for counties and larger jurisdictions
Compared with recruitment, employee retention is a less common 
problem for local governments across the state, but these challenges 
have increased, too. As of 2022, nearly a third (32%) statewide said 
that retaining current employees is a problem for their jurisdiction, up 
sharply from 17% in 2017 (see Figure 5a). Of course, these problems are 
also widespread in the private sector, as the “Great Resignation” took 
hold in the COVID era, and employees of all kinds increasingly resigned 
and quit their jobs at employers of all kinds, across the country.8 

In 2022, 61% of Michigan’s counties reported that retention of employees 
was somewhat of a problem (48%) or a significant problem (13%), up 
sharply from 2017 (see Figure 5b). Only 7% of counties say retention is 
not a problem at all. Similarly, the percentage of city officials who say 
retention is a problem rose to 45% in 2022, from 26% in 2017. 

This pattern is reflected in comparisons by jurisdiction size, where larger jurisdictions struggle the most to retain 
employees. Two-thirds (64%) of jurisdictions with over 30,000 residents have somewhat of a problem (53%) or a 
significant problem (11%) retaining current employees, up from 43% in 2017 (see Figure 5c). Among jurisdictions 
with 5,001-10,000 residents, concerns about employee retention have more than tripled in the past five years (from 
12% to 37%). Meanwhile, even in the state’s smallest jurisdictions that have employees, more than a quarter (26%) 
now report retention is a problem, up from 17% five years earlier.

Figure 5a
Local officials’ assessments of problems in their 
jurisdictions with retaining current employees, 
2017 vs. 2022

30%

37%

3%

1%2%

14%
25%

7%

35%

46%

2017 2022

Not a problem at all

Don’t know

Not much of a problem

A significant problem

Somewhat of a problem

Figure 5b
Local officials’ assessments of problems in their jurisdictions with retaining current employees, 2017 vs. 2022, by jurisdiction type

5%
19%

10%
1%

7%
26%

17%
6%6%

20%

11%

34%

48%

13%

25%

7%

3%

14%

7%
34%

Townships

2017 2022

Villages

2017 2022

Cities

2017 2022

CountiesStatewide total

2017 20222017 2022

A significant problem

Somewhat of a problem

Note: responses for “not much of a problem,” “not a problem at all,” and “don’t know” not shown

Figure 5c
Local officials’ assessments of problems in their jurisdictions with retaining current employees, by population size

12%

30%

13%

31%

11%

53%

25%28%

9%37%

9%

2%
10%

2%

2%

10%

20%

19%

35%
5% 5%
21%

25%
7%

3% 3%

14% 14%

2017 2022 2017 2022

Population 5,001-10,000 Population 10,001-30,000 Population >30,000

2017 2022

Population 1,500-5,000

2017 2022

Population <1,500Statewide total

2017 20222017 2022

A significant problem

Somewhat of a problem

Note: responses for “not much of a problem,” “not a problem at all,” and “don’t know” not shown

INFORMATION ONLY



The Center for Local, State, and Urban Policy

8

Low compensation is linked to retention problems
A recent MPPS report summarized Michigan local leaders’ views on employee pay rates, noting that despite a 
decade of gradual increases in employee wages and salaries, many still believe their local government’s pay rates 
are too low.9 Concerns over low compensation correlate with reported problems regarding retention of current 
employees. For jurisdictions where local officials say pay rates for current employees are too low, nearly half (48%) 
say employee retention is a problem, compared with 23% in jurisdictions who say their current pay rates are just 
right or too high (see Figure 6). 

Figure 6
Local officials’ assessments of problems in their jurisdictions with retaining current employees, by assessments of jurisdiction pay rates for 
current employees

17%
6%

7%
5%

12%

1%
4%
19%

36%

12%

25%

7%

3%

14%

8%

22%

Current employee pay 
rates too high

2017 2022

Current employee pay 
rates about right

2017 2022

Current employee pay 
rates too low

Total

2017 20222017 2022

A significant problem

Somewhat of a problem

Note: responses for “not much of a problem,” “not a problem at all,” and “don’t know” not shown.

INFORMATION ONLY



9

Michigan Public Policy Survey

Recruitment and retention problems are more common in places experiencing 
public harassment and abuse of jurisdiction personnel
Harassment or other abuse of local government representatives by the public may also contribute to personnel 
challenges. In 2022, leaders from 53% of jurisdictions statewide reported harassment, threats, or even violence 
(including property damage) against members of the local government as part of their role in local government, 
including against top officials themselves.10 Furthermore, 44% say the local climate of abuse towards government 
personnel is impacting willingness of people to serve or work in local government, while 27% say the hostile public 
interactions make the jobs of their current local workforce harder. 

As shown in Figure 7, among places where local leaders report that jurisdiction personnel (not including elected 
officials) have recently experienced harassment or other abuse, 79% say employee recruitment is a problem. 
This includes 40% who say it is a significant problem, compared to 17% in jurisdictions that did not report such 
harassment. Officials from jurisdictions which report harassment or other abuse against non-elected jurisdiction 
personnel are also more likely to report problems with retention (45% vs 25%). These differences are statistically 
significant even when accounting for factors like jurisdiction type, population size, pay rates, and other potential 
contributing factors.

Figure 7
Local officials’ assessments of problems in their jurisdictions with recruitment and retention, by experience with harassment, threats, and 
violence of jurisdiction personnel 

RetentionRecruitment

No abuse reported 
toward non-elected 

jurisdiction personnel 

Abuse(s) reported 
toward non-elected 

jurisdiction personnel 

No abuse reported 
toward non-elected 

jurisdiction personnel 

Abuse(s) reported 
toward non-elected 

jurisdiction personnel 

17%

35%
39%

40%

5%
20%

35%

10%

A significant problem

Somewhat of a problem

Note: responses for “not much of a problem,” “not a problem at all,” and “don’t know” not shown

INFORMATION ONLY



The Center for Local, State, and Urban Policy

10

Larger jurisdictions experience additional workforce problems 
Local governments across Michigan, but particularly the largest jurisdictions, face additional workforce challenges 
beyond recruitment and retention. One common problem is turnover from retirements. Statewide, 28% of 
jurisdictions with employees report this problem, but this more than doubles to 62% among jurisdictions with over 
30,000 residents (see Figure 8). Similar patterns are found for a variety of additional problems, including employee 
workload, morale, hostile public interactions, and COVID-related issues. 

For a full breakdown of personnel problems by jurisdiction size, type, and region, see Appendices A-C. 

Figure 8
Local officials’ assessments of personnel issues in their jurisdictions, statewide vs. among the state’s largest jurisdictions (those with more than 
30,000 residents) 

Issues related to remote work,
telework, flex schedules, etc.

Statewide Jurisdictions with  
>30,000 residents

Continuing COVID work
environment policies 

Statewide Jurisdictions with  
>30,000 residents

Impacts of hostile
public interactions 

Statewide Jurisdictions with  
>30,000 residents

Employee morale

Statewide Jurisdictions with  
>30,000 residents

Employee workload 

Statewide Jurisdictions with  
>30,000 residents

Turnover due to retirements

Statewide Jurisdictions with  
>30,000 residents

A significant problem

Somewhat of a problem22%20%

10%

30%

19%

39%

15%

20%

43%

15%

9%

25%

43%

21%

7%

19%

6% 8%

18%

4%

7% 5%

3%

11%

 Note: responses for “not much of a problem,” “not a problem at all,” and “don’t know” not shown

Issues related to remote work,
telework, flex schedules, etc.

Statewide Jurisdictions with  
>30,000 residents

Continuing COVID work
environment policies 

Statewide Jurisdictions with  
>30,000 residents

Impacts of hostile
public interactions 

Statewide Jurisdictions with  
>30,000 residents

Employee morale

Statewide Jurisdictions with  
>30,000 residents

Employee workload 

Statewide Jurisdictions with  
>30,000 residents

Turnover due to retirements

Statewide Jurisdictions with  
>30,000 residents

A significant problem

Somewhat of a problem22%20%

10%

30%

19%

39%

15%

20%

43%

15%

9%

25%

43%

21%

7%

19%

6% 8%

18%

4%

7% 5%

3%

11%
Issues related to remote work,
telework, flex schedules, etc.

Statewide Jurisdictions with  
>30,000 residents

Continuing COVID work
environment policies 

Statewide Jurisdictions with  
>30,000 residents

Impacts of hostile
public interactions 

Statewide Jurisdictions with  
>30,000 residents

Employee morale

Statewide Jurisdictions with  
>30,000 residents

Employee workload 

Statewide Jurisdictions with  
>30,000 residents

Turnover due to retirements

Statewide Jurisdictions with  
>30,000 residents

A significant problem

Somewhat of a problem22%20%

10%

30%

19%

39%

15%

20%

43%

15%

9%

25%

43%

21%

7%

19%

6% 8%

18%

4%

7% 5%

3%

11%

INFORMATION ONLY



11

Michigan Public Policy Survey

Conclusion
The COVID-19 pandemic caused disruptions to the local government workforce in Michigan and across the nation, 
and although the percentage of Michigan local jurisdictions that maintain paid staff has remained stable since 2017, 
a significantly higher number report problems across a wide range of personnel issues. In particular, jurisdictions 
of all types and sizes have faced increased difficulty recruiting qualified employees, particularly where officials 
believe pay for new hires is too low or where there have been reports of harassment of local government staff by the 
public.  Larger jurisdictions have especially struggled and, as of 2022, nearly two-thirds (64%) of jurisdictions with 
over 30,000 residents report trouble retaining current employees, up from less than half that reported retention 
problems pre-COVID, in 2017. 

INFORMATION ONLY



The Center for Local, State, and Urban Policy

12

Notes
1. Kochhar, R. (2020, June 11). Unemployment rose higher in three months of COVID-19 than it did in two years of 

the Great Recession. Pew Research Center. Retrieved from: https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2020/06/11/
unemployment-rose-higher-in-three-months-of-covid-19-than-it-did-in-two-years-of-the-great-recession/

2. Domash, A. and Summers, L. (2022, February). How Tight are U.S. Labor Markets? National Bureau of Economic 
Research. Retrieved from: https://www.nber.org/papers/w29739

3. Kamal, R. (2021, July 3). ‘The Great Resignation’: June’s US jobs report hides unusual trend. The Guardian. 
Retrieved from: https://www.theguardian.com/business/2021/jul/03/us-jobs-report-june-trend

4. Mutikani, L, (2023, January 4). U.S. labor market remains tight; manufacturing slumps further. Reuters. 
Retrieved from: https://www.reuters.com/markets/us/us-job-openings-fall-less-than-expected-
november-2023-01-04/

5. Michigan Bureau of Labor Market Information and Strategic Initiatives. (2022, November) Michigan’s Labor 
Market News. Retrieved from: https://www.milmi.org/_docs/publications/News/LMN/LMN_1122.pdf

6. Stebbins, Samuel. (2021, June 5). This is How Many People Work for the Government in Michigan. The Center 
Square. Retrieved from: https://www.thecentersquare.com/michigan/this-is-how-many-people-work-for-the-
government-in-michigan/article_8ac27962-6373-564d-880f-ce8a4dc8fd39.html

7. Fitzpatrick, N., Horner, D., & Ivacko, T. (2018, January). Workforce issues and challenges for Michigan’s local 
governments. Center for Local, State, and Urban Policy at the Gerald R. Ford School of Public Policy, University 
of Michigan. Retrieved from: https://closup.umich.edu/sites/closup/files/uploads/mpps-workforce-2017.pdf

8. U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2022, July). The “Great Resignation” in perspective. Retrieved from: https://
www.bls.gov/opub/mlr/2022/article/the-great-resignation-in-perspective.htm

9. Fitzpatrick, N., Horner, D., & Ivacko, T. (2023, January). Michigan local government officials’ assessments of 
workforce wages and benefits. Center for Local, State, and Urban Policy at the Gerald R. Ford School of Public 
Policy, University of Michigan. Retrieved from: https://closup.umich.edu/sites/closup/files/2023-01/mpps-
wages-brief-2022.pdf

10.  Fitzpatrick, N., Horner, D., & Ivacko, T. (2022, September). Statewide survey finds a majority of Michigan local 
governments experiencing harassment or other abuse. Center for Local, State, and Urban Policy at the Gerald 
R. Ford School of Public Policy, University of Michigan. Retrieved from: https://closup.umich.edu/sites/closup/
files/2022-09/mpps-policy-brief-harassment-2022.pdf

INFORMATION ONLY

https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2020/06/11/unemployment-rose-higher-in-three-months-of-covid-19-than-it-did-in-two-years-of-the-great-recession/
https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2020/06/11/unemployment-rose-higher-in-three-months-of-covid-19-than-it-did-in-two-years-of-the-great-recession/
https://www.nber.org/papers/w29739
https://www.theguardian.com/business/2021/jul/03/us-jobs-report-june-trend
https://www.reuters.com/markets/us/us-job-openings-fall-less-than-expected-november-2023-01-04/
https://www.reuters.com/markets/us/us-job-openings-fall-less-than-expected-november-2023-01-04/
https://www.milmi.org/_docs/publications/News/LMN/LMN_1122.pdf
https://www.thecentersquare.com/michigan/this-is-how-many-people-work-for-the-government-in-michigan/article_8ac27962-6373-564d-880f-ce8a4dc8fd39.html
https://www.thecentersquare.com/michigan/this-is-how-many-people-work-for-the-government-in-michigan/article_8ac27962-6373-564d-880f-ce8a4dc8fd39.html
https://closup.umich.edu/sites/closup/files/uploads/mpps-workforce-2017.pdf
https://www.bls.gov/opub/mlr/2022/article/the-great-resignation-in-perspective.htm
https://www.bls.gov/opub/mlr/2022/article/the-great-resignation-in-perspective.htm
https://closup.umich.edu/sites/closup/files/2023-01/mpps-wages-brief-2022.pdf
https://closup.umich.edu/sites/closup/files/2023-01/mpps-wages-brief-2022.pdf
https://closup.umich.edu/sites/closup/files/2022-09/mpps-policy-brief-harassment-2022.pdf
https://closup.umich.edu/sites/closup/files/2022-09/mpps-policy-brief-harassment-2022.pdf


13

Michigan Public Policy Survey

Survey Background and Methodology

The MPPS is an ongoing survey program, interviewing the leaders of Michigan’s 1,856 
units of general purpose local government, conducted by the Center for Local, State, 
and Urban Policy (CLOSUP) at the University of Michigan in partnership with the 
Michigan Municipal League, Michigan Townships Association, and Michigan Association 
of Counties. Surveys are conducted each spring (and prior to 2018, were also conducted 
each fall). The program has covered a wide range of policy topics and includes 
longitudinal tracking data on “core” fiscal, budgetary and operational policy questions 
and designed to build-up a multi-year time-series. 

In the Spring 2022 iteration, surveys were sent by the Center for Local, State, and 
Urban Policy (CLOSUP) via the internet and hardcopy to top elected and appointed 
officials (including county administrators and board chairs; city mayors and managers; 
village presidents, clerks, and managers; and township supervisors, clerks, and 
managers) from all 83 counties, 280 cities, 253 villages, and 1,240 townships in the 
state of Michigan. 

The Spring 2022 wave was conducted from April 4 – June 6, 2022. A total of 1,327 
jurisdictions in the Spring 2022 wave returned valid surveys (62 counties, 202 cities, 

167 villages, and 896 townships), resulting in a 71% response rate by unit. The margin 
of error for the survey as a whole is +/- 1.44%. The key relationships discussed in the 
above report are statistically significant at the p<.05 level or below, unless otherwise 
specified. Missing responses are not included in the tabulations, unless otherwise 
specified. Some report figures may not add to 100% due to rounding within response 
categories. Quantitative data are weighted to account for non-response. “Voices Across 
Michigan” verbatim responses, when included, may have been edited for clarity and 
brevity. Contact CLOSUP staff for more information. 

Detailed tables of the data analyzed in this report broken down several ways—by 
jurisdiction type (county, city, township, or village); by population size of the 
respondent’s community, by the region of the respondent’s jurisdiction; and by self-
identified rural, mostly rural, mostly urban, or urban categories—are available online at 
the MPPS homepage: closup.umich.edu/michigan-public-policy-survey.

The survey responses presented here are those of local Michigan officials, while further 
analysis represents the views of the authors. Neither necessarily reflects the views of 
the University of Michigan, or of other partners in the MPPS. 

INFORMATION ONLY

http://closup.umich.edu/michigan-public-policy-survey


The Center for Local, State, and Urban Policy

14

Appendix A
Local officials’ assessments of personnel problems in their jurisdictions (among jurisdictions that have full-time, part-time, and/or 
seasonal employees), by jurisdiction size 

Jurisdiction Population Size

<1,500 1,500-5,000 5,001-10,000 10,001-30,000 >30,000 Total Statewide

Retaining current employees

Not a Problem at All 38% 34% 19% 18% 5% 30%

Not Much of a Problem 34% 39% 44% 40% 29% 37%

Somewhat of a Problem 21% 20% 28% 30% 53% 25%

A Significant Problem 5% 5% 9% 12% 11% 7%

Don’t Know 2% 1% 1% 0% 2% 1%

Turnover due to retirements 

Not a Problem at All 44% 39% 25% 17% 7% 35%

Not Much of a Problem 35% 25% 41% 38% 28% 36%

Somewhat of a Problem 14% 18% 27% 31% 43% 21%

A Significant Problem 3% 6% 5% 14% 19% 7%

Don’t Know 4% 1% 1% 0% 2% 2%

Recruiting employees with needed skills 

Not a Problem at All 22% 18% 9% 7% 1% 16%

Not Much of a Problem 23% 26% 22% 16% 9% 22%

Somewhat of a Problem 32% 35% 40% 47% 48% 37%

A Significant Problem 20% 19% 28% 30% 41% 23%

Don’t Know 4% 2% 1% 0% 1% 2%

Employee morale 

Not a Problem at All 42% 34% 19% 21% 6% 32%

Not Much of a Problem 36% 42% 47% 45% 40% 40%

Somewhat of a Problem 14% 18% 28% 26% 39% 20%

A Significant Problem 4% 4% 4% 8% 15% 6%

Don’t Know 4% 2% 2% 0% 0% 2%

Employee workload 

Not a Problem at All 31% 27% 16% 15% 6% 24%

Not Much of a Problem 36% 42% 48% 35% 35% 39%

Somewhat of a Problem 22% 22% 25% 37% 43% 25%

A Significant Problem 9% 8% 9% 13% 15% 9%

Don’t Know 3% 2% 2% 0% 1% 2%

INFORMATION ONLY



15

Michigan Public Policy Survey

Jurisdiction Population Size

<1,500 1,500-5,000 5,001-10,000 10,001-30,000 >30,000 Total Statewide

Impacts of hostile public interactions 

Not a Problem at All 38% 30% 20% 17% 9% 29%

Not Much of a Problem 40% 42% 45% 41% 40% 41%

Somewhat of a Problem 16% 17% 23% 29% 30% 19%

A Significant Problem 3% 8% 10% 13% 18% 8%

Don’t Know 4% 2% 2% 0% 3% 3%

Continuing COVID-19 work environment policies (e.g., employee vaccine mandates, masking rules, etc.) 

Not a Problem at All 51% 44% 28% 29% 25% 42%

Not Much of a Problem 35% 40% 51% 48% 46% 41%

Somewhat of a Problem 6% 10% 13% 19% 20% 10%

A Significant Problem 3% 3% 6% 4% 7% 4%

Don’t Know 5% 3% 2% 0% 1% 3%

Issues related to remote work, telework, flexible schedules, etc.

Not a Problem at All 53% 47% 29% 36% 20% 44%

Not Much of a Problem 30% 39% 48% 42% 51% 38%

Somewhat of a Problem 7% 9% 14% 20% 22% 11%

A Significant Problem 3% 2% 4% 2% 5% 3%

Don’t Know 7% 2% 5% 0% 3% 4%

INFORMATION ONLY



The Center for Local, State, and Urban Policy

16

Appendix B
Local officials’ assessments of personnel problems in their jurisdictions (among jurisdictions that have full-time, part-time, and/or 
seasonal employees), by jurisdiction type 

Jurisdiction Type

Counties Cities Villages Townships Total 
Statewide

Retaining current employees

Not a Problem at All 7% 21% 27% 36% 30%

Not Much of a Problem 32% 33% 40% 38% 37%

Somewhat of a Problem 48% 34% 26% 19% 25%

A Significant Problem 13% 11% 7% 5% 7%

Don’t Know 0% 1% 1% 2% 1%

Turnover due to retirements 

Not a Problem at All 10% 16% 42% 41% 35%

Not Much of a Problem 30% 31% 33% 38% 36%

Somewhat of a Problem 50% 33% 16% 16% 21%

A Significant Problem 10% 19% 5% 3% 7%

Don’t Know 0% 1% 3% 2% 2%

Recruiting employees with needed skills 

Not a Problem at All 0% 7% 14% 20% 16%

Not Much of a Problem 11% 12% 24% 26% 22%

Somewhat of a Problem 54% 37% 33% 36% 37%

A Significant Problem 36% 42% 27% 15% 23%

Don’t Know 0% 2% 2% 3% 2%

Employee morale 

Not a Problem at All 9% 18% 34% 38% 32%

Not Much of a Problem 37% 42% 38% 41% 40%

Somewhat of a Problem 37% 30% 19% 16% 20%

A Significant Problem 17% 9% 6% 3% 6%

Don’t Know 0% 1% 3% 3% 2%

Employee workload 

Not a Problem at All 11% 9% 25% 30% 24%

Not Much of a Problem 35% 34% 37% 42% 39%

Somewhat of a Problem 38% 39% 28% 19% 25%

A Significant Problem 16% 16% 7% 7% 9%

Don’t Know 0% 2% 3% 2% 2%

INFORMATION ONLY



17

Michigan Public Policy Survey

Jurisdiction Type

Counties Cities Villages Townships Total 
Statewide

Impacts of hostile public interactions 

Not a Problem at All 15% 22% 32% 32% 29%

Not Much of a Problem 44% 35% 43% 43% 41%

Somewhat of a Problem 34% 24% 19% 17% 19%

A Significant Problem 7% 17% 4% 6% 8%

Don’t Know 0% 2% 3% 3% 3%

Continuing COVID-19 work environment policies (e.g., employee vaccine mandates, masking rules, etc.) 

Not a Problem at All 28% 36% 47% 44% 42%

Not Much of a Problem 51% 46% 39% 39% 41%

Somewhat of a Problem 18% 12% 9% 9% 10%

A Significant Problem 3% 4% 2% 4% 4%

Don’t Know 0% 3% 4% 4% 3%

Issues related to remote work, telework, flexible schedules, etc.

Not a Problem at All 21% 38% 54% 46% 44%

Not Much of a Problem 51% 43% 32% 37% 38%

Somewhat of a Problem 27% 11% 7% 10% 11%

A Significant Problem 2% 3% 2% 3% 3%

Don’t Know 0% 5% 5% 4% 4%

INFORMATION ONLY



The Center for Local, State, and Urban Policy

18

Appendix C
Local officials’ assessments of personnel problems in their jurisdictions (among jurisdictions that have full-time, part-time, and/or 
seasonal employees), by region 

Region of Michigan

Upper 
Peninsula

Northern 
Lower 

Peninsula
West Central East Central Southwest Southeast Total 

Statewide

Retaining current employees

Not a Problem at All 38% 29% 30% 37% 32% 20% 30%

Not Much of a Problem 39% 40% 40% 34% 33% 37% 37%

Somewhat of a Problem 17% 25% 23% 22% 28% 30% 25%

A Significant Problem 5% 6% 5% 5% 7% 11% 7%

Don’t Know 2% 1% 3% 2% 0% 1% 1%

Turnover due to retirements 

Not a Problem at All 35% 35% 41% 42% 36% 22% 35%

Not Much of a Problem 34% 38% 37% 36% 35% 33% 36%

Somewhat of a Problem 23% 21% 16% 13% 19% 32% 21%

A Significant Problem 6% 4% 4% 5% 10% 10% 7%

Don’t Know 2% 2% 3% 3% 1% 2% 2%

Recruiting employees with needed skills 

Not a Problem at All 15% 18% 20% 18% 16% 9% 16%

Not Much of a Problem 34% 21% 22% 25% 16% 18% 22%

Somewhat of a Problem 30% 38% 35% 35% 42% 39% 37%

A Significant Problem 20% 21% 21% 19% 24% 32% 23%

Don’t Know 2% 3% 2% 3% 2% 2% 2%

Employee morale 

Not a Problem at All 41% 34% 35% 33% 33% 21% 32%

Not Much of a Problem 35% 40% 38% 45% 38% 45% 40%

Somewhat of a Problem 19% 19% 19% 13% 22% 26% 20%

A Significant Problem 2% 6% 5% 7% 6% 6% 6%

Don’t Know 3% 2% 3% 3% 1% 2% 2%

Employee workload 

Not a Problem at All 28% 26% 26% 24% 28% 16% 24%

Not Much of a Problem 44% 39% 39% 40% 35% 39% 39%

Somewhat of a Problem 19% 23% 26% 23% 26% 31% 25%

A Significant Problem 7% 10% 6% 10% 11% 12% 9%

Don’t Know 2% 2% 3% 3% 1% 2% 2%

INFORMATION ONLY



19

Michigan Public Policy Survey

Region of Michigan

Upper 
Peninsula

Northern 
Lower 

Peninsula
West Central East Central Southwest Southeast Total 

Statewide

Impacts of hostile public interactions 

Not a Problem at All 40% 31% 25% 33% 29% 22% 29%

Not Much of a Problem 42% 41% 45% 42% 38% 40% 41%

Somewhat of a Problem 13% 20% 20% 16% 23% 22% 19%

A Significant Problem 3% 6% 7% 6% 7% 14% 8%

Don’t Know 2% 2% 3% 3% 3% 2% 3%

Continuing COVID-19 work environment policies (e.g., employee vaccine mandates, masking rules, etc.) 

Not a Problem at All 53% 45% 41% 46% 42% 31% 42%

Not Much of a Problem 31% 43% 42% 39% 39% 47% 41%

Somewhat of a Problem 10% 8% 9% 7% 13% 15% 10%

A Significant Problem 4% 2% 4% 5% 3% 4% 4%

Don’t Know 3% 3% 5% 4% 3% 2% 3%

Issues related to remote work, telework, flexible schedules, etc.

Not a Problem at All 51% 46% 43% 45% 44% 39% 44%

Not Much of a Problem 29% 36% 41% 38% 39% 43% 38%

Somewhat of a Problem 14% 12% 7% 7% 13% 13% 11%

A Significant Problem 2% 4% 3% 5% 2% 2% 3%

Don’t Know 5% 2% 7% 5% 2% 3% 4%

INFORMATION ONLY



The Center for Local, State, and Urban Policy

20

Previous MPPS reports
MPPS Policy Brief: Michigan local government officials’ assessments of workforce wages and benefits (January 2023)

Michigan local leaders report near-term improvements in fiscal health, especially in large jurisdictions, yet long-term concerns increase (December 2022)

Michigan local leaders’ concerns about U.S. democracy at state and federal levels ease somewhat, but remain grim (November 2022)

MPPS Policy Brief: Local government officials give mixed reviews to Michigan’s new approach to redistricting (October 2022)

Michigan local government leaders say civic relationships and civil discourse remain healthy, despite worsening national politics (October 2022)

Michigan local government leaders remain confident about their election security and administration, though concerns about disinformation increase (September 2022)

MPPS Policy Brief: Statewide survey finds a majority of Michigan local governments experiencing harassment or other abuse (September 2022)

MPPS Policy Brief: A survey of Michigan local government leaders on American Rescue Plan Act funding and uses (July 2022)

Local leaders’ pessimism about Michigan’s direction continues, but eases slightly from last year (July 2022)

Internet presence among Michigan local governments: websites, online services, and experience with virtual meetings (May 2022)

Michigan local leaders’ views on recycling: current challenges and opportunities for improvement (April 2022)

Recycling Issues, Policies, and Practices among Michigan Local Governments (March 2022)

Michigan local leaders report little change in the tone of civic discourse in their communities, but are concerned about local impacts of increasingly hostile national partisan politics 
(January 2022)

Michigan local government officials report improved fiscal health after a year of COVID-19, but not yet back to pre-pandemic levels (December 2021)

Michigan local officials’ assessments of American democracy at the state and federal levels decline sharply (November 2021)

The lingering impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on Michigan communities and local governments (October 2021)

Michigan local governments report fewer economic challenges one year into the COVID-19 pandemic, and describe efforts to support local businesses (September 2021)

Local leaders’ views on Michigan’s initial COVID-19 vaccine rollout in Spring 2021 (August 2021)

Local leaders’ concerns about Michigan’s direction spike, while evaluations of state leaders sink over the past year (July 2021)

Michigan local leaders’ views on state’s new approach to electoral redistricting (February 2021)

COVID-19 pandemic sparks Michigan local leaders’ concerns for fiscal health (December 2020)

The functioning of democracy at the local level: a compendium of findings from the Michigan Public Policy Survey of local leaders (December 2020)

Energy Issues and Policies in Michigan Local Governments (October 2020)

Michigan local leaders expect increased challenges for the 2020 election, but are confident about administering accurate elections (October 2020)

Michigan Local Energy Survey (MiLES): Intergovernmental collaboration on sustainability and energy issues among Michigan local governments (September 2020)

Confidence in the accuracy of Michigan’s 2020 Census count among local leaders was not very high, slips further (August 2020)

Michigan local leaders expect mixed impacts from expanded voter registration and absentee voting reforms (July 2020)

Local leaders’ evaluations of Michigan’s direction and Governor’s performance during the COVID-19 pandemic’s arrival (July 2020)

The initial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on Michigan communities and local governments (June 2020)

Energy policies and environmental leadership among Michigan’s local governments (January 2020)

Mixed signals continue for Michigan local governments’ fiscal health, while future outlooks worsen (December 2019)

Michigan local officials’ views on the next recession: timing, concerns, and actions taken (October 2019)

Michigan local government preparations and concerns regarding the 2020 U.S. Census (September 2019)

New Governor, new evaluations of the direction Michigan is headed among local leaders (August 2019) 

Positive working relationships reported among Michigan’s local elected officials (June 2019)

Community poverty and the struggle to make ends meet in Michigan, according to local government leaders (March 2019)

The state of community civic discourse, according to Michigan’s local government leaders (December 2018)

INFORMATION ONLY



21

Michigan Public Policy Survey

Despite sustained economic growth, Michigan local government fiscal health still lags (November 2018)

Michigan local government leaders’ views on medical and recreational marijuana (September 2018)

Rising confidence in Michigan’s direction among local leaders, but partisan differences remain (July 2018)

Michigan local government officials weigh in on housing shortages and related issues (June 2018)

Approaches to land use planning and zoning among Michigan’s local governments (May 2018)

Workforce issues and challenges for Michigan’s local governments (January 2018)

Local leaders’ views on elections in Michigan: accuracy, problems, and reform options (November 2017)

Michigan local government officials report complex mix of improvement and decline in fiscal health, but with overall trend moving slowly upward (October 2017)

Michigan local leaders want their citizens to play a larger role in policymaking, but report declining engagement (August 2017)

Michigan local leaders’ views on state preemption and how to share policy authority (June 2017)

Improving communication, building trust are seen as keys to fixing relationships between local jurisdictions and the State government (May 2017)

Local leaders more likely to support than oppose Michigan’s Emergency Manager law, but strongly favor reforms (February 2017)

Local government leaders’ views on drinking water and water supply infrastructure in Michigan communities (November 2016)

Michigan local leaders say property tax appeals are common, disagree with ‘dark stores’ assessing (October 2016)

Local officials say Michigan’s system of funding local government is broken, and seek State action to fix it (September 2016)

Michigan local governments report first declines in fiscal health trend since 2010 (August 2016)

Michigan local leaders’ doubts continue regarding the state’s direction (July 2016)

Hospital access primary emergency medical concern among many Michigan local officials (July 2016)

Firefighting services in Michigan: challenges and approaches among local governments (June 2016)

Most local officials are satisfied with law enforcement services, but almost half from largest jurisdictions say their funding is insufficient (April 2016)

Local leaders say police-community relations are good throughout Michigan, but those in large cities are concerned about potential civil unrest over police use-of-force (February 2016)

Report: Responding to budget surplus vs. deficit: the preferences of Michigan’s local leaders and citizens (December 2015)

Michigan’s local leaders concerned about retiree health care costs and their governments’ ability to meet future obligations (October 2015)

Fiscal health rated relatively good for most jurisdictions, but improvement slows and decline continues for many (September 2015)

Confidence in Michigan’s direction declines among state’s local leaders (August 2015)

Michigan local government leaders’ views on private roads (July 2015)

Few Michigan jurisdictions have adopted Complete Streets policies, though many see potential benefits (June 2015)

Michigan local leaders have positive views on relationships with county road agencies, despite some concerns (May 2015)

Michigan local government leaders say transit services are important, but lack of funding discourages their development (April 2015)

Michigan local leaders see need for state and local ethics reform (March 2015)

Local leaders say Michigan road funding needs major increase, but lack consensus on options that would raise the most revenue (February 2015)

Michigan local government leaders’ views on employee pay and benefits (January 2015)

Despite increasingly formal financial management, relatively few Michigan local governments have adopted recommended policies (December 2014)

Most Michigan local officials are satisfied with their privatized services, but few seek to expand further (November 2014)

Michigan local governments finally pass fiscal health tipping point overall, but one in four still report decline (October 2014)

Beyond the coast, a tenuous relationship between Michigan local governments and the Great Lakes (September 2014)

Confidence in Michigan’s direction holds steady among state’s local leaders (August 2014)

Wind power as a community issue in Michigan (July 2014)

Fracking as a community issue in Michigan (June 2014)

INFORMATION ONLY



The Center for Local, State, and Urban Policy

22

The impact of tax-exempt properties on Michigan local governments (March 2014)

Michigan’s local leaders generally support Detroit bankruptcy filing despite some concerns (February 2014)

Michigan local governments increasingly pursue placemaking for economic development (January 2014)

Views on right-to-work legislation among Michigan’s local government leaders (December 2013)

Michigan local governments continue seeking, and receiving, union concessions (October 2013)

Michigan local government fiscal health continues gradual improvement, but smallest jurisdictions lagging (September 2013)

Local leaders evaluate state policymaker performance and whether Michigan is on the right track (August 2013)

Trust in government among Michigan’s local leaders and citizens (July 2013)

Citizen engagement in the view of Michigan’s local government leaders (May 2013)

Beyond trust in government: government trust in citizens? (March 2013)

Local leaders support reforming Michigan’s system of funding local government (January 2013)

Local leaders support eliminating Michigan’s Personal Property Tax if funds are replaced, but distrust state follow-through (November 2012)

Michigan’s local leaders satisfied with union negotiations (October 2012)

Michigan’s local leaders are divided over the state’s emergency manager law (September 2012)

Fiscal stress continues for hundreds of Michigan jurisdictions, but conditions trend in positive direction overall (September 2012)

Michigan’s local leaders more positive about Governor Snyder’s performance, more optimistic about the state’s direction (July 2012)

Data-driven decision-making in Michigan local government (June 2012)

State funding incentives increase local collaboration, but also raise concerns (March 2012)

Local officials react to state policy innovation tying revenue sharing to dashboards and incentive funding (January 2012)

MPPS finds fiscal health continues to decline across the state, though some negative trends eased in 2011 (October 2011)

Public sector unions in Michigan: their presence and impact according to local government leaders (August 2011)

Despite increased approval of state government performance, Michigan’s local leaders are concerned about the state’s direction (August 2011)

Local government and environmental leadership: views of Michigan’s local leaders (July 2011)

Local leaders are mostly positive about intergovernmental cooperation and look to expand efforts (March 2011)

Local government leaders say most employees are not overpaid, though some benefits may be too generous (February 2011)

Local government leaders say economic gardening can help grow their economies (November 2010)

Local governments struggle to cope with fiscal, service, and staffing pressures (August 2010)

Michigan local governments actively promote U.S. Census participation (August 2010)

Fiscal stimulus package mostly ineffective for local economies (May 2010)

Fall 2009 key findings report: educational, economic, and workforce development issues at the local level (April 2010)

Local government officials give low marks to the performance of state officials and report low trust in Lansing (March 2010)

Local government fiscal and economic development issues (October 2009)

All MPPS reports are available online at: http://closup.umich.edu/mpps-publications

INFORMATION ONLY

http://closup.umich.edu/mpps-publications


23

Michigan Public Policy Survey

The Center for Local, State, and Urban Policy (CLOSUP), housed at the 
University of Michigan’s Gerald R. Ford School of Public Policy, conducts and 
supports applied policy research designed to inform state, local, and urban 
policy issues. Through integrated research, teaching, and outreach involving 
academic researchers, students, policymakers and practitioners, CLOSUP 
seeks to foster understanding of today’s state and local policy problems, and to 
find effective solutions to those problems.

web: www.closup.umich.edu 
email: closup@umich.edu 
twitter: @closup 
phone: 734-647-4091

University of Michigan 
Center for Local, State, and Urban Policy 
Gerald R. Ford School of Public Policy 
Joan and Sanford Weill Hall 
735 S. State Street, Suite 5310 
Ann Arbor, MI 48109-3091

Regents of the University of Michigan

Jordan B. Acker
Huntington Woods

Michael J. Behm
Grand Blanc

Mark J. Bernstein
Ann Arbor

Paul W. Brown
Ann Arbor

Sarah Hubbard
Okemos

Denise Ilitch
Bingham Farms

Ron Weiser
Ann Arbor

Katherine E. White
Ann Arbor

Santa J. Ono
(ex officio)

INFORMATION ONLY

http://www.closup.umich.edu
mailto:closup@umich.edu


INFORMATION ONLY



INFORMATION ONLY



INFORMATION ONLY


	20230403 BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION AGENDA
	3A 20230403 PARKS & REC NOTICE TO APPOINT
	ARTICLE II SEC 78 PARKS AND RECREATION BOARD.pdf
	ARTICLE II. PARKS AND RECREATION BOARD0F
	Sec. 78-26. Created; composition.
	Sec. 78-27. Terms of members; vacancies.
	Sec. 78-28. Organization.
	Sec. 78-29. Compensation.
	Sec. 78-30. Meetings and quorum.
	Sec. 78-31. Objectives and duties.
	Sec. 78-32. Regulations.
	Sec. 78-33. Scope of authority.
	Secs. 78-34—78-55. Reserved.



	3B 20230403 Recognition of Promotion
	5A 03292023 warrant list 04032023
	5B 20230403_Chester_Parking_Structure_Water_Service_Repair_CC_Memo_w_attachments_32723
	5C 20230403_Change_Order_2022_Sidewalk_Program_CC_Memo.docx
	20230403_Change_Order_2022_Sidewalk_Program_CC_Memo
	Combind attachments
	01_2023_Sidewalk
	02_Luigi_Letter
	03_Proposal_Contract
	04_First Amendment to the 2022 Concrete Sidewalk Repair Program #8-22(SW)


	5D 20230403_Change_Order_2021_Sewer_Rehabilation_Program_CC_FMemo
	20230403_Change_Order_2021_Sewer_Rehabilation_Program_CC_Memo
	Combined Attachments
	01_DVM_Unit_Pricing_Request
	02_Bid_Tab_2021_Sewer_Rehab_Program_8-21S(1)
	03_Proposal_and_Contract
	04_First Amendment to to the 2021 sewer Rehab Program to add 2022-23 Sewer rehab program Staff Signed


	5E 20230403 SET PH - The Birmingham Plan 2040 - 3-22-23
	5F 20230403 Golf Course Fees
	STAFF REPORT Revision of Golf Course Fees rev
	Special Parks and Recreation Board Meeting minutes

	5G 20230403 Oakland County West Nile Expense Reimbursement Request
	04032023 Oakland County West Nile Expense Reimbursement Request rev.docx
	West Nile Resolution

	6A 20230403 2023.04.3 Memo re Whole Foods Liquor License - Public Hearing with attachments
	2023.04.3 Memo re Whole Foods Liquor License - Public Hearing with attachments.pdf
	Whole Foods Attachments

	7A 20230403 PH - 34350 Woodward Ave - Fred Lavery Porsche - Lot Combo - Final
	20230312  Set PH - 34350 Woodward Ave - Fred Lavery Porsche - Lot Combo - FULL
	20230403 Set PH - 34350 Woodward Ave - Fred Lavery Porsche - Lot Combo - Attachments


	7B 20230403 PH - 34350 Woodward Ave - Fred Lavery Porsche - SLUP, FSP & DR - Final
	20230312 PH - 34350 Woodward Ave - Fred Lavery Porsche - SLUP, FSP & DR - FULL
	20230312 PH - 34350 Woodward Ave - Fred Lavery Porsche - SLUP, FSP & DR - Attachments

	20230312 PH - 34350 Woodward Ave - Fred Lavery Porsche - SLUP, FSP & DR - FULL

	7C 20230403 SE Cogs & Kegs
	Memo
	2023 Cogs & Kegs application
	Approval Page
	DEPARTMENT


	7D 20230403 _DTE Concerns MI MAUI
	20230403 MEMO on DTE CONCERNS - MI-MAUI - 3-27-23
	20230403 DTE CONCERNS - MI-MAUI - 3-23-23
	MI-MAUI overview
	U-21297 DTE Electric Company's Rate Case Summary
	DTE ELECTRIC COMPANY )
	DTE ELECTRIC COMPANY’S RATE CASE SUMMARY



	7F1 20230403 Commission Discussion 10E2 20211206 Administering a Foundation or Charity
	7F2 20230403 Commission Discussion Prior Meeting - Special Events
	SE Discussion Memo
	Birmingham, MI Code of Ordinances
	- 20220204 SE application
	151 Martin Street, P.O. Box 3001
	TIME LINE AS REQUIRED BY COMMISSION ADOPTED POLICY

	CITY OF BIRMINGHAM APPLICATION FOR SPECIAL EVENT PERMIT
	Police Department acknowledgement:
	Location       Date(s) of Event  Hours of Event    Date(s) of Set-up _Hours of Set-up    NOTE:  No set-up to begin before 7:00 AM, per city ordinance.
	(Police Department acknowledgement prior to submission of application is required) (initial here)
	If yes, please provide number of staff to be provided and any specialized training received.
	(Police Department acknowledgement prior to submission of application is required.) (initial here)

	(show location of each on map)
	SIGNATURE OF APPLICANT REQUIRED


	IV. S A M P L E L ETTER TO N O TI FY A N Y A FFECTED P R O P ER TY / B U S I NES S O W N ER S
	SPECIAL EVENT REQUEST NOTIFICATION LETTER
	FOR QUESTIONS ON DAY OF EVENT, CONTACT:
	HOLD-HARMLESS AGREEMENT

	VI. P O L I CI ES A N D P R O C ED U R ES
	• street closures (Police Department input required prior to submission of application)

	VII. . C H EC KL I S T
	ATTACHMENTS TO INCLUDE WITH SPECIAL EVENT APPLICATION
	*Letter to affected property owners and list of addresses must be submitted to the clerk’s office at least two weeks prior to the city commission meeting.
	OFFICE USE ONLY





	9A1 20230403 Jay Shell Communication Presentation- City of Birmingham Residential Infrastructure
	9A2a 20230403 Jay Shell -  DTE Message City of Birmingham MI Mail - Fwd_ DTE_ ..
	9A2b 20230403 Jay Shell Communication City of Birmingham MI Mail - Request to be on an upcoming Meeting Agenda
	9A2c 20230403 Jay Chell Communication City of Birmingham MI Mail - Fwd_ DTE_ Winter Storm Update - 2_28_2023
	9A2d 20230403 Communications City of Birmingham MI Mail - Regulation of DTE and telecommunication providers
	9A2e 20230403 Communications City of Birmingham MI Mail - Fwd_ Extended Power Outage
	9A3 20230403 City of Birmingham Population
	9A4 20230403 Water Consumption History
	9A5 20230403 City of Birmingham MI Mail - Fwd_ New construction
	10A1 20230403 P&RB NOTICE OF INTENTION PRE-APPT
	20230403 IO City of Birmingham MI Mail - Fwd_ Follow-up letter… this very important corner
	20230403 IO Construction
	20230403 IO mpps-workforce-2022
	20230403 IO Prop 2



